
 

 

Democratic Services ◦ Chief Executive’s Department ◦ Leicestershire County Council ◦ County Hall  

Glenfield ◦ Leicestershire ◦ LE3 8RA ◦ Tel: 0116 232 3232 ◦ Email: democracy@leics.gov.uk 
 

 

www.twitter.com/leicsdemocracy  

  
www.leicestershire.gov.uk 

 

 

 
 

  
 
 
 

Meeting: Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland Police and Crime Panel  
 
 

 

Date/Time: Tuesday, 24 September 2019 at 2.00 pm 

Location: Sparkenhoe Committee Room, County Hall, Glenfield 

Contact: Euan Walters (Tel: 0116 3052583) 

Email: euan.walters@leics.gov.uk 

 
Membership 

 
Cllr. Joe Orson (Chairman) 

 
Cllr. Hemant Rae Bhatia 

Mr Keith Culverwell 
Ms Mehrunnisa Lalani 

Cllr. Kevin Loydall 
Cllr. Michael Mullaney 

Mr. I. D. Ould OBE CC 
Cllr. Elaine Pantling 

 

Cllr. Les Phillimore 
Cllr. Sharmen Rahmen 
Cllr. Michael Rickman 
Cllr. Manjit Kaur Saini 
Cllr. Deborah Taylor 
Cllr. Alan Walters 
Cllr. Andrew Woodman 

 
Please note: this meeting will be filmed for live or subsequent broadcast via the 

Council’s web site at www.leicestershire.gov.uk 
– Notices will be on display at the meeting explaining the arrangements. 

 
AGENDA 

 
Item   Report by   

 
1.  

  
Minutes of the meeting held on 22 July 2019.  
 

 
 

(Pages 3 - 8) 

2.  
  

Public Question Time.  
 

 
 

 

3.  
  

To advise of any other items which the 
Chairman has decided to take as urgent 
elsewhere on the agenda.  
 

 
 

 

4.  
  

Declarations of interest in respect of items on 
the agenda.  
 

 
 

 

mailto:democracy@leics.gov.uk
http://www.twitter.com/leicsdemocracy
http://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/about-the-council/how-the-council-works
http://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/about-the-council/how-the-council-works/public-involvement/watch-council-meetings-online


 
 
 
 

 

5.  
  

Police and Crime Commissioner's Annual 
Report 2018/19.  
 

 
 

(Pages 9 - 52) 

6.  
  

Leicestershire Police Performance Report - 
2019/20 Quarter1.  
 

 
 

(Pages 53 - 70) 

7.  
  

Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner 
Performance Report - 2019/20 Quarter 1.  
 

 
 

(Pages 71 - 82) 

8.  
  

People Zones.  
 

 
 

(Pages 83 - 90) 

9.  
  

Violence Reduction Unit.  
 
 

 
 

(Pages 91 - 
102) 

10.  
  

Modern Slavery and Human Trafficking  
 
 

 
 

(Pages 103 - 
106) 

11.  
  

Review of Leicester, Leicestershire and 
Rutland Police and Crime Panel Constitution.  
 

 
 

(Pages 107 - 
152) 

12.  
  

Any other items which the Chairman has 
decided to take as urgent.  
 

 
 

 

13.  
  

Date of next meeting.  
 

 
 

 

 The next meeting of the Panel is scheduled to take place on 11 
December 2019 at 2:00pm at County Hall, Glenfield. 
 
 
 

 



 

  

 
Minutes of a meeting of the Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland Police and Crime Panel 
held at County Hall, Glenfield on Monday, 22 July 2019.  
 

PRESENT 
 

Cllr. Michael Rickman (in the Chair) 
 

Cllr. David Bill MBE 
Mr Keith Culverwell 
Cllr. Kevin Loydall 
Mr. I. D. Ould OBE CC 
Cllr Alan Pearson 
 

Cllr. Les Phillimore 
Cllr. Manjit Kaur Saini 
Cllr. Deborah Taylor 
Cllr David Wilby 
 

 
Apologies 
 
Cllr. Hemant Rae Bhatia, Ms Mehrunnisa Lalani, Cllr. Elaine Pantling and 
Cllr. Sharmen Rahmen 
 

12. Minutes of the meeting held on 3 June 2019.  
 
The minutes of the previous meeting held on 3 June 2019 were taken as read, confirmed 
and signed subject to amendment to minute 7(viii) so that it reads: 
 
“In response to a question about local policing the PCC clarified that there would be more 
investment in neighbourhood policing in the wider sense, and the ability of the Force to 
respond to incidents and investigate crimes would be enhanced as a result of the Precept 
increase.” 
 

13. Public Question Time.  
 
There were no questions submitted. 
 

14. Urgent items.  
 
There were no urgent items for consideration. 
 

15. Declarations of interest in respect of items on the agenda.  
 
The Chairman invited members who wished to do so to declare any interest in respect of 
items on the agenda for the meeting. 
 
Mr. K. Culverwell declared a personal interest in respect of all substantive items as he 
had two close relatives that worked for Leicestershire Police. 
 

16. Police and Crime Commissioner's Annual Report.  
 
The Police and Crime Commissioner requested that consideration of his Annual Report 
be deferred until the Panel meeting on 24 September 2019 in order to give further time 
for statistics to be produced and verified. It was noted that although the Constitution of 
the Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland Police and Crime Panel stated that ‘By July, the 
PCC shall provide the Panel with a copy of his annual report’, the legislation did not 
require the Annual Report to be published in July.  

3 Agenda Item 1



 
 

 

 

 
The Secretariat reported that the Panel’s Monitoring Officer was undertaking a review of 
the Panel’s Constitution to ensure it was up to date and fit for purpose and this could 
include consideration of the section relating to the Police and Crime Commissioner’s 
Annual Report. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
(a) That consideration of the Police and Crime Commissioner’s Annual Report be 

deferred until the Panel meeting on 24 September 2019. 
 

(b) That when reviewing the Panel’s Constitution the Monitoring Officer be requested to 
give consideration to the time scales for the Panel’s consideration of the Police and 
Crime Commissioner’s Annual Report. 

 
 

17. Annual Performance Report.  
 
The Police and Crime Panel considered a report of the Police and Crime Commissioner 
(PCC) regarding end of year performance for 2018-19. A copy of the report, marked 
‘Agenda Item 6’, is filed with these minutes. 
 
 Arising from discussions the following points were noted: 
 
(i) The PCC confirmed that the 999 telephone service should only be used in an 

emergency and at the time a crime was taking place. Leicestershire Police believed 
that the increase in the volume of 999 calls was due to a rise in violent offences 
being committed. It was not believed that people were calling 999 because they 
were unable to receive an answer from the 101 service. The reduction in the 
number of 101 calls was believed to be due to an increase in online reporting. The 
PCC reported that the Chief Constable was of the view that the online reporting 
service was extremely efficient and provided a quick response. With regards to the 
amount of 101 calls that were classed as abandoned the PCC clarified that this 
included calls where the automated message gave the caller alternative numbers to 
call so in fact it could be that the caller received the information they required and 
was satisfied. Therefore the abandonment figures could be misleading. A member 
suggested that it would be useful to be able to monitor at which point the call was 
abandoned to see whether it was the automated message that was causing people 
to end the call. The PCC acknowledged that there was still some dissatisfaction with 
the 101 service and further work was required to be undertaken to make 
improvements. A member pointed out that if callers were unable to receive a 
response from the 101 service they might call back later which may affect the 
figures for overall volume of 101 calls.  
 

(ii) A member sought and gained reassurances that 999 calls were being triaged 
appropriately and received the correct level of response.  

 
(iii) In response to a question from a member the PCC agreed to investigate how the 

length of the calls to Leicestershire Police compared to the length of calls to other 
forces and if this information was available provide it to Panel members. A member 
suggested that the quality of the response to the call was more important than the 
speed and this included the quality of the service provided when the incident was 
passed onto other officers to deal with. The PCC agreed with this view.  

4



 
 

 

 

 
(iv) The PCC invited new Panel members to visit the contact management centre at 

Force Headquarters in Enderby. Panel members had previously undertaken a visit 
to the contact management centre and found it extremely informative. 
 

(v) A member raised concern that there were no Key Performance Indicators for 
Leicestershire Police performance and questioned what level of performance the 
Police and Crime Commissioner expected or demanded given that there were no 
targets. In response the PCC stated that in his view there was little benefit in 
predicting future performance levels and setting targets. The PCC stated that he 
believed the current performance report was of benefit because it showed trends 
and how performance compared to the previous year. 

 
(vi) With regards to the +23% growth in missing persons between the 2017/18 year and 

the 2018/19 year a member questioned whether this increase could be due to a 
change in the criteria for categorising missing people and whether the two sets of 
figures were comparable. Members also requested that the figures for missing 
persons be broken down into age groups so that trends could be identified for 
example the amount of elderly people with dementia going missing. The PCC 
agreed to check whether these pieces of information could be provided and report 
back to the Panel. The PCC praised the work of the Leicestershire Search and 
Rescue Unit who were volunteers that provided support to the police. The PCC had 
provided the unit with a £35,000 grant to help fund the development of a new, fully-
equipped, mobile Incident Command Unit. In response to a question from a member 
the PCC stated that most missing people were found safe and well. 

 
(vii) The Panel asked that in future performance reports the Domestic Abuse figures be 

broken down into violent and coercive offences. The use of control and 
manipulation such as ‘gaslighting’ was becoming increasingly prevalent. A member 
questioned whether consideration had been given to whether perpetrators of 
Domestic Violence could be required to pay the costs of policing incidents. The 
PCC explained that this was not part of the criminal justice process; the focus was 
on deterring the perpetrators from committing crimes in future. A Domestic Abuse 
Bill was currently before Parliament which introduced additional measures to tackle 
the problem. 

 
(viii) A member questioned whether Anti-social Behaviour had in fact decreased as the 

figures indicated because his perception was that it had not. The PCC stated that 
he believed there had been a reduction in Anti-social Behaviour offences though 
acknowledged that there could be underreporting. The public were not always sure 
what constituted Anti-Social Behaviour and what could be reported. 

 
(ix) Leicestershire Police had been provisionally allocated £880,000 of funding from the 

Government’s £35m Serious Violence Fund to set up a Violence Reduction Unit. 
Eighteen of the 43 Police forces had been allocated the funding based on hospital 
admissions figures relating to knives. A member questioned whether the hospital 
admissions figures took into account patients that resided in Leicestershire that 
attended hospitals out of the county such as the George Elliot Hospital in Nuneaton. 
The PCC confirmed that for the purposes of the figures it was where the hospital 
was located that counted not where the person resided therefore it was possible 
that the hospital admissions figures for Leicestershire under represented the 
amount of knife crime in the county. Receipt of the funding for the Violence 
Reduction Unit was dependent on the government approving a detailed application 

5



 
 

 

 

setting out how the money would be spent. Once the funding was received it was 
intended to appoint a Chief Executive for the Violence Reduction Unit and use the 
Public Health approach to tackle knife crime in Leicester, Leicestershire and 
Rutland involving partners such as Local Authorities, the probation services and the 
health service. Although this approach had worked well in Glasgow a member 
raised concerns that it may not be so effective in Leicester, Leicestershire and 
Rutland and suggested that the success in Glasgow could have been due to the 
personnel involved rather than the merits of the scheme. Police and Crime Panel 
members had been invited to attend a Strategic Partnership Board meeting 
scheduled for the 6th August where plans for reducing serious violence across LLR 
would be outlined and the Director of the Scottish Violence Reduction Unit, Niven 
Rennie, would be in attendance. A member questioned whether this meeting would 
be recorded as not all members were able to attend and the PCC agreed to give 
this consideration. The funding for the Violence Reduction Unit was required to be 
spent by the end of the financial year which brought into question the sustainability 
of the Unit and how it would be funded from 2020/21 onwards. It was not clear 
whether the Violence Reduction Unit would need to be funded by the Precept. 
Panel members shared the concerns of the PCC regarding this lack of clarity and 
offered to write to the Policing Minister in support of the government continuing the 
funding for the Violence Reduction Unit beyond 2019/20. The PCC thanked the 
Panel for its support but asked the Panel to delay sending its letter until a formal 
response had been received from the government to the funding application.  

 
(x) The PCC had provided £107,020.62 of funding for 10 projects to tackle knife crime. 

(A copy of the table setting out details of the projects is filed with these minutes.) 
Most of the projects were focused on Leicester city but they also covered 
Leicestershire. It was too early to judge the success of the projects but a report 
could be brought to the Panel in future outlining how effective they had been.  

 
(xi) The PCC agreed with members that early intervention was key which was why he 

had invested in early intervention projects. 
 

(xii) A member questioned whether it was fair and appropriate to attribute hate crime 
spikes to events publicised in the media such as terrorism and Brexit.  In response 
the PCC stated that the figures clearly showed a rise immediately following these 
events therefore it was clear there was a link. 

 
(xiii) It was clarified that rape offences were classified as historical if the difference 

between the reported date and the start date of the offence was over one year, not 
6 months as incorrectly stated in the report.  

 
(xiv) The PCC praised the work of Leicestershire Police and local authority partners for 

the success of Operation Lionheart which tackled County Lines activity involving the 
sale and distribution of drugs. The Police were increasingly looking to charge 
offenders with the offence of modern slavery in addition to drug offences because 
the modern slavery offence came with longer sentences and more of a stigma than 
drug offences.   

 
RESOLVED: 
 
(a) That the contents of the report be noted; 
 

6



 
 

 

 

(b) That the Police and Crime Commissioner be requested to provide a report for the 
Panel meeting on 24 September 2019 regarding the Violence Reduction Unit.  

 
(c) That should Leicestershire Police receive a positive response from the government 

to its application for funding for the Violence Reduction Unit, the Police and Crime 
Panel write to the Policing Minister in support of the funding being continued beyond 
March 2020. 

  
18. Regional Collaboration.  

 
The Police and Crime Panel considered a report of the Police and Crime Commissioner 
regarding regional collaboration. A copy of the report, marked ‘Agenda Item 7’, is filed 
with these minutes. 
 
Arising from discussions the following points were noted: 
 
(i) The PCC acknowledged that regional collaboration was important as criminals did 

not only operate within county boundaries. In response to a question the PCC 
explained that whilst Leicestershire Police did not have any formal collaboration 
arrangements with West Midlands police forces, such as they did with East 
Midlands forces, Leicestershire Police did work closely with West Midlands forces. 
The PCC stated that whilst increasing collaboration with the West Midlands in the 
future was desirable it may not be possible.  

 
(ii) Members raised concerns that police officer training was not conducted on a 

national basis and therefore there were no economies of scale. The PCC explained 
that individual forces liked to train their own staff in accordance with local 
requirements. He accepted that there was an argument in favour of more 
collaboration on training but said it would be difficult to get support for this idea 
nationally. 

 
(iii) In response to questions about the governance of EMSOU it was explained that the 

Deputy Chief Constable that was in charge of the Unit was employed by 
Leicestershire Police but he reported to all the Chief Constables in the East 
Midlands region. There were occasional disagreements between the Chief 
Constables regarding EMSOU but overall the Unit worked well. 

 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the contents of the report be noted. 
 

19. Date of next meeting.  
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the next meeting of the Panel take place on 24 September 2019 at 2:00pm. 
 
 
 
 

2.    2.00 - 3.25 pm CHAIRMAN 
22   22 July 2019 

 

7



This page is intentionally left blank



 

POLICE & CRIME COMMISSIONER FOR 
 LEICESTERSHIRE 

 

POLICE AND CRIME PANEL 
 
Report of POLICE AND CRIME COMMISSIONER 

 
Subject POLICE AND CRIME COMMISSIONER ANNUAL REPORT 2018/19 

 
Date 
 

TUESDAY 24 SEPTEMBER 2019 – 2:00 p.m.  

Author ANGELA PERRY, EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR 
 

 
Purpose of Report 
 
1. For the Police and Crime Commissioner to present his Annual Report for 2018/19. 
 
Recommendations 
 
2. To discuss and provide comments on the 2018/19 Annual Report of the Police and 

Crime Commissioner for the period 1 April 2019 to 31 March 2019.   
 
Context 
 
3. The Annual Report for 2018/19 is the third annual report of Lord Willy Bach who was 

elected to office on 12 May 2016.  Lord Bach’s Police and Crime Plan was published 
on 31 March 2017. This annual report updates the Panel against the objectives 
contained within the Police and Crime Plan and the activities of Lord Bach since 
coming into office.  
 

Implications 
 
Financial: None.  
    
Legal: There is a legal requirement for a PCC to provide an annual report to the Police and 
Crime Panel.  
    
Equality Impact Assessment: An Equality Impact Assessment was produced for the Police 
and Crime Plan 2017-20 which is relevant for the Annual Report.  
 
Risks and Impact: None identified.   
 
Link to Police and Crime Plan: The Annual Report reflects the priorities within the Police and 
Crime Plan. 
 
List of Appendices 
 
Annual Report 2018/19 

9 Agenda Item 5



 2

 
Background Papers 
 
None applicable to this report. 
 
Persons to Contact 
 
Angela Perry, Executive Director, Tel: (0116) 2298982  
Email: angela.perry@leics.pcc.pnn.gov.uk 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

10



 3

 
 
 
 

11



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 

Page | 1 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
ANNUAL REPORT 

 

2018/2019 
 

  

13



 

 
 

Page | 2 

 
CONTENTS 
 PAGE 

The Commissioner’s View 3 

About Leicestershire Police 4 

The Police and Crime Commissioner 5 

The Police and Crime Plan 6 

 Viable Partnerships 7 

 Visible Policing 14 

 Victim Services 21 

 Vulnerability Protection 26 

 Value for Money 32 

Useful Contacts 39 
  

14



 

 
 

Page | 3 

The COMMISSIONER’S VIEW 
Policing in Leicestershire continues to go from strength to strength. 

The most recent report from Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of 
Constabulary and Fire & Rescue Services (HMICFRS) has given us 
many reasons to be proud. Inspectors assessed the force in three 
key areas – efficiency, effectiveness and legitimacy – and against 
all criteria the force was judged to be “good”. 

It is very rewarding to see the hard work and dedication of our staff, 
officers and leaders receiving recognition and praise at this level.  

It is my third year as Leicestershire’s Police and Crime 
Commissioner. I have always sought to deliver the best possible 
service, despite the well-documented challenges, and this report 
really does prove we are succeeding. 

However, recorded crime figures and inspection results are only part 
of a bigger picture. Around 70% of calls received by the police are not crime related at all. Our officers 
do their very best but on many occasions there is somebody else – or another organisation – which is 
better placed to help. The expectation that the police will and can solve all problems will not change.  
Therefore it has been critical for the purposes of efficiency to work with our partners to manage this 
demand effectively.  I know our officers place great value on the feedback they receive from local 
people and we judge the impact of their work by how safe our communities feel. Being a police officer 
today is not easy.  However local people have great appreciation and respect for our police and this is 
repeated to me frequently on my travels across the county. 

Good people are the lifeblood of successful policing. You only have to look back at the tragic helicopter 
crash last year, which claimed the lives of five people, to see how far Leicestershire’s officers go, putting 
their own safety aside, to help others.  

In the future, we want to work more closely with our communities and solve problems as a collective. 
I’m delighted some of my more ambitious plans are really taking shape. The first People Zones, for 
example, have been created and we are working with a wealth of partners to help people tackle their 
problems and reduce their demand on public services. 

Technology is also playing a bigger role than ever, enabling new methods of crime reporting, direct 
access to the police and advanced styles of investigation. My investment in Pronto software is enabling 
officers to stay out on the streets for longer and the Single Online Home is making police services more 
accessible and convenient for the community.  

As the bridge between policing and our communities, it is my job to ensure the services we deliver meet 
your needs and expectations. One of the calls for improvement has been to enhance the support we 
provide to victims through Victim First. We have listened to feedback and the service has now been 
overhauled in line with your suggestions, making it more ‘user-friendly’ and accessible for all. 

There are now, thankfully, more officers in our neighbourhood policing teams in response to your views, 
as well as new ways for them to work to increase their visibility and accessibility.  

When we grow, we increase our costs. Every penny must make a difference and I’m delighted to say 
that we continue to provide value for money, as recognised by HMICFRS.  

  

15



 

 
 

Page | 4 

Crime is committed by a small minority of people in our communities and if we can change their 
behaviour we can really make things better for everyone. The rehabilitation of offenders, helping people 
out of the cycle of crime and punishment, has always been a goal and I’m delighted that in the last year 
we have persuaded the Ministry of Justice to change the way it delivers probation services, giving us 
more input and influence into how offenders are managed.   

I believe in second chances and we have made real progress in securing employment for ex-offenders, 
giving them practical opportunities to make a clean start. It all goes back to my principal ambition which 
is to prevent crime.  

It’s no secret that the impact of the funding cuts in recent years has affected crime figures and limited 
how far local organisations can work with people before their behaviour becomes a problem. This has 
started to change with the introduction of People Zones and my knife crime initiative where local 
agencies work with impressionable young people before their offending is established.  

For every crime we prevent, we have fewer victims in our communities: being a victim of physical or 
mental harm can be a life changing experience – so the less we have the better. Prevention of crime 
is the future imperative and we will continue to support young people to make better decisions and 
better choices. That said, we will not be afraid to use the full extent of our resources to protect people 
from violence and apprehend those who continue to carry knives.  

There is a wealth of information in this report.  It is the outcome of a great deal of hard work from my 
own office, the police and our partners; both statutory and voluntary.  They all have my sincere thanks 
for their contribution to the ongoing delivery of my Police and Crime Plan and the effect it is having on 
crime and the quality of life in our communities. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Lord Willy Bach 
Police and Crime Commissioner  
  

16



 

 
 

Page | 5 

ABOUT LEICESTERSHIRE POLICE 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

17



 

 
 

Page | 6 

THE POLICE AND CRIME COMMISSIONER 
Police and Crime Commissioners (PCCs) were introduced in 2012.  They are elected by the public to 
hold Chief Constables - and the police force - to account, effectively making the police answerable to 
the communities they serve.  PCCs were designed to bring communities and the police closer together, 
delivering services that reflect public need and expectations.  

PCCs have strategic responsibility for policing and community safety issues across the police area.  
The Chief Constable remains responsible for operational decisions and the delivery of policing services.   

An integral part of the PCC’s role is to provide strategic direction to the criminal justice system as a 
whole and ensure the system is effective and accountable to the public. This involves working with 
criminal justice agencies, community safety partnerships, local authorities and the local criminal justice 
board to prevent and reduce crime, streamline services and reduce bureaucracy.   

The Police and Crime Plan, launched in 2017, sets out the strategic direction for all community safety 
activity and enables the force and its partnership network to work towards unified goals. 

As Police and Crime Commissioner, I oversee the police budget and have responsibility for 
commissioning services which support victims of crime, safeguard vulnerable people from future 
victimisation and help offenders break their crime habits and return to a law-abiding lifestyle.  I also 
distribute grants from my Prevention Fund to community organisations, charities, voluntary and third 
sector projects whose objectives complement those in the Police and Crime Plan. 

 

The Police and Crime Plan 

When I prepared my Police and Crime Plan, I insisted on prevention as the overarching ambition. That 
remains the case. If I can prevent crime from happening in the first place then our communities will be 
safer and our people happier. 

The Plan is based around five key areas: 

 Viable Partnerships 

 Visibility 

 Victim Services 

 Vulnerability Protection 

 Value for Money  

In my penultimate year significant progress has been achieved in all of these areas.   

This report contains an overview of some of the key activities in the year and progress against the 
pledges in the Police and Crime Plan. 

  

18



 

 
 

Page | 7 

VIABLE PARTNERSHIPS 

 

I fully appreciate the value of partnership working, in its many guises, and was clear from the outset 
that statutory and voluntary partners, plus the wider criminal justice network, would play a key role in 
the delivery of the Police and Crime Plan. 

Today my office has an ever increasing network of partners.  I currently work with around 74 active 
partners in local, regional and national contexts, ranging from large statutory organisations to small 
charities and third sector bodies. Together we have the same objective: we work together to deliver 
change. 

  

19



 

 
 

Page | 8 

In just seven months I, or a member of my team, has attended over 120 meetings, and the OPCC is 
represented at all the main public service meetings, including all the community safety partnerships in 
Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland.   

 

Stronger relationships with communities  

The most significant partnership I have is with you – local people and communities. This is the 
partnership that is of greatest significance and the one I invest most time in. The following examples 
highlight the value of that partnership, which is on top of the work that my team have done through 
People Zones.  

Following my election, I established an annual fund of £250,000 per year to support grassroots groups 
across Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland and to support the objectives of the Police and Crime 
Plan.  To date I have funded youth groups, activities in schools, knife crime projects, violence 
prevention projects and many more. These are small groups who know their local communities well 
and can make a small amount of money achieve a lot of things. 

But I have walked the beats too.  Over the past 12 months I have undertaken 12 Patch-Walks and 10 
‘What Matters to You?’ events with the Chief Constable or other Chief Officers together with local 
policing teams and other public bodies across Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland. 

At each event I listen to your views and follow up your concerns. Most of the time your comments are 
very supportive of the police and that is important to hear, but sometimes, for example, people have 
told us that the police are not as visible as they would like or that there is a particular problem with a 
certain crime issue in their local area. I have ensured that each of these is followed up – usually with 
your local policing team – with an appropriate outcome. 

I have also attended over 97 engagement events across Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland, 
including the Caribbean Carnival, the Sharma Women’s Centre and the North West Leicester DC Rural 
Barn event in Ashby De La Zouch. 

Over the past year I have issued newsletters, regular media columns, over 150 press statements, an 
average of 50 tweets per month to over 5,000 followers, undertaken an average of 33 hours of 
engagement per month and my Facebook reaches over 5,000 people. My office has dealt with 3,700 
letters from local people. 

One part of our community with whom I am particularly keen to engage is the young. I already have the 
Youth Commission, which is a group of young people whom I consult on a regular basis.  They also 
participate in many of my engagement activities. I also meet regularly with a separate group of young 
people who have first-hand experience of the criminal justice system and who help me understand the 
perspective of those who often end up on the wrong side of the law. 

To ensure that I hear views from young people, from all backgrounds and communities, I hosted a 
Youth Summit in November 2018. Over 80 students attended the event from secondary schools across 
Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland and voiced their opinions on a range of issues affecting the safety 
of young people today.  They particularly focussed on knife crime, hate crime, drugs and alcohol and 
cybercrime. The feedback I got from attendees was very positive with 74% rating the event as excellent 
and valuing the interaction they had with me and with the Chief Constable. 

  

20



 

 
 

Page | 9 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Making our communities more resilient – People Zones 

Building on the most successful of partnership models, I identified 
three areas needing additional support in order to them become 
more resilient. My office approached local agencies and community 
representatives who welcomed the concept and People Zones was 
born. 

Launched in 2018, there are now People Zones in New Parks, 
Coalville and the Bell Foundry Estate in Loughborough.  

Initiated by my office, there is now a core team for each zone, 
consisting of local community groups and representatives, local 
authorities, Community Safety Partnerships, health authorities and 
Fire and Rescue Services. It is an inclusive approach that 
encourages participation – anyone can have a role. The key aim is 
to make the community stronger so that it can resist all kinds of 
harmful behaviour. People Zones is working well for the local 
communities in each of the areas where they have been set up. 

People Zones run a series of events in each area to help individuals and communities gain knowledge 
and skills to improve the quality of their lives.  There is a dedicated website, a regular newsletter, and 
a supportive network of groups and expertise tailored around the needs of specific communities. 

The Probation Service’s Community Payback Scheme is also working within the zones, arranging for 
offenders to do unpaid work for these communities as part of a court sentence.   

Multi-agency groups ensure that vulnerable local people are properly protected and those responsible 
for the problem behaviour are managed effectively. 

The long term aim is for communities to gradually take more responsibility for resolving the problems 
they face without needing to draw on the support of public services.  Once this is successfully 
established the team will move on to other areas needing a similar approach. 

People Zones has been welcomed by health professionals, particularly local GPs and health 
practitioners, as it provides channels through which they can communicate with communities.   

In both the Loughborough and in North West Leicestershire People Zones, the local authorities, in 
partnership with the Police, are developing a plan to target and support both victims and perpetrators 
of domestic abuse. As well as providing protection to the victims this approach will do more to change 
the behaviour of offenders, particularly through the introduction of a programme for perpetrators. 

  

 
“This event is a really good idea to allow young people’s voices to be heard.  But 

also to increase awareness of the police on the community”. 

“This was a fantastic experience!  We got the opportunity to ask high-ranking individuals about the 
system and their opinion it”. 

“Really informative and engaging.  It has made students realise how hard 
the police force works to enable a safe environment so thank you”. 

21



 

 
 

Page | 10 

The Strategic Partnership Board 

One of the key partnerships driving a lot of the multi-agency developments within Leicester, 
Leicestershire and Rutland is the Strategic Partnership Board (SPB), which consists of the leaders of 
all the main public services across the area. I chair the main Board and I am supported in that role by 
the public service chief executives across the area. Over the past year we have done a lot of work to 
streamline and simplify the governance arrangements. The main SPB is supported by an executive 
body which identifies the common issues and challenges facing our communities, conducts detailed 
analysis and recommends actions to the main board. Over the past year a lot of our attention has 
focussed on issues relating to the mental health of our community as well as stimulating intensive multi-
agency work with specific communities which experience disproportionately high levels of problematic 
behaviour.  

This work is supported by four sub-groups, one focussing on our inter-agency work to manage the 
perpetrators of harmful behaviours, another similarly focussing on the work to support vulnerable 
people and another that analyses the issues driving harmful behaviours and sets in motion programmes 
to prevent them in the first place such as by providing early help to individuals at risk or by enabling 
local communities to support themselves more effectively. The final sub-group ensures we have the 
ability to share information across agencies and can analyse that information effectively.  

One of the key developments for next year is to build a programme that will focus more closely on 
reducing serious violence in our communities, by ensuring we do everything we can to support families 
and communities before violence becomes a problem.  

The work of the SPB is supported by the local Community Safety Partnerships which are convened in 
every local authority across the area. I fund these partnerships to reduce crime in each of our local 
areas. Each partnership has to produce an annual plan to identify its local priorities and articulate how 
it will address those priorities. One of the expectations of these partnerships is to engage with members 
of the local community in building and delivering their plans.  My emphasis has always been on close 
public engagement for it is the people living within the communities who experience crime first-hand 
and understand its full impact.  

 

Community Safety Partnerships 

Community Safety Partnerships (CSPs) are made up of representatives from the police, local 
authorities, fire and rescue authorities, health and probation services – known as the 'responsible 
authorities'. These authorities work together to protect their local communities from crime and to help 
people feel safe. 

Across Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland we have eight Community Safety Partnerships:  

 Charnwood CSP 

 Oadby & Wigston CSP 

 Blaby and Hinckley & Bosworth CSP 

 Harborough CSP 

 Melton CSP 

 North West Leicestershire CSP 

 Safer Rutland Partnership  

 Safer Leicester Partnership 

  

22



 

 
 

Page | 11 

I fund these organisations to the tune of £500,000 per year and I monitor their work to ensure that this 
money is being spent wisely and to good effect.  

There are many examples of innovative work from CSPs, but for the purposes of this report, I have 
chosen to show the breadth of service provision from Blaby, Hinckley & Bosworth, which work together. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Safeguarding 

 

 

I also fund the four Safeguarding Boards with the local authorities and clinical commissioning groups.  

Recognising the differing issues and needs affecting young and adult vulnerable people, Leicester City 
has a Safeguarding Children Board and a Safeguarding Adults Board as does Leicestershire and 
Rutland, who operate a joint approach. 

The role of safeguarding boards is to ensure that all of the pertinent agencies are working together to 
protect vulnerable people in our communities.  

The Force is doing well to tackle this issue head on, although we still have some work to do, particularly 
protecting people against new forms of exploitation such as modern slavery, where we need to increase 
levels of awareness amongst all our organisations and communities.  I am determined that vulnerable 
people should be able to live fulfilling lives in our local communities without being at risk of exploitation 
or harm by unscrupulous people. 

 

Unlocking Opportunity  

In my former career as a criminal barrister, too often I witnessed people in an ever-decreasing cycle of 
crime and punishment.  I always felt that this was due to the difficulty former prisoners have in obtaining 
employment. 

  

 Support from a children’s service provided for young people who have witnessed domestic 
abuse - 673 sessions were completed with young people from 81 referrals resulting in the 
improved mental well-being of those affected. 

 A Young People’s Prevention Awareness Programme delivered workshops to 1,764 young 
people on substance misuse, ASB, road safety, personal safety, healthy relationships and knife 
crime 

 A scheme to increase the security of vulnerable properties at risk of burglary and other low-level 
crimes has been implemented in nearly 60 properties.    

 A number of diversionary activities have been delivered with an organisation called ‘Streetvibe’, 
which provided outreach sessions on the youth bus in a number of local trouble spots during the 
summer. The sessions engaged with young people hanging around Hinckley and Argents Mead 
causing Anti-Social Behaviour. Around 140 young people participated, and the activities 
reduced the level of ASB during these key periods. ‘Streetvibe’ also delivered outreach sessions 
in Hinckley in the run up to Christmas and have continued to deliver weekly sessions throughout 
the last quarter of the year in the Argent’s Mead area of Hinckley Town Centre.  ASB reports 
have remained low in Hinckley which was a previous hot spot area. The same has happened in 
Blaby where ‘Streetvibe’ carried out six weeks of detached youth work in hot spot areas, which 
also included a “Crash Car” event held by the Leicester Fire and Rescue Service at Enderby 
Leisure Centre.   

23



 

 
 

Page | 12 

In February 2019 I invited businesses across Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland to attend a unique 
employment event funded by my office and organised in partnership with Leicester City Council’s 
Employment Hub, the Department for Work and Pensions and Leicestershire Cares’ WIRE Project to 
promote the social and business benefits of offering work placements, employment or mentorship 
opportunities to ex-offenders. 

Over 100 representatives from businesses attended and 75 organisations pledged to consider the 
opportunities for the recruitment of ex-offenders across Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland. 

The office is continuing to work closely with partners to drive this initiative forward.  A meeting was 
recently held at HMP Stocken, amongst the key leads from local authorities and the business sector, 
to see how local businesses can collectively provide employment opportunities for ex-offenders.  This 
also provided a valuable insight into learning how the prison is training and educating its inmates to set 
them on the path in readiness for potential employment when released.   

Businesses interested in taking part can contact Leicestershire Cares on 0116 275 6490. 

 

Street Lifestyles 

I have also been working with Leicester City Council and other agencies and businesses in the City to 
help address the problems raised by people adopting a street lifestyle. 

This included working with the City Mayor and partner agencies to identify ways in which these 
vulnerable individuals can access the right support and agree an incremental approach to enforcement. 

As part of this work, I have funded award-winning services to tackle substance misuse and provide 
outreach interventions to those with street lifestyle issues.  These include ‘Dear Albert’, a peer 
mentoring service, ‘No.5’, which provides health care and related services for those on the streets, and 
‘Turning Point’, who provide the drug treatment service that many of these individuals require.   

 

Strengthening Probation 

My office has also been working with the Ministry of Justice to agree how best to develop the probation 
service following the serious problems it encountered during the ‘Transforming Rehabilitation 
Programme’.  

The issues and proposals for a better probation service, were raised at a multi-agency event at 
Leicester City stadium in March where the lead for the national programme heard the views of people 
from all agencies across the East Midlands.  

It is pleasing that the Ministry of Justice has listened to those views and those of many others across 
the country and will now build a probation service in which our communities will have more confidence 
– a probation service to make our communities safer, not just to achieve profits for its owners. 

 

East Midlands Criminal Justice Board 

I also chair the East Midlands Criminal Justice Board, which brings together all of the leading figures in 
criminal justice services across the region. We have a development programme focussing on 
developing better integration across the different organisations and improving the quality of services to 
victims and witnesses. We also identify the key issues affecting the criminal justice community and set 
in motion work to address any new challenges or opportunities.   

24



 

 
 

Page | 13 

This is why we have been monitoring the work to develop revised approaches to probation as I have 
described above and we have considered some of the demanding challenges facing many of our 
organisations. This is a vitally important collaboration which ensures that we can work collaboratively 
across the region to make criminal justice services more efficient and effective.  

  

25



 

 
 

Page | 14 

VISIBLE POLICING 
 

 

I have consistently called for greater visibility and accessibility, not merely the police, but all public 
services. 

In the past few years increasing the number of officers on our streets has been especially difficult 
because of the funding pressures, which have reduced the number of officers in our communities.  
However, I have increased police numbers via each of my annual budgets and I will continue to so do 
until I am satisfied that there are sufficient officers and staff to protect our communities.  

  

26



 

 
 

Page | 15 

But tackling criminality and harm is now much more complex.  As Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of 
Constabulary, Fire and Rescue Services confirms, people are now more at risk in their bedroom than 
on the street.  I refer of course to cybercrime and cyber-enabled criminality.  That is why I have 
supported the investment in a specialist cyber unit and worked hard to raise awareness of ways in 
which people can protect themselves online. 

I have also been working with the police to develop a new operating model which will reduce the number 
of specialist services based centrally and will develop new generalist police officer roles based in our 
local neighbourhoods.  

Officer numbers rose by eight in 2017-18, 24 in 2018-19 and my latest budget proposals allow the 
recruitment of 107 new officers. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Of these 107 extra officers, it is expected that 80 will be recruited in the 2019-20 financial year, with the 
remaining 27 coming on board in 2020-21. It takes some time to recruit and train police officers because 
of the thorough vetting required and the specialist skills they need to learn to be a modern police officer. 
But we are definitely moving in the right direction.  

There are lots of different roles within the police and a modern police service needs a range of different 
roles. At the forefront of visibility is the Police Community Support Officer (PCSO) whose primary role 
is to engage with local communities and build relationships with key individuals and organisations. I 
have maintained the number of PCSOs at 181 and I have also maintained the funding needed to 
support the wealth of volunteers who now work in the police, including special police constables, 
volunteers in the community and cadets.  

Volunteers are a particularly effective in terms of increasing visibility, because these are people who 
live in our communities and know how important it is for local people to feel confident in the police. 

Overall Numbers1 2016/2017 2017/2018 2018/2019 

Police Officers 1,782 1,751 1,792 

PCSOs   231   238   177 

Police Staff 1,241 1,315 1,340 

Volunteer   244   210   250 

                                                             
1 Actual numbers have been used here rather than establishment numbers, which are higher because of a small amount of vacancies at 
any point in time. For example the establishment figure for 2018/19 was 1806 

 60 will be patrol officers based in the eight neighbourhood police areas 

 24 new detectives will be based in the neighbourhood police areas 

 8 new beat officers will be placed in the proactive teams dealing with current and emerging issues 
in each of the neighbourhood areas 

 8 new officers will tackle emerging crime on a proactive basis 

 7 new officers will focus on the crime that impacts upon the most vulnerable in our communities 

27



 

 
 

Page | 16 

Crime Prevention 

I have already mentioned that I am working with the police to change the ways in which services are 
delivered. I believe that is preferable to prevent criminality and harm instead of responding to its impact. 

In addition to People Zones – which is about more than just prevention - I have supported and funded 
many projects that focus on prevention such as the ‘Domestic Abuse 360’ project which attempts early 
intervention with people who might become victims of domestic abuse to help them avoid future harm 
by developing new skills. Similarly, I have funded a ‘Warning Zone’ which educates all of the school 
children across Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland how to avoid becoming victims of particular 
crimes, including online offending which is a high-risk area for children. 

I have also run themed campaigns to offer grants to organisations such as sporting clubs and 
organisers of youth related activities, recognising the significant role they have in diverting young 
people away from criminal activity.  

Furthermore, I made £100,000 of my funds available to enable organisations to positively influence 
young people so they are not drawn into the knife carrying gang culture that currently exists across the 
country as well as in Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland. 

 

Knife Crime 

Knife crime nationally is increasing and there is strong community support for initiatives to reduce knife 
crime, with our focus being on both catch and convict and early intervention.  This is best seen with the 
campaign #livesnotknives.  This approach has been to engage with young people through schools at 
year 6 and into secondary education, which has been well received with a strong take up across the 
force area. 

In a bid to kick-start a new multi-partner onslaught against knife crime in Leicestershire, I pledged to 
commit £100,000 to organisations which turn around the lives of those who wield weapons.  

In a further move designed to protect life, I announced that I have agreed to invest an additional £10,000 
to install Catastrophic Haemorrhage Packs in 120 frontline police vehicles. 

Leicestershire Police has engaged with the national Operation Sceptre which seeks to raise awareness 
and co-ordinate activity across the country. A tranche completed in March 2019 led to over 200 knives 
being surrendered by the public and targeted stop search operations in the City Centre of Leicester 
and the Highfields area of the City. 

Formal negotiations with the University Hospitals Leicester (UHL), about the adoption of a ‘RedThread’ 
scheme, continue with a full proposal now presented to UHL and a decision pending.  RedThread is an 
innovative project already in place in other emergency departments across the country, where specially 
trained workers engage with people who are treated in the emergency department for stabbing type 
injuries.  

Recognising that knife carriers are the group most vulnerable to knife crime offences by far, RedThread 
engages with victims in hospital when they are at personal crisis point.  This is often the most effective 
time to help them develop alternative attitudes and lifestyles. We hope to introduce RedThread in the 
forthcoming year but, in the meantime, UHL is helping the police to understand the pattern of knife 
crime offending by providing key information about assaults.  

  

28



 

 
 

Page | 17 

The Serious Harm Reduction Unit in the police has also now started to provide increased support and 
diversionary services to siblings of habitual knife carriers as these are likely to be the serious violent 
offenders of the future. Again, my whole emphasis is on thinking ahead and preventing what might 
happen. If we can change the pattern of behaviour for just one person we will avoid more individuals 
and families being devastated by the effects of this crime.  

I have also introduced a PEER educator scheme to work with young people in our communities. This 
is a particularly exciting approach because it involves specially trained young people interacting with 
individuals or groups of young people to avoid situations escalating into violence. We are testing this 
service in a few areas already, but we would like to expand it if it proves successful. 

I have responded swiftly to other issues which have emerged during the year, particularly those centred 
on serious violence, which have been seen nationwide.  I have taken a national stance on this matter 
by asking questions in the House of Lords and meeting with ministers about the matter.  In the next 
financial year (2019-20) an additional £2.6m in external funds will be received to help to combat this 
issue in the area. 

 

Zero tolerance to supply of class A drugs  

Class A drugs offences increased by 49 offences (+11%) during 2018/19. 

A lot of the drug trade is driven by organised crime groups that have always been with us, but have 
become more prominent and better organised in recent years. The Force Intelligence Bureau collects 
intelligence on these groups all the time and reviews it regularly. The key to dismantling these groups 
is to understand who their members are and how they work.  

This intelligence picture has been growing for many months now and ultimately resulted in major 
operation, ‘Operation Lionheart’, which has seen over 100 individuals arrested and three Organised 
Crime groups significantly disrupted from being able to operate across Leicester, Leicestershire and 
Rutland. Similarly, the police have also done a lot of work to target individuals who commit high-value 
commercial burglaries which has resulted in the arrest of those responsible after co-ordinated work 
between specialist teams and investigators.   

The positive outcome rate for all drugs offences is 78%. Positive outcomes include the prosecution of 
offenders but also take account of restorative and reparative outcomes (community resolutions) which 
are the resolution of less serious offences or anti-social behaviour through an informal agreement 
between the parties. The positive outcome rate for drugs offences has increased from last year where 
the rate was 62%. Drug-related crime is mainly identified through the proactive work of the police such 
as tightly targeted stop and search exercises. 

Ironically, the more proactive the police become the more these crimes will be reported – but this is still 
an important way of disrupting the drugs market and I believe that the police should use their powers 
to safeguard our communities – but of course with sensitivity and care. 

The police have enhanced their ability to tackle drug crime by appointing area drug experts and an 
area-wide drugs expert.  These individuals have a specialist understanding of the issues underpinning 
drug-related crime and can therefore work more effectively at disrupting the market and targeting high-
level offenders.  

  

29



 

 
 

Page | 18 

Cybercrime   

Certain offences such as fraud are far more likely to occur online than they are in our local communities. 
In addition to this trend there is also a digital component to many of the more familiar crimes that our 
communities have suffered for many years. For instance, the tracking of mobile phone use or the 
monitoring of CCTV footage is often a key tool in much of modern offending.  

Cybercrime and crime which includes a digital component is on the increase and the police keep track 
of this by undertaking six monthly assessments to understand the patterns.  

The police have ensured that all the relevant officers have a certain level of training and skill in 
understanding cybercrime and how to undertake basic digital investigations. But very often specialist 
skills are needed to address these types of crimes and for these reasons the police have set up a 
Cybercrime Unit which investigates online offending.  It also undertakes awareness campaigns to 
ensure that people and businesses in our communities know how to protect themselves and prevent 
these crimes from happening in the first place.  

The Cybercrime Unit has continued to ensure 100% of cyber-dependent offences reported in 
Leicestershire are investigated and all victims receive appropriate mitigation and protection advice. The 
Unit has also begun to develop in partnership with the East Midlands Cyber Crime Unit a referral 
pathway for those at risk of committing serious offences. 

Over the last two years I have increased the budget for cybercrime to enable significant additional 
investment in digital capability to help to combat the ever-changing world of technology within the 
criminal world.  This has resulted in: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

I am particularly proud that the Force’s pioneering Digital Media Investigator claimed first place in the 
Innovation in Digital Investigation and Intelligence category at the International Digital Investigation and 
Intelligence Awards, after his outstanding work on a piece of software called, ‘Voldata Collector’. 

The tool captures a host of useful information and turns it into an easy to use report. It is now a key 
part of the response toolkit for cyber and digital responders and has assisted in capturing key evidence 
at the scene of numerous offences. 

The digital team as a whole was also awarded highly commended as following a successful year where 
the department received commendations for the role they played in a number of investigations. This 
work has seen them take digital evidence from hundreds of devices as well as examine hours of CCTV, 
all of which has helped to secure successful prosecutions. 

  

 The police introducing cybercrime into the work of the Integrated Offender Management Team, 
which deals with the most challenging offenders  

 The police working with other agencies to increase knowledge of Cyber Crime through shared 
online resources  

 Two cyber volunteers being recruited to support investigative work and campaigns to support 
prevention 

 Continuing to review this area and invest in improvements to stay ahead of offenders where 
possible 

 Continuing to raise awareness in communities so they can better protect themselves. 

30



 

 
 

Page | 19 

Rural Crime  

During the past year there have been a number of actions and initiatives to tackle rural crime.  These 
are as follows:  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
All of this is supported by the appointment of 11 Wildlife Officers who have specialist knowledge on 
rural issues and can engage effectively with the communities. 

As with all types of criminality, intelligence is vital.  This has improved over the past year as all rural 
incidents are now clearly marked on police systems and reviewed regularly by the Force Intelligence 
Bureau.  

 

Anti-social behaviour (ASB) 

The levels of recorded ASB incidents have shown a general reduction over the last two years and 
projections suggest that this is likely to continue. 

The use of the repeat caller database has enabled neighbourhood teams to effectively problem solve 
persistent ASB issues, which often occur in repeated patterns or are inflicted on repeat victims. The 
police work closely with partner agencies, to provide a multi-agency response when callers have 
experienced high levels of ASB. 

I am pleased that I have continued to fund the PAVE team – Pro-Active Vulnerability Engagement – 
which is helping to prevent victimisation of vulnerable members of our community. 

  

 Plans are in place to deploy drones for planning and preventative activity on heritage sites such 
as identifying access points into heritage buildings. 

 Heritage watch volunteers are now in place. 

 ‘Operation Blackthorn’, which manages the police response to allegations of criminal activities 
relating to hunting with dogs has been reviewed and updated, with expectations that those 
involved will provide more information to police.  Drones can be used to monitor hunting activities. 

 Drones are also useful for badger and other wildlife offences.  

 Strong relationships have been built with the National Farmers Union and with Horse Watch and 
other bodies to support good communications and the dissemination of crime prevention 
messages. 

 The police, together with rural communities, use social media such as ‘WhatsApp’ and ‘Rural 
Watch’ to keep each other informed and respond quickly to incidents. 

 Together with the police we have engaged in community-based Patch-Walks and consultations 
with rural communities, sometimes focussed on particular issues such as relationships with 
traveller communities. 

 The police have run regular campaigns to encourage marking of farm equipment to help track 
items that have been stolen and subsequently return the equipment to its rightful owner.  

31



 

 
 

Page | 20 

Anti-social behaviour incidents reported: 

2017/18 – 17,401 

2018/19 – 14,322 

This is a decrease of 3,079 or 17.7% in the past year.  

 

Volunteers 

Volunteers come in many guises and I really value the contribution they make to policing. The policing 
family includes many different types of volunteer, including special constables, police support 
volunteers, youth commission members and police cadets. In all of these different roles they provide a 
valuable service to the public and help to increase the visibility of policing overall. They demonstrate 
over and over again the close bond between the police and the public.  

Over the last year the total number of volunteer hours was 101,710 of which:  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Independent Custody Visiting 

To have an Independent Custody Visiting (ICV) scheme is a statutory responsibility for all Police and 
Crime Commissioners.  My scheme is run from my office. 

The primary purpose of the scheme is to ensure that those held in police custody receive all their rights 
and entitlements and their welfare needs are met.  Unannounced custody visits are undertaken by a 
team of volunteers to the three custody suites at Beaumont Leys (14 cells), Euston Street (36 cells) 
and Keyham Lane (17 cells). 

During 2018/19 the team made a total of 156 visits, 52 visits to each custody suite fully meeting the 
performance standard set of one visit to each custody suite every week.   During those visits volunteers 
offered to talk to 1077 individuals out of the total of 13,646 people detained during the year. Of these 
443 detainees agreed to be seen by the volunteers.  From these discussions, the top three requests 
were for food/drink, interpreters and updates on their case.  All requests were reported to the Custody 
Sergeant and the majority of them were addressed during the course of the visit.  

I have also had the opportunity of undertaking a custody visit with one of the volunteers and was 
impressed by the professionalism and skilful approach the volunteers took to handling their 
conversations with detainees.     

  

 280 Specials volunteered over 60,000 hours 18 hours per officer each month on average and 
participated in knife crime operations, roads policing, and intelligence led crackdowns on drink 
driving.  

 236 Police Support Volunteers team completed over 24,000 hours and, amongst other things, 
worked with the economic crime unit and the team managing sexual offenders. 

 237 cadets have now joined including 150 who will start next year. This group engages in a lot of 
community-based activity. 

32



 

 
 

Page | 21 

I am very proud of my Custody Visiting Scheme and particularly the results which during the past year 
which resulted in the best ever performance with no missed visits and the awarding of the Independent 
Custody Visiting Association Gold Award and re-accreditation of the Investing in Volunteers award for 
a third consecutive term.       

I am now a member of national Independent Custody Visiting Association Board of Directors so I have 
a voice on national issues and developments for custody visiting.  

 

Representative workforce 

I have always advocated a workforce that is truly representative of the community it serves.  Leicester, 
Leicestershire and Rutland is one of the most gloriously diverse communities in the country and the 
police work hard to achieve true representation. But we still have some way to go.  For this reason I 
included a second Positive Action post in the last budget, the aim of which is to attract people into the 
police from all of the minority groups across our community. 

I have been clear that I want to see more people from EVERY background working their way along 
their desired career path in the police.  Over recent years funding cuts have made it difficult, if not 
impossible, because there were so few new entrants, but I am now expanding police numbers and I 
want to draw in a more diverse workforce. Of all the major institutions or public services, the Police 
Service is arguably the single most important profession that needs to accurately reflect our society. 

At the end of March last year the number of BAME police officers in the UK stood at 6.6% of all officers.  
At the same time just 3.7% of officers in senior ranks were from the Asian, Black, and other ethnic 
groups combined, compared with 2.8% in 2007.  

In Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland the figures are better, but we are a very diverse community 
and we would expect to have higher Black and Minority Ethnic (BAME) representation in our police. 
We need these figures to be much higher still.   

But it is important to remember that diversity is about much more than race.  We also need to prevent 
discrimination against people on the grounds of age, disability, gender – and gender reassignment – 
marriage and civils partnerships, pregnancy and maternity, religion and belief, sex and sexual 
orientation.  I’m proud that in 2018 Leicestershire Police was in Stonewall’s Top 100 employers and I 
fully support the many other ways in which diversity is welcomed. 

 

Responding to Demand 

As a result of austerity the police have had to become increasingly efficient in how they manage all the 
incidents they deal with. Generally this has resulted in increasingly specialised services and a reduction 
in the more traditional generic role such as neighbourhood police officers.  

More recently the force has developed a new operating model which returns to neighbourhood based 
‘omni-competent’ police officers, who can respond to incidents, investigate crimes and build 
relationships at the local level. I have received regular briefings on these plans which will result in much 
more accessibility to the police for our local communities and I look forward to the work being completed 
over the course of the forthcoming year. 

  

33



 

 
 

Page | 22 

Accessibility 

Accessibility is not only about the physical whereabouts of the police. I have already mentioned about 
the increasing threat that cybercrime poses for our communities and businesses. In order to combat 
that and to take account of the increasingly online nature of our lifestyles it makes sense for our police 
to have an online presence also, and there have been, and will continue to be, a lot of developments 
in this area.  

For instance, the police have now introduced an online system for reporting crime at 
https://www.leics.police.uk/  This system allows the public to report non-emergency crimes quickly 
and easily. The website also provides information to people about how they can reduce their future 
risk of being a victim of crime by advising them how to build their resilience. The site also directs 
people to the appropriate place to deal with other concerns, such as fly tipping or abandoned 
vehicles. 

Similarly I have provided the police with a new tool that allows them to enter crime details whilst at the 
scene and without returning to the office. They can also take fingerprints at the scene by using new 
digital technology and are exploring ways in which interviews are conducted by using body worn 
cameras.  

In addition, we have made increasingly successful use of social media to promote important messages, 
particularly about crime prevention. For instance, the award-winning ‘Kayleigh’s Love Story’ and 
‘Breck’s Last Game’, have attracted well over a million views each from members of the public. I am 
convinced that this sort of media can have a really big impact in preventing future crime.  

  

34



 

 
 

Page | 23 

VICTIM SERVICES 
 

 
During the past year a total of £1,386,885 was spent on victims’ services. 

In 2018, following consultation with service users, a new specification was drawn up for services to 
victims, delivered under the PCC’s Victim First brand.  The new contract was awarded to Catch22, 
initially for three years starting in August 2018.  

The refreshed Victim First service was built upon the knowledge and advice of Leicestershire’s diverse 
communities.  Established specialist advisory groups for race, disability, old age and LGBTQ+ were 
consulted with to ensure that the Victim First service meets the needs of all communities. 

  

35



 

 
 

Page | 24 

The new contract brings sweeping improvements to the way victims are supported in the aftermath of 
a crime, ensuring help is available from within the community. 

As well as new opening hours to improve flexibility, the revised service sees staff working at police and 
partner premises across Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland to deliver face-to-face support and 
increased accessibility. 

A new website with a new web-chat facility has been introduced to enable victims to ask any initial 
questions or queries they may have and/or receive the full support package at the click of a button as 
well as via traditional means such as by phone or face-to-face.  The new website is designed to meet 
the needs of vulnerable victims who might not have previously felt comfortable accessing support. 

Meanwhile, young victims will be provided with access to a dedicated young person’s caseworker as 
well as the provision of appropriate group support and youth-specific advice.  

It is part of a series of improvements to the service designed to improve the effectiveness and speed 
at which victims can access vital help in the aftermath of their experiences.  

Caseworkers will be on hand during operating hours to provide emotional support and to enable victims 
to find out key information that will support them on their journey.  

The service has been funded to support victims of high level anti-social behaviour.   

The aim is to ensure excellent victim services for all service users including those that have been 
victims of high level anti-social behaviour as well as victims of crime. Performance of the Victim First 
service for 2018/19 is as follows:- 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Ensure Victims Code of Practice (VCOP) compliance  

My Victim First service is designed to meet the Victims Code of Practice (VCOP), which ensures that 
victims receive a high-quality service. Contract monitoring ensures that this is the case. In the coming 
year I will take responsibility for ensuring that all of our criminal justice partners and the whole criminal 
justice system meets these quality standards for victims. 

  

 15,080 referrals  

 1,045 were repeat victims, 310 were self-referrals, 2,078 received significant (enhanced) 
support 

 Of those surveyed: 
o 94% of those surveyed felt safer 
o 94% of those surveyed had improved health and wellbeing 
o 92% felt better able to cope 

 Referrals via the police have increased by 7% (809 referrals) from the previous year 

 Self-referrals have increased by 34% (77 referrals) from the previous year 

36



 

 
 

Page | 25 

Sexual Assault Referral Centre (SARC) 

My office has worked extensively with NHS England and fellow OPCCs to both fund and put in place a 
new regional sexual assault referral centre (SARC) for children and young people (Paediatric SARC).  
Leicestershire children and young people who have been sexually abused can now access specialist 
support, medical and forensic services in both Nottingham and Northampton (previously all victims had 
to travel to Northampton). These victims also have access to up to ten therapeutic sessions to help 
them in recover from their ordeal. 

I have also ensured that a high-quality adults SARC (Juniper Lodge) continues to operate in 
Leicestershire, provided by the police and funded by both NHS England and myself.   

 

Domestic Abuse 

Often referred to as a hidden crime, domestic abuse is typically under-reported. A great deal of work 
has gone into encouraging people to report concerns and incidents.  

We believe that the reported levels are merely the tip of the iceberg, which is shocking when you 
consider that Leicestershire Police receives around 20,000 calls a year – that works out at 56 a day - 
relating to domestic abuse.  

In response my team has set up a large-scale project working with local authority partners to redesign 
a large part of domestic abuse and sexual violence services across Leicester, Leicestershire and 
Rutland.  The then Victims’ Commissioner (Baroness Newlove) was invited to give an opening speech 
in the engagement activity with stakeholders and victims which gathered extensive insight into what 
victims of these crimes need to cope, recover and remain safe.  When we have completed the work, 
we will have a much stronger set of services to respond to domestic abuse and sexual violence across 
our area with the services designed to respond more flexibly to the needs of victims. 

  

37



 

 
 

Page | 26 

VULNERABILITY PROTECTION 

 

 

I fund a wide range of initiatives to ensure that some of the most vulnerable members of society are 
able to be more resilient in the face of adversity. For instance we have worked with the City and County 
councils to improve substance misuse treatment services.  These are delivered by Turning Point who 
provide flexible services in our prisons and to those living on the streets who often struggle with mental 
health and multiple other problems as well. 
  

38



 

 
 

Page | 27 

Hidden crime  

I have worked hard with partners to understand the extent of the largely hidden problem of modern 
slavery.  

This is a complex area and I have agreed to fund the expansion of our local unit so that it can embrace 
all forms of human exploitation in one team that works closely with our partners in a shared base. This 
new team will benefit from seven additional staff to allow it to increase its intelligence gathering and its 
intervention in typical areas of exploitation, such as car washes, nail bars and the sex industry.  

Nationally, there are increasing reports of forced labour in construction and food service industries, 
demonstrating that this is a very dynamic area of criminal exploitation requiring high levels of alertness 
across all partners and communities.  

The key elements of our multi-agency approach include:  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Modern slavery is a national/international issue and it is important that I work with fellow PCCs in 
addressing it. The lead PCC is the West Yorkshire PCC and I have drawn heavily on the learning from 
the programme being developed in that area to apply the findings locally. This includes the development 
of a toolkit to enable all professionals and members of the public to identify modern slavery more easily 
and to take the appropriate action.  

 

Mental Health 

There is a growing realisation in our society of the extent and impact of mental health issues, which 
have traditionally been ignored. All of our emergency services, not just the police, regularly tell me that 
up to 30% of the work they deal with is mental health related, albeit not all of the people concerned will 
ever have a formal mental health diagnosis. It is in all of our interests to take mental health issues 
seriously and to recognise the long term problems they create if they are left unaddressed. This applies 
to all of us, particularly police officers and other police staff who have to deal with extremely disturbing 
behaviour on a regular basis, which is why I am so pleased to see the introduction of initiatives to 
support the mental health of all people who work in the police, including mental health first aid and 
counselling for those exposed to particularly challenging experiences.  

The government is committed to improving the mental health of our citizens and has announced 
increased funding to create higher quality mental health services as well as changes to the Mental 
Health Act which focuses on the well-being of the person experiencing mental ill-health. For the police, 
this means having a greater awareness of the mental health issues underpinning many of the incidents 
we deal with. 

  

 Identifying and reporting incidents 

 Pursuing and disrupting perpetrators  

 Preventing would be victims and would be perpetrators from becoming involved.  

 Supporting victims and their full recovery/re-integration into society  

 Guarding against any forms of modern slavery and human trafficking within our own organisation 
and supply chains.  

39



 

 
 

Page | 28 

To address this I continue to support the Mental Health Triage Car which provides an immediate 
response to incidents that have mental health components – either by attending or by advising others 
how best to handle the situation.  

I also continue to fund the Pro-Active Vulnerability Engagement (PAVE) team, which receives referrals 
for individuals where mental ill-health appears to underpin their behaviour resulting in regular 
interaction with emergency services. The PAVE team includes support and nursing staff to address the 
often complex issues underpinning someone’s behaviour over the long term. Its success can be 
measured in the reduction in calls to emergency services concerning those people. 

On top of this I have also agreed to fund work with Public Health Leicestershire to support people 
bereaved through suicide. This is a clearly a traumatic experience, but it is also a group that have a 
high likelihood of committing suicide in the future.  

Mental health provision needs to be embedded in all services and therefore I am delighted to say that 
we have put in place a mental health nurse at the Paediatric SARC as well as in Victim First to ensure 
that the mental health needs of victims are met and that they are able to access wider mental health 
provision. In addition, I have funded many mental health related initiatives, particularly within the 
therapeutic support sector, across the force area through my grant scheme.  

Finally, I am pleased to say that the Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland ‘Keep Safe Places’ (KSPs), 
promoted through Leicestershire County Council, was highlighted by Ofsted as an area of good work 
in the special educational needs and disability (SEND) inspection at Rutland.   

Of course we need to do more and with all areas of work we need to learn from the things that go 
wrong. The police now have monthly Incident Review Meetings to review mental health incidents and 
maximise the shared resource of practitioners. 

 

Substance addiction  

There is a lot of overlap between the elements of my plan that focus on mental health and those that 
focus on drug and alcohol misuse.  

I invest around £500,000 in services to tackle substance misuse per annum. These services are largely 
co-commissioned with other public bodies reflecting a shared level of responsibility and also reflecting 
the widespread impact that substance misuse issues can have. 

 In partnership with Leicester City Council I co-fund a recovery centre for street drinkers.  This 
service operates a controlled drinking regime which both removes this problem from the city 
centre environs and enables caseworkers to support street drinkers towards recovery. 

 With Leicester City Council, Leicestershire County Council, Rutland County Council and NHS 
England, I co-fund substance misuse treatment services for those that are addicted to drugs or 
alcohol.  These services are provided by ‘Turning Point’ and operate across the community and 
HMP Leicester and were highly praised by the Care Quality Commission in its latest report. 

 I also commission a service from ‘Turning Point’ to provide an out of court disposal workshop. 
This is similar in nature to the driving speed awareness course to help people to reflect upon 
their use of substances and to consider whether they have a problem which they need to do 
something about before it results in more serious crime. 

  

40



 

 
 

Page | 29 

 I fund a number of youth engagement and diversion activities through grass roots community 
organisations such as ‘Streetvibe’ and through strategic partnerships with larger organisations 
such as Leicester City Football Club Community Trust. This provision enables culturally relevant 
role models to build positive mentoring relationships with young people for whom substance 
misuse is likely to be only one of many negative features of their lives. 

 I have worked with the police and wider partners on the Night-Time Economy project. This 
focusses on improving the safety of the environment, improving the safety of those too 
inebriated to safely take care of themselves and to remove illegal drugs from the night-time 
economy through pro-active police sniffer dog patrols through the city centre. It also influences 
the decisions of the Licensing Committees to ensure that the selling of alcohol is only allowed 
when all proper safeguards are in place 

 Partnership working is central to my own work and I continue to part fund the posts of two police 
officers who work closely with ‘Turning Point’ to ensure that people get the most out of treatment.  

 Similarly, I fully support the work of the Mayor of Leicester City in addressing the lifestyles of 
vulnerable people on the city centre streets.  

 

Keeping Children Safe 

Protecting children is a core part of my Police and Crime Plan.  The foundation of this is my financial 
support for the Children’s Safeguarding Boards, but that is just the start. 

This year, the Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE) Hub was made a permanent feature of police work.  
Working with partners enables this hub to respond to broader child criminal exploitation (CCE). It is 
becoming evident that many of those initially presenting as young offenders are actually very vulnerable 
and are often manipulated by adults into their criminal behaviour. 

I have already referred to the support I have given to Warning Zone to ensure that school children are 
aware of, amongst other risks, the risk of exploitation and I have also funded interventions directly in 
certain schools to help curb the rising knife crime epidemic. Similarly, I have started funding the Prince’s 
Trust to deliver their highly acclaimed programmes with young people in selected schools across 
Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland, focussing mainly on the People Zones areas. 

The Police Child Referral Team (CRT) reviewed and made decisions on 3,633 referrals. 1,957 of these 
were appropriately referred to partner agencies to safeguard vulnerable children and appropriate 
safeguarding was put in place for all. The department conducted 550 multi-agency strategy discussions 
for child victims of neglect, physical and sexual abuse, domestic abuse and repeat missing children. 
This resulted in 25% of the cases being jointly investigated with the Child Abuse Investigation Unit 
alongside the Child Sexual Exploitation hub and social care.  The remainder were managed on a single 
agency basis. 

 

Domestic and Sexual Violence and Abuse 

I have addressed some of the key elements of our work on domestic and sexual abuse in the Victims 
section above. However, domestic and sexual abuse are major areas of work for the police and have 
seriously harmful consequences for the people of Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland. It is worth just 
being clear about the extent of it. 

  

41



 

 
 

Page | 30 

The force dealt with 6,565 reported domestic incidents and an additional 14,364 domestic incidents 
involving an associated reported crime during the year. Alongside the reactive investigation and 
prosecution of these cases (at any one time there are around 100 – 120 active domestic abuse cases 
being dealt with by the police) the police undertake a number of pro-active and preventative measures. 
During 2018/19 the Domestic Abuse Investigation Unit (DAIU) issued 138 Domestic Violence 
Prevention orders (DVPO) and dealt with 162 Clare’s Law Applications.   

Clearly much of the work crosses agency boundaries and during the year the inter-agency Domestic 
and Sexual Violence and Abuse Strategic Objectives and Vision have been developed to guide 
partnership work up until 2022. 

The Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence Service that I jointly fund has also been addressing 
increasing demands for support. In 2017/18 the helpline received 8,569 calls, increasing to 9,513 in 
2018/19 – an 11% increase. 

The police continue to manage the risk posed by 1,426 sexual offenders growing by approximately 
12% each year, as police teams are more successful at identifying offenders and prosecuting them.   

A Paedophile On-Line Investigation Team (POLIT) Strategy has also been created to investigate online 
sexual offending.    

 

Hate incidents 

I continue to raise awareness of hate incidents and crimes through community engagement and 
partnership working and the level of reporting continues to rise in response to growing awareness. For 
instance, 1,629 hate crimes were recorded in the year, which was an increase of 9.3% (152 offences). 
This is a positive sign that people believe hate crime will be treated seriously and properly addressed 
by the police.  

To better understand hate crime perpetration across the force area I have funded the University of 
Leicester’s Centre for Hate Studies to undertake some detailed research.  This valuable research will 
support both the police and my office in developing and delivering a perpetrator programme which 
challenges entrenched attitudes and beliefs which both sit behind and fuel hate crimes. 

However, we can’t be complacent. I believe there remains some under-reporting within our 
communities and awareness-raising work will continue with partners and communities to identify and 
remove barriers to reporting.  

 

Missing from Home 

There were 5,050 reports of missing people during 2018-19, an increase of 838 or 16.6%. 

A lot of the missing person incidents have involved young people, particularly from children’s homes 
and officers have been working with these homes to identify ways of limiting the number of incidents 
and safeguarding the young people more effectively.  

I have funded a post to work with children’s homes on this issue and I am pleased to say that the post 
has now been built into partner’s mainstream funds, reflecting its effectiveness.  

  

42



 

 
 

Page | 31 

This year I have also funded a new purpose-built Incident Command Unit (ICU) for Leicestershire 
Search and Rescue who work in close partnership with the police to locate missing persons. The new 
ICU will serve the team for many years to come and help the police find vulnerable high risk missing 
persons using the latest technology hosting both the search managers and police search advisors in 
one vehicle for joint collaborative working.  

But that doesn’t mean the problem has stopped – far from it. In fact, we are increasingly experiencing 
problems as children are moved into Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland children’s homes from 
outside this area. There has been a lot of progress, but there is more to do. 

  

43



 

 
 

Page | 32 

VALUE FOR MONEY 
 

 

It is crucial that I ensure value for money is delivered in the provision of policing services and services 
that I commission directly. My Police and Crime Plan set out the areas on which I wished to concentrate 
over my term in office and I am pleased to highlight below how these have been delivered.  

I said I would be more be more responsive, reflecting changes in budget demand as issues arise and 
I have expanded the budget to include significant additional investment in digital capability to help to 
combat the ever-changing world of technology within the criminal world. 

  

44



 

 
 

Page | 33 

I have provided support to groups and projects outside policing who have better knowledge and reach 
within our ‘hard to reach’ and ‘hard to engage’ communities by supporting grassroots organisations 
through my grant funding process and making funds available when there are urgent issues to address, 
as I did with the £100,000 knife crime grant. 

I have increased police officer numbers and enabled police officers to spend more of their time on the 
frontline through a more flexible use of overtime and different arrangements for scene preservation, 
which often takes precious officer time away from core duties.  

I have changed the whole approach to budgets, grants and commissioning to make it much simpler 
and more accessible, particularly for grass roots organisations. 

I have also developed a new Commissioning Framework which covers a multi-year period, so providing 
a greater degree of funding certainty to the organisations who are financially supported through this 
approach. 

I have ensured that Leicestershire Police Procurement is aware of the impact of using local suppliers 
who support the local community through employment.  They also provide benefits from reductions in 
travelling and delivery times which in turn helps us to reduce carbon footprints. 

During the course of the last 12 months local growers and farmers have been supported by the 
purchasing of fresh fruit and vegetables, meat products and milk-based products for sale within Force 
Headquarters canteen.  

Where building works, repairs or emergency call-outs are required then this has been sourced from 
approved local suppliers which also benefits the local community and sub-contractors. These services 
provide local jobs and use local resources and materials from sustainable sources.  

The introduction of renewable drinks cups in the canteen also demonstrates the commitment to 
sustainability which is a positive step and meets the aspirational requirements of the workforce. 
Economic, social value and environmental considerations are at the forefront of each Procurement 
exercise undertaken. 

I receive regular reports on finances throughout the year which tracks spend against the set budget. 
The police have managed this process impeccably. 

I also consider and approve all contracts over a certain level of spend and agree the sale of assets 
when they exceed a certain limit ensuring I keep a close oversight on the management of finances. 

I said I would ensure that local people receive value from the money that is invested in policing and 
other areas where I am responsible for commissioning services.  I have been delighted to receive from 
Her Majesty’s Inspector of Constabulary and Fire and Rescue Service (HMICFRS) reports on value for 
money comparisons that show that Leicestershire Police compare favourably to other forces.   

I have supported collaboration with local partners where it is beneficial.  A typical illustration is the joint 
commissioning of drug and domestic abuse services and in supporting regional collaboration.  

I said I would maximise the amount derived via the local council tax through the police precept during 
my time in office.  Each year I have set the amount of precept at the maximum amount to provide as 
much funding as possible for policing services.   

I have also asked the Chief Constable to develop a change programme which includes a savings 
plan to limit the impact of any resource reduction on visible policing.   

  

45



 

 
 

Page | 34 

Finally, I said I would identify potential additional resources to reinvest in policing.  I am delighted that 
I have received additional central funding for all of the initiatives I have bid and lobbied for, 
particularly around People Zones and for addressing serious violence. 

 

The Strategic Policing Requirement 

The Strategic Policing Requirement (SPR) was issued in 2012 as part of the Police Reform and 
Social Responsibility Act 2011. It requires Leicestershire and other police forces to provide support to 
other police areas at times of urgent demand e.g. a terrorist incident, which a single police service 
could not deal with on its own. Leicestershire Police has met this requirement on 197 occasions 
during the year, for example to support The Metropolitan Police Service to safely manage the recent 
visit of President Trump.  Similarly, but on a smaller scale, a number of officers were deployed to 
Salisbury, Wiltshire to support the scene preservation commitments in the investigation into the 
CBRN attack.  

The SPR is all about working collaboratively with other police areas to deal with threats that 
transcend geographical boundaries. Leicestershire Police has an excellent track record in doing this 
as can be seen from its work with other police services in the East Midlands. With our neighbouring 
forces we have built a set of exemplar collaborative regional services.  

 

East Midlands Collaboration 

Leicestershire Police is involved in a number of collaborative arrangements for policing services.  
During 2018/19 £9.342m was invested in regional collaborative arrangements.  It is estimated that 
across the region since 2010 at least £70m has been saved as a direct result of collaboration. Of this 
amount it is estimated that at least £20m could be attributable to Leicestershire.   

The policing areas in the East Midlands region are: 

 Derbyshire 

 Leicestershire 

 Lincolnshire 

 Northamptonshire 

 Nottinghamshire 
The budget for 2018/19 for Leicestershire can be broken down as follows to highlight the main 
regional collaborative arrangements that are in place within this force area: 

East Midlands Special Operations Unit (EMSOU)  £6.0m 
East Midlands Collaborative Human Resources (EMCHRS) £1.0m 
East Midlands Operational Support Service (EMOpSS)  £0.9m 
Regional HR Service Centre     £0.7m 
East Midlands Legal Services     £0.4m 
East Midlands Criminal Justice Service (EMCJS)  £0.3m 
Total        £9.3m 
 

  

46



 

 
 

Page | 35 

 East Midlands Special Operations Unit (EMSOU) – The East Midlands Special Operations Unit 
(EMSOU) investigates many of the most serious crimes that affect our region, including counter 
terrorism.  It has an exceptional reputation locally and is held up nationally as the blueprint for 
collaboration in the UK. The collaboration is broader than any other crime and counter terrorism 
collaboration in the UK spanning everything from forensic services to major crime.  During the 
past year the Unit has investigated 4 homicides committed in Leicestershire.   

 East Midlands Collaborative Human Resources (EMCHRS) – This unit is responsible for 
training, learning and development and occupational health matters across the region.  

 East Midlands Operational Support Services (EMOpSS) – The unit was created in 2015 and 
delivers a range of services including traffic and firearms. More recently Nottinghamshire has 
withdrawn and most of the services are now delivered locally.   

 Regional Human Resources (HR) Service Centre – This is a collaboration between 
Leicestershire and Derbyshire and provides a HR support service for the two areas. 

 East Midlands Police Legal Services (EMPLS) – This provides legal services to all Chief 
Constables and Police & Crime Commissioners across the region and is the largest in the 
country.  

 East Midlands Criminal Justice Service – This provides services for four police services 
including Leicestershire and covers prosecutions; warrants and custody along with other 
services.   

 

Governance  

In delivering my plan I also need to hold the police to account and ensure that they are delivering 
appropriate services for those who live, visit or work in our area.  I have already described how I listen 
to you and understand your views. However, I also need to check that the police are meeting your 
expectations. 

I do not rely on one source, preferring a more holistic approach. For instance, I have weekly meetings 
with the Chief Constable and I and my senior team has weekly meetings with the senior police team. 
We also have six weekly assurance meetings with senior police leaders where we review key areas of 
operational and financial performance and agree future strategic direction.   In addition, I have my own 
performance manager who monitors police performance against a range of measures on a weekly 
basis.  

I have in place a Strategic Assurance Board which I chair and at which I receive a number of reports 
from the Chief Constable covering all areas of business in the Force.  During the past 12 months the 
Board has met monthly.  I also attend many of the police internal meetings and receive regular reports 
around key developments.  

I attend monthly Crime and Operations performance meetings with my Performance Manager and also 
hold regular meeting with heads of departments to be informed about performance in each area. 
Performance features heavily on my agenda at my Strategic Assurance Board at which the police 
submit quarterly performance reports. At this meeting I review performance and identify areas for 
improvement. 

Further to this I have a weekly one-to-one meeting with the Chief Constable during which we consider 
and discuss the most urgent issues of the moment and address immediate concerns.  At the weekly 
meetings between the force chief officer team I and my own senior management team, during which 
we discuss the performance over the previous seven days and also consider urgent operational issues.  

47



 

 
 

Page | 36 

During the past year I have attended 6 meetings of the Police and Crime Panel.  The Panel, quite 
rightly, scrutinise my work and the decisions I make.  I am grateful to Panel members for their questions 
and the support they have shown in the delivery of my Police and Crime Plan. 

This is a very comprehensive approach to ensuring that Leicestershire Police is delivering the best 
possible service to you. As I hope you will agree, it is working. Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of 
Constabulary, Fire and Rescue Services has recently assessed Leicestershire Police as good in all 
areas following an inspection in 2018-19. I am under no illusions that this achievement is the result of 
anything but a lot of hard work and strong, inspirational, leadership. 

I am pleased that some of this important oversight involves members of the public and independent 
advisers including my Ethics, Integrity and Complaints Committee and the Joint Arrangements, Risk 
and Performance Panel.  

 

Ethics, Integrity and Complaints Committee 

The Ethics, Integrity and Complaints Committee was set up in September 2015 and includes seven 
independent members appointed through open recruitment. The current membership includes people 
from backgrounds in law and criminal justice, third sector working, NHS, probation, childcare and 
safeguarding and business.  

The Committee provides a forum for debate on complex operational or personnel issues including 
issues such as the deployment of ‘stop and search’. The Committee may advise on live operations, 
scrutinise policy and procedure, provide advice about ethical issues and review how complaints are 
handled by the police. 

For the year 2018/19 the Committee focussed on the following:- 

 Stop and search 

 Operation Darwin – update on new changes to Force operating model 

 Dip sampling of complaint files 

 Transparency – compliance with the Publication Scheme 

 Gifts and Gratuities 

 Ethical Dilemmas 

 Force policies – Notifiable Relationships Policy and Vetting Policy 

 Recruitment processes and outcomes 

 Police working with partners 

 Complaints against the police – performance data 

 Civil claims against the police 

 Race, religion and belief support group 
In addition, the Committee released two media statements regarding police crime integrity recording 
practices, the criminalisation of children and the volume and demand of freedom of information requests 
being dealt with by the Force. The Committee was highlighted on social and traditional media as an 
example of good practice. 

  

48



 

 
 

Page | 37 

The annual report of the Committee for 2017/18 can be found on the Commissioner’s website at 
www.leics.pcc.police.uk 

 

Joint Audit, Risk and Performance Panel 

The Joint Audit Risk and Assurance Panel (JARAP) is an independent body that meets in public. Its 
purpose is to seek assurance over the adequacy of the following: 

 The risk management and the internal control framework operated by the PCC and Chief 
Constable 

 The effectiveness of their respective governance arrangements 

 The appointment, support and quality of the work of internal and external auditors as they 
provide assurance on risk management, internal controls and the annual accounts through their 
work 

 Financial and non-financial performance in relation to risk and value for money 

 The financial reporting process. 
The panel is made up of five independent members who met on four occasions during the year.   

 

Police Performance – key figures 

Over the last 12 months Leicestershire Police Force has recorded 91,315 crimes, an increase of 9% 
on the previous year’s figures.  

This increase is in line with all forces in England and Wales and can in part be due to the police 
uncovering hidden crimes and encouraging them to be reported and also an increase in crime data 
integrity.  

The force’s crime recording performance was re-inspected in October 2018 with the findings published 
in January 2019. This reported a statistically significant improvement in the overall recording of crime. 
The latest compliance rate is 84.1% which is 8.3% higher than the previous inspection (75.8%). The 
increase in crime recording compliance can account for approximately 8,000 additional crimes.  

 

  

49



 

 
 

Page | 38 

 

 

 

  

50



 

 
 

Page | 39 

USEFUL CONTACTS 
 

Leicestershire Police 
 

In an emergency always call 999 

If you are Deaf, deafened, deafblind, hard of hearing or speech impaired, text 999  
In a non-emergency situation, call 101 or visit the force website to use the online crime 
reporting facility https://leics.police.uk/report-online 

If you are Deaf or hard of hearing send a text message to 07624 818 901 

  

Useful Numbers 

Anti-Terrorist Hotline  -  0800 789 321 

Call the UK Anti-Terrorism Hotline on if you've seen or heard something that you think could 
suggest terrorist activity.  

 

Crimestoppers  -  0800 555 111      https://crimestoppers-uk.org/ 

Contact Crimestoppers to anonymously report a crime or suspicious behaviour. 

 

Action Fraud  -  0300 123 2040       http://www.actionfraud.police.uk/ 

Contact Action Fraud to report fraud and cyber-crime. 

  

Victim First  -  0800 953 95 95         http://victimfirst.org/ 

Contact Victim First for information and support for anyone affected by crime.  

 

Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner for Leicestershire 
Force Headquarters 

St Johns 
Enderby 
Leicester 
LE19 2BX 

Telephone:  0116 229 8980 
Website:  www.leics.pcc.police.uk 

Email:  police.commissioner@leics.pcc.pnn.gov.uk 

51



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

POLICE & CRIME COMMISSIONER FOR 

 LEICESTERSHIRE 
 

POLICE AND CRIME PANEL 
 

Report Of POLICE AND CRIME COMMISSIONER 

Subject 
QUARTER 1 FORCE PERFORMANCE REPORT  1 APRIL 2019 – 30 
JUNE 2019 

Date TUESDAY 24 SEPTEMBER 2019 – 2.00 P.M. 

Author 
ELIZABETH STARR, PERFORMANCE MANAGER,  OFFICE OF POLICE 
AND CRIME COMMISSIONER   

 
 

Purpose of Report 

1. To provide the Police and Crime Panel with an update of the performance of 
Leicestershire Police for the period 1 April 2019 to 30 June 2019.    
 

Recommendation 
 

2. The Panel is recommended to discuss and note the contents of the report.   
 
Background 
 

3. Previously the performance report to the Panel was drafted by Leicestershire 
Police, in consultation with the Police and Crime Commissioner.  With a 
Performance Manager now in post in the Commissioner’s office this report is now 
produced by his office.  

 
4. The format of the report is a work in progress and will be developed further by the 

Performance Manager, in consultation with Leicestershire Police.  Comments and 
feedback from members would be welcomed to aid the future development of the 
report.   
 

5. The Performance Manager has recently been involved in creating a new force 
performance framework with Leicestershire Police. It is expected that the structure 
and content of this report will significantly change over the course of the next 
financial year in line with changes to the Force’s performance framework, including 
development of presentation style with use of new analytical software.     

 
6. The measures of performance in this report should be considered in the context of 

the significant changes to the policing landscape over the last five years.   
 

7. The performance report itself is attached at Appendix A. The glossary that 
accompanies the report is attached at Appendix B. 
 
 

53 Agenda Item 6



 

 
Implications 
 
 

 Financial     None 

 Legal     PCC has legal duty to hold the Chief Constable to 
account 

 Equality Impact Assessment  None 

 Risks and Impact   Performance monitoring is crucial to the delivery of the 
Police and Crime Plan. 

 Link to Police and Crime Plan Report covers the aims of the Police and Crime Plan. 
  
 
List of Appendices 
 
Appendix A – Performance Report  
Appendix B – Glossary 
 
Person to Contact 

 
Elizabeth Starr, Performance Manager 
Tel: 0116 2298982 
Email: Elizabeth.starr8921@leicestershire.pnn.police.uk 

 

54

mailto:Elizabeth.starr8921@leicestershire.pnn.police.uk


NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

 
 

  

FORCE PERFORMANCE 
REPORT 

Quarter 1 2019/20  
(April 2019 – June 2019) 

55



NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

 
 

Appendix 1: 
 

Leicestershire Police Performance Report 

1. Calls 

KPI 

Performance 

Performance  
Q1 19/20 

Performance  
Q1 2018/19 

Volume 
Change 

% Change 
Trend 

(Blue=18/19 and Red=19/20) 

1.1 Number of 999 Calls 40,089 36,232 +3,857 +11% 

 

1.2 Number of 101 Calls 90,395 101,730 -11,335 -11% 
 

 

1. Calls 

 

1.1 The national guidance for answering 999 calls is to answer 90% within 10 seconds. There is no set national guidance 
timescale for answering 101 non-emergency calls. 
 

1.2 The Contact Management Department (CMD) has dealt with an increase in 999 calls in excess of over 3,500 additional 
calls throughout the first quarter of 19/20 financial year compared to the same quarter of 18/19. From the trend chart it is 
apparent that the performance over this quarter 1 2019/20 is broadly following the trend of the previous year with a peak 
over the summer months.  
 

56



NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

 
 

1.3  Over the past financial quarter, CMD has retained a monthly abandonment rate of just 0.2% of 999 calls answered 
within 10 seconds, only a tiny proportion (0.2%) fall outside the target time. This is despite a large increase in the total 
volume of 999 calls and is also a significant reduction in the same period for the previous financial year where the 
number not answered within 10 seconds was 115 calls, and represents a -29% improvement. CMD has responded well 
to fluctuations in demand, for instance, in June 2019 the volume of 999 calls increased by approximately 800 calls, but 
the abandonment rate remained extremely low.  

 
1.4 Non-Emergency telephone demand (101) has reduced by over 11,000 calls when compared to the same quarter of the 

previous year.  This may be due in part to the increase in crime reporting online which has reduced the switchboard 
demand by approximately 40-45%.  The new digital telephony system is now routing callers directly to the officer or 
department rather than the caller having to speak with the switchboard operator to be routed to the location or officer 
they require.  The digital telephony system currently manages 25% of all call demand without the need for human 
interaction.  The figures for quarter 1 on line reporting are:- 

 
April - 1088 
May - 1251 
June - 1127  

 
1.5 The abandonment rate for 101 calls for quarter 1 has varied on a monthly basis from approximately 19% to 23% not 

being answered in 30 seconds. The abandonment rate refers to those calls that have not been answered irrespective of 
time.  The total number of 101 calls not answered within 30 seconds for quarter 1 for the 19/20 financial year was just 
under 19,000 calls. This represents approximately 21% of all 101 calls received and is 125% increase in the number of 
abandoned 101 calls when compared to the same period for the previous financial year. This could, in part be due to a 
significant increase in the number of 999 calls, which will take priority and/or to callers opting for online reporting as 
advised by the voice message system (positive call abandonment). Further analysis is being undertaken to assess this 
and, in the meantime, resources have been increased to minimise negative call abandonment.    

 
 

 

57



NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

 
 

Leicestershire Police Performance Report 

2. Incidents 

KPI 

Performance 

Performance  
Q1 19/20 

Performance  
Q1 2018/19 

Volume Change % Change 
Trend 

(Blue=18/19 and Red=19/20) 

2.1 Number of 
Incidents 

59,738 62,554 -2,816 -5% 
 

 

2. Incidents 

 

2.1 CMD created 2,816 fewer incidents in comparison to the same quarter of the previous year. The number of Grade 2 
Emergency incidents (those requiring attendance within two hours) have reduced by 10% (-1,913 incidents). The 
number of Grade 1 Priority incidents (those requiring a police attendance within 15 minutes) have also decreased by 
3% (282 incidents) when compared with the same quarter of the previous financial year. 

 
2.2 Grade 3 (negotiated response) and Grade 4 (telephone) incidents have increased by 1,668 (14%) and 9,359 (40%) 

respectively when compared to the same quarter of the previous financial year.  
 

2.3 The total number of ASB incidents recorded in quarter 1 19/20 was 3,387 this represents a 25% reduction (-1,145 
incidents). There is a broad seasonal trend with ASB incidents increasing over the summer months. This has been 
evident in quarter 1 in the 2019/20 financial year with an increase in May and June 2019 with 1101 and 1193 incidents 
recorded respectively.  
 

58



NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

 
 

2.4 The Missing Person Team (MPT) managed 1,394 missing person reports throughout the first quarter of 19/20 financial 
year. In the same period of 18/19 there were 1,446, this represents a -4% reduction in missing person records.  

 
2.5 The demographic breakdown of the missing person (misper) records recorded over the first quarters is shown below. 

This suggests there is a 6% increase in missing person reports where the age of the misper is under 17. There does 
however appear to be a seasonal trend in missing person reports where the age of the misper is under 17 with an 
increase in reports over the summer months. The data also suggests that male mispers has increased by 18% for the 
same period in 2018. The recorded number of male mispers peaked in April 2019 at 263 reports, this is the largest 
amount recorded in more than a 12-month period. The Female and Unspecified categories have seen reductions in 
over 20% when comparing the two periods. 

 

Missing Persons Demographic Breakdown 

KPI 
Performance 

Q1 Performance 
19/20 

Q1 Performance 
18/19 

Volume Change % Change 
Trend  

(Blue=18/19 and Red=19/20) 

Age 

0-17 926 871 +55 +6% 
 

Over 18 491 556 -65 -12% 
 

Gender 

Male 677 576 +101 +18% 
 

Female 588 764 -176 -23% 
 

Unspecified 129 106 -23 -22% 
 

*There are a number of records where the age/gender have not been specified, these records have not been included in the figures above. 

59



NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

 
 

 

Leicestershire Police Performance Report 

3. Crime 

KPI 

Performance 

Performance  
Q1 19/20 

Performance  
Q1 18/19 

Volume 
Change 

% Change 
Trend 

(Blue=18/19 and Red=19/20) 

3.1 All Crime 23,871 22,949 +922 +4% 

 

 

3.  Crime 

 
3.1 The force recorded an additional 922 crimes compared to the same quarter of the previous year, this represents a +4% 

increase driven in part by an improvement in crime data integrity, this appears to be in line with all forces in England 
and Wales. This recorded crime volume over the first period appears to have followed the same seasonal pattern as 
2018/19.  

 
3.2  Violence with Injury offences have reduced by 47 offences (-2%) this financial year when compared to the same period 

of the previous year. The monthly volume of violence with injury offences has been falling since May 18, however in the 
last six months they have stabilised with around 610 offences being recorded each month.  

 

3.3 Violence without Injury offences has however seen an increase of 447 offences (+10%) when compared to the same 
period 2018/19. Common assault offences make up a significant proportion of this crime category, stalking and 
harassment and malicious communications are also included in this category. Some of this increase could be attributed 

60



NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

 
 

to a change in crime recording practices in April 2018 wherein stalking and harassment behaviour linked to another 
crime now needs to be recorded as a separate notifiable offence: previously only the most serious notifiable offence 
would have been recorded. This is evidenced in an increase of approximately 40 additional stalking and harassment 
offences recorded each month when compared to the previous year. Stalking and harassment offences make up 
approximately 30% of all violence without injury offences; this has remained consistent across the two periods.   Of the 
7210 violence against the person offences for the first three months of this year, 3486 of were domestic incidents.   
 

3.4 During the first quarter of the 19/20 financial year there were 656 knife crime offences recorded, which is an increase of 
45 offences (+7%) when compared to the same period of the previous year. This includes those incidents where a knife 
or sharp object is seen, threatened or used. This represents an increase of around 3 offences per month and may be 
related to the increase in stop and search activity (see below).  
 

3.5 The Home Office has allocated £1.4m to Leicestershire Police as surge funding to increase capacity to deal with 
serious violence, predominantly street based knife crime. The four key areas that the force is focusing on are: hotspot 
policing for prevention and enforcement; intelligence development; investigative response and equipment and 
technology. The Home Office receives quarterly returns on progress against a pre-set performance criteria. 

 

3.6 On top of this the OPCC and Police have now received a further £880,000 to set up a separate Violence Reduction Unit 
(see separate report) and the PCC has made available £100k from reserves to run a small grants process, which is 
open to all organisations and agencies to tackle knife crime. We have received over 20 bids for the £100,000 knife 
crime fund covering Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland, 10 projects were funded, with the total expenditure of a little 
over £100,000 (£107,020.62).   The projects are all subject to one-year funding agreement (contracts) which are now in 
place and have commencement dates of April/May 2019.The details of the funded projects are outlined in the table 
below. The Police and Crime Commissioner has  to date, visited two of the projects, The Cooke/E2- Street Mediators 
project and Youth Education Project (YEP2 Arts) - HEART not lives project. 
 

3.7 Rape offences have increased by 43 offences (+18%) when compared to the same quarter of the last financial year. 
Approximately 30% of the total rape offences recorded in quarter one of 19/20 were historical offences (over 12 months 
ago). The proportion of historical rapes reported to Leicestershire Police has remained stable over the two financial 

61



NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

 
 

years, but the overall volume of historical rape offences reported has increased by 8 offences (+11%) between the two 
periods.   

 
3.8 Hate crime offences have increased by 9 offences (+2%) between the two periods. Racial related hate crime remains 

the largest category of hate crimes recorded, accounting for 70% of all hate crime recorded in quarter one of 2019/20. 
There is a strong link between the number of hate crime offences, terrorist events and national and international media 
reporting e.g. Brexit and the Trump election in America.  There was a peak of hate crime offences in March 2019 with 
163 offences recorded, the subsequent monthly levels recorded thereafter have remained at these heightened levels. 
The force is prepared for any increase in hate crime offences due to the ongoing Brexit programme. A Gold Group has 
been established to assess and prepare for the potential impact of Brexit. The PCC attends this group. 

 
3.9 Total Burglary offences have reduced by 69 offences (-4%) from the same quarter of the previous year. Burglary 

residential has also reduced this year with 50 fewer offences (-4%). Burglary residential figures now also include shed 
and garage offences. 
 

3.10 Drug offences have increased by 606 offences (+148%) when compared to the same quarter of the previous year. 
Much of the drug related crime is self-generated because of proactive enforcement by the police as opposed to crimes 
being reported. There was a significant peak in May 2019 with over 470 drug offences.  
 

3.11 Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE) offences have reduced by 26 offences (-37%) when compared to the same quarter of 
the previous financial year. May 2019 saw the lowest volume of CSE offences recorded (5 offences). This has now 
returned to normal levels (average monthly volume 17 offences). Whilst there is no seasonal pattern to the recording 
of CSE offences, there was also a large dip in May 2018, which then returned to normal.  The Force is actively 
establishing an exploitation team which will bring together expertise to tackle the wider exploitation concerns linked 
with modern day slavery and criminal exploitation.  
 

 
 
 

62



NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

 
 

Leicestershire Police Performance Report 

4 Outcomes 

KPI 

Performance 

Performance  
Q1 19/20 

Performance  
Q1 18/19 

Volume 
Change 

% Change 
Trend 

(Blue=18/19 and Red=19/20) 

4.1 Volume of Positive 
Outcomes 

2,560 2,957 -397 -13% 

 

 

4. Outcomes 

 

4.1 The number of positive outcomes recorded in quarter one of 19/20 is 13% below the previous period. Outcomes are 
important because they indicate that an effective response has been made to a criminal offence, ranging from a 
warning to a full conviction.  

 
4.2   All user satisfaction levels for Leicestershire Police appear to be stable at 75%. Similarly, more than 70% of victims 

were satisfied with the Police handling of their crime. Contact and Treatment consistently achieve satisfaction rates in 
excess of 80%. User satisfaction is currently based on a 12 month rolling picture.  

 
4.3 ASB satisfaction has decreased to 69.7% as at the end of June 2019, which remains within the expected control limits. 

There has been no statistically significant change in the satisfaction levels of ASB victims since 2015. 
 
4.4 Hate crime satisfaction is stable at 69.4% (12 month period ending June 2019), a decrease from the 74.4% rate for the 

previous period and a change of 5 percentage points. Caution should however be applied when examining these results 
due to reduced level of surveys completed. 

63



NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

 
 

 
4.5 Satisfaction rates for the police response to violent crime is also stable at 72% (12 month period ending June 2019) a 

reduction of 2.4 percentage points from the preceding period, which was 74.4%.   
 

4.6 The Force is actively developing a new operating model that will seek to reduce handovers between teams and instil 
greater personal ownership for cases.  It is believed that this, along with the introduction of refreshed investigating 
service standards, will have an impact on satisfaction levels. 

  

64



NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

 
 

 

Leicestershire Police Performance Report 

5 Prevention 

KPI 
Performance 

Performance  
Q1 19/20 

Performance  
Q1 18/19 

Volume 
Change 

% Change 
Trend 

(Blue=18/19 and Red=19/20) 

5.1 Number of Stop 
and Searches 

961 789 +172 +22% 

 

 
5. Prevention 

 
5.1 The period 2018/19 saw a continued increase in the use of stop and search. The monthly average levels carried out in 

quarter 1 of 19/20 have increased by approximately 57 stop and searches every month, the average monthly volumes are 
now around 320 stop searches per month in comparison to historic monthly levels of circa 260 seen in the first quarter of 
2018/19. The volume of stop and searches carried out in Quarter 1 of 2019/20 represents a 22% increase when compared 
to the same quarter of the previous year. Approximately 33% of the stop searches completed in Quarter 1 of 2019/20 
resulted in a positive outcome, with 180 searches resulting in an arrest. This represents an increase of 4 percentage 
points in positive outcome rate when compared to the same quarter of the previous financial year despite an increase in 
overall volumes.  

 
5.2 One of the stop and search categories showing the largest significant increase is for controlled drugs, with a total of 581 

searches completed throughout quarter one of 19/20.This represents a 24% increase (+99 searches) when compared to 
the previous year. Offensive weapon stop and searches also shows a 21% increase (+31 searches) when compared to 
the previous year. 

 

65



NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

 
 

5.3 Due to a significant uplift in the number of stop and searches in May 2018 that continued through much of the 2018/19 
financial year, the percentage increases reported this financial year might not seem quite as drastic as previously 
reported.  However it is important to note that the volume of stop and searches carried out on a monthly basis continues 
on an upward trajectory. 

 
5.4 All stop and searches continue to receive oversight by the Cohesive Powers Group to ensure all are carried out in a 

manner that maintains public confidence.   
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

66



NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

 
 

 
Glossary: 

 

Contact Management 
Department (CMD) 

The department responsible for taking initial calls from the public, recording 
incidents if appropriate, identifying threat, risk and harm, and subsequently 
prioritising police response and deploying the most appropriate resource. 
 

Domestic Abuse Investigation 
Unit (DAIU) 

Domestic Abuse Investigation Unit is the Force Team that manages high risk domestic 
abuse crimes and incidents in order to provide support to victims and investigate offences.  
The DAIU provide specialist support to manage these high risk cases, pursue offenders and 
support the victims to reduce and prevent repeat offending. 
 

Domestic Violence Prevention 
Orders (DVPO) 

DVPOs are a civil order that fills a "gap" in providing protection to victims by enabling the 
police and magistrates' courts to put in place protective measures in the immediate 
aftermath of a domestic violence incident where there is insufficient evidence to charge a 
perpetrator and provide protection to a victim via bail conditions. 
 

Clare’s Law  Clare's Law allows police to give members of the public a formal mechanism to make 
enquires about an individual who they are in a relationship with or who is in a relationship 
with someone they know, and there is a concern that the individual may be abusive towards 
their partner (Right to Ask route). 
 

Missing Persons Team (MPT) A team within the safeguarding hub responsible for supporting the force, ensuring the 
investigation of missing people is conducted expeditiously from initial report to home visit 
and closure. 
 

ASB A wide range of unacceptable activity and includes things like vandalism, graffiti and fly-
posting, nuisance neighbours and intimidating groups taking over public spaces. Antisocial 
behaviour can ruin lives and create an environment where crime that is more serious can 

67



NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

 
 

take hold. 
 

Incident Incidents reported to the police relate to issues including public safety and welfare, crime, 
anti-social behaviour and transport. When recording an incident, staff allocate an “opening 
code” to the incident log. Opening codes indicate the nature of the incident, for example 
whether it relates to a road traffic accident or a burglary. 

Crime A crime is a deliberate act that causes physical or psychological harm, damage to or loss of 
property, and is against the law. 
 

County Lines County lines refers to a model used by criminal gangs, whereby urban gangs supply drugs 
to suburban areas and market and coastal towns. These gangs frequently exploit children 
and vulnerable adults to courier drugs and money. Some vulnerable adults have their 
homes taken over by the gangs (cuckooing) using force or coercion. 
 

Historical Offences In this report, a crime has been classed as historical if the difference between the reported 
date and the start date of the offence is over a year. 
 

Integrated Offender 
Management (IOM) 

A multi-agency partnership approach involving the Police service, probation, Turning Point, 
prison service and youth offending service to manage offenders together to reduce re-
offending, reduce demand and reduce the number of victims of crime.  

Managing Sexual Offenders and 
Violent Offenders (MOSOVO) 

The MOSOVO team manage registered sex offenders, registered violent offenders and part 
4 terrorism offenders in the community. They also investigate Potentially Dangerous 
Offenders (PDP'S). 
 

Paedophile Online 
Investigations Team (POLIT) 

A unit within the digital hub responsible for investigating intelligence and reports of indecent 
images of children. 

Signal The Signal team is the Force Rape Investigation Team. After initial attendance by frontline 
colleagues, the Signal team will investigate rapes on a ‘cradle to grave' basis dealing with 
both victims and suspects. 

68



NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

 
 

 

Prevent Team As part of the Counter Terrorism Policing Network, the Prevent Team are responsible for 
the Force’s strategy concerning the PREVENT strand of the Governments CONTEST 
strategy. The three main objectives of Prevent are; 

- Tackle the causes of radicalisation and respond to the ideological challenge of 
terrorism 

- Safeguard and support those most at risk of radicalisation  
- Enable those who have already engaged in terrorism to disengage and rehabilitate. 

Positive Outcome Positive outcomes include sanctioned detections but also take account of restorative and 
reparative outcomes (community resolutions), which are defined as: the resolution of a less 
serious offence or anti-social behaviour incident, where an offender has been identified, 
through informal agreement between the parties involved as opposed to progression 
through the traditional criminal justice process. A community resolution may be used with 
both youth and adult offenders. 
 
A positive outcome can be one of the six sanctioned detection outcomes or a restorative 
justice outcome.  

Pronto A mobile app designed to allow Police officers to complete a number of duties remotely on 
their mobile phones. The new technology means officers will be more visible and can patrol 
for longer. The software went live in early October 2018. 

Most Similar Forces Nationally peer comparisons are made using the Most Similar Forces groups. These groups 
are made on the basis of a number of socio-demographic and geographic variables 
believed to be strongly linked to increased levels of crime, fear of crime or incidents for 
example single parent households, unemployment etc. 
The seven forced deemed most similar to Leicestershire are; Sussex, Hertfordshire, Essex, 

69



NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

 
 

Bedfordshire, Hampshire, Nottinghamshire and Kent.  
The greater the ranking of the msf measure, the lower the position. 

OCG Organised Crime Group.  
Organised criminals working together for a particular criminal activity or activities.  

Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE)  Child sexual exploitation refers to the sexual abuse of a person below the age of 18, as well 
as to the production of images of such abuse and the sharing of those images online 

  
 

70



 

 

 

POLICE & CRIME COMMISSIONER FOR 
 LEICESTERSHIRE 

 

POLICE AND CRIME PANEL 
 

Report Of POLICE AND CRIME COMMISSIONER 

Subject OPCC PERFORMANCE REPORT – QUARTER 1 1ST APRIL 2019 – 30TH 
JUNE 2019 

Date TUESDAY 24 SEPTEMBER 2019 – 2:00 p.m.  

Author ELIZABETH STARR, PERFORMANCE MANAGER,  OFFICE OF POLICE 
AND CRIME COMMISSIONER   

 
 
Purpose of Report 
1. To provide the Police and Crime Panel with an update of the performance of the Office of the 

Police and Crime Commissioner.    
 

Recommendation 
 
2. The Panel is recommended to discuss and note the contents of the report.   
 
Background 
 
3. This is the second time the performance of the Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner 

has been presented to the panel. With the Performance Manager now in post these reports 
will be completed monthly and shared with the panel at regular occasions throughout the 
year. 
 

4. The report is a work in progress and will be developed further by the Performance Manager. 
Comments and feedback from members would be welcomed to aid the future development 
and format of the report.       
 

5. The performance report itself is attached at Appendix item A, the glossary that accompanies 
the report is attached at Appendix item B. 
 

Implications 
 
Financial: None.  
    
Legal: None 
    
Equality Impact Assessment: None  
 
Risks and Impact: None identified.   
 
Link to Police and Crime Plan: None 

 
 
 

71 Agenda Item 7



 

 

Person to Contact 
 

Elizabeth Starr, Performance Manager 
Tel: 0116 2298982 
Email: Elizabeth.starr8921@leicestershire.pnn.police.uk 

 
 
 

72



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

OPCC PERFORMANCE 
REPORT 
Quarter 1  

(1st April 2019 – 30th June 2019) 

73



 

 

Appendix A 
 

Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner Performance Report 

1. Executive Support  

KPI Measure Performance 
Q1 2019/20 Commentary 

1.1 

Number of Emails Received 995 
The Police Commissioner inbox has received 995 emails throughout 
the first quarter of 2019/20.  
 
The number of correspondence received for the first quarter was 
148 and the number responded to on time was 130.  
 
The Commissioner has accepted approximately 24% (38) of the 
invitations he has received over the quarter.  
 

Number of Correspondence 
Received 148 

Number of Invitations 
Received 160 

1.2 Number of FOI received 2 

The OPCC has received two freedom of information requests in 
quarter 1 of 2019/20, both of which have been responded to on time. 
Previous requests this year have been requests for information on 
the Commissioner’s diary appointments and information on the 
budget allocations. 

1.3 Number of LWB Meetings 228 

In Quarter 1 of the 19/20 financial year the Commissioner attended 
228 meetings. This can be compared to the same period of the 
previous year where the Commissioner attended 220 meetings.  
 
Due to changes in the way the Commissioners meetings are 
recorded we are now in a position to report on different 
categorisations of meetings.  
 

74



 

 

In Quarter 1, 41% of the meetings attended by the Commissioner 
were internal meetings, such as correspondence or team meetings. 
The next largest category of meetings was Force meetings. Over the 
period the Commissioner attended 52 Force meetings (23%). Other 
categories are; Media interviews, funding or commissioning 
meetings, events and regional meetings. 

1.4 
 

Number of ICV Volunteers 26 

The number of ICVs has remained stable over the first quarter. Two 
ICVs did however leave the scheme. One due to starting further 
education leaving no time to volunteer, this particular volunteer said 
he will consider re-joining the scheme on completion of his studies. 
The second volunteer left due to other commitments, after already 
giving 6 years service to the scheme. 
 
The number of volunteered hours and visits has remained stable 
from the start of the financial year, as both the average length of 
visits and the number of times each suite is visited remain 
consistent. In the average month, at least two volunteers visit each 
custody suite once a week. The travel time to and from the custody 
suites is included in the total volunteered hours. 
 
In quarter one of 2019/20, the average travel time for all volunteers 
to all suites was approximately 35 minutes and the average length of 
visit across all suites was 48 minutes, making the average visit 
length 1hr and 21 minutes. This quarter the ICV’s achieved an 100% 
visit rate, with each suite being visited every week.  
 
Some of the issues recorded over the 37 visits are as follows: cups 
stacking up in cells, and the yard badly flooded for example. All 
issues raised are sent to the custody inspector to action and discuss 
with staff. 

Number of ICV Volunteered 
hours 71 

75



 

 

Number of ICV Visits 37 

 
The ICV custody app was launched in April 2019, where the custody 
visitors record their visits using a handheld iPad. This has enabled a 
faster and efficient service whereby issues can be dealt with much 
quicker. Leicestershire are participating in a 6 month vulnerability 
pilot. This enables ICVs to access full (redacted) custody records in 
order to gain a fuller understanding of the issues currently facing 
detainees and custody suites. 
 

1.5 

Number of A/L days taken by 
OPCC staff 


 
 

78 
Days 

 The number of annual leave days taken by OPCC staff in Quarter 1 
currently stands at 78 days taken. This is exactly on target. 
 
Staff accrue approximately 2 annual leave days per month, this has 
then been multiplied by the number of staff numbers to give the 
target level. Senior members of staff have a larger annual leave 
allowance and hence are not included in the figures quoted.  
 
 
 
The flexi time balance held by OPCC Staff currently stands at 137 
hours owed across 13 staff members. This exceeds the policy target 
which is 195 hours for 13 employees. The maximum carried by one 
staff member being 26 hours.  
 
Not all members of staff are on the flexi time scheme, senior 
managers being the exception. Policy guidance states that an 
employee should not be carrying more than 15 hours at one time. 
The target has been calculated as the max hours being carried 
multiplied by the number of employees on the scheme. 
 
 

Flexi time balance held by 
OPCC Staff 



 

137 
hours  

 

76



 

 

 
The office is currently carrying multiple vacancies and also has a 
higher than expected sickness rate. The chief executive and senior 
managers monitor flexi time balances on a regular basis and are 
committed to bringing this figure down to expected levels in the next 
quarter. This trend is already reducing. 

1.6 Office Sickness 96 
days 

In Quarter 1 of 19/20, 96 calendar days were lost to sickness. We 
are now confident that the figures reported are correct, however 
does not include a number of agency staff currently in post in the 
office. 
 
This represents that 8% of all calendar days available were lost in 
quarter 1 due to sickness.  
 
 

1.7 OPCC Headcount 18 

The Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner currently has 18 
permanent employees, 2 contractors and a policing advisor 
seconded from the force.  
 
The proportion of females in the OPCC is 61% and the proportion of 
males is 39%. 
 
The BAME representation of the OPCC at the end of quarter one 
was 33%. 
 
This figure also includes 3 members of agency within the office. 

77



 

 

1.8 Number of OPCC Vacancies 6 

At the end of Quarter 1 the OPCC has a number of vacancies being, 
Performance Analyst, Business Support Officer, Contracts and 
Commissioning Officer, Engagement and Development Officer, 
Resource Manager and Partnership Officer.  
 
3 of the aforementioned posts are to be filled with agency staff. 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

78



 

 

Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner Performance Report 

2. Engagement  

KPI Measure Performance 
Dec-18 Commentary 

2.1 Number of Engagement 
Events 8 

In the first quarter of 2019/20 the Commissioner attended 8 
engagement events, this includes visits to Melton, Mountsorrel, 
Shepshed, Beaumont Leys and Kibworth. 
 
A further 19 engagement events were attended by members of the 
OPCC on behalf of the Commissioner. 

2.2 Number of Engagement 
Hours 

57.5 
hours 

A total of 57.5 engagement hours have been spent by the 
Commissioner and or the Deputy Police and Crime Commissioner in 
quarter 1 of 19/20. 
 
A further 88.5 engagement hours have been spent by members of 
the OPCC on behalf of the Commissioner. 
 

2.4 Number of Projects 18 

As of the end of quarter 1 the Office of the Police and Crime 
Commissioner are managing 18 projects, Sexual violence and 
domestic abuse service design, People Zones, an Ex-Offenders 
Event and the implementation of the Violence Reduction Unit for 
example.  

79



 

 

2.5 Number of Tweets 75 

During quarter one, 75 tweets were sent from the Police and Crime 
Commissioners Corporate twitter account (@LeicsPCC). This has 
reached 141,044 people with 2,354 engagements.  
 
At the end of June 2019, the Police and Crime Commissioner’s 
twitter account had 5,722 followers.  

2.6 Number of Facebook 
Reaches 12,027 

The number of people who had any content from our page enter their 
screen. By the end of June 2019, the Office of the Police and Crime 
Commissioner Facebook page has 226 unique user likes, having 
acquired 44 likes throughout the month.  

2.7 Number of Website Hits 15,248 

Throughout the first quarter of the 19/20 financial year the OPCC 
website has been viewed just over 15,000 times. This is by 4,880 
users, 83% of which are new visitors to the website. The average 
session length on the website was 1 minute 45 seconds.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

80



 

 

Appendix B 
 
Glossary:  
Twitter Impression The total amount of times a tweet shows up in someone’s twitter timeline.  

Twitter Engagement 
This is the total number of times a user has interacted with a tweet. This could 
be anything from clicking on the tweet, retweeting, replying, following, liking and 
hash tagging for example. 

Facebook reach The total number of unique people who saw the content.  
Daily Total Impressions The number of times any content from the page entered a person’s screen.  

Correspondence Complaints or enquiries received through either the Police Commissioner inbox 
or the post. 

FOI Freedom of information requests 

Independent Custody Visitors (ICV) Independent Custody Visitors go into police custody suites to check on the 
rights, entitlements and wellbeing of detainees.  

BAME Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic  

 
 

81



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 
 

POLICE & CRIME COMMISSIONER FOR 
 LEICESTERSHIRE 

 

POLICE AND CRIME PANEL 
 
 
Report of OFFICE OF POLICE & CRIME COMMISSIONER 

 
Subject PEOPLE ZONES 

 
Date TUESDAY 24 SEPTEMBER 2019 – 2:00 p.m.  

 
Author  
 

VICTORIA CHARLTON 
 

 
 

Purpose of Report  
 
1. The purpose of the report is to provide the Panel with an update and overview 

of the development of People Zones to date. 
 
Recommendations 
 
2. The Panel is recommended to discuss and note the contents of the report. 
 
Background 
 

 
3. In March 2018, the Chief Executive of the Police and Crime Commissioner 

(PCC) of Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland (LLR) put forward a proposal 
to the Strategic Partnership Board (SPB) of the conceptual idea of People 
Zones (PZ).  A community-based initiative, working in partnership to create a 
collaborative multi-agency approach to build a stronger, safer community; 
empowering people to become more resilient.   
 

4. The proposal was approved by the Board and, using the Indices of Multiple 
Deprivation and the Joint Needs Assessment, 3 areas across LLR were 
identified to be developed for PZ.  The Bell Foundry Estate in Loughborough; 
an area in Coalville and New Parks in Leicester. 

 
5. The purpose of PZ is to take a two-pronged multi agency approach to 

problematic behaviour.  Firstly, the need to identify and manage those 
individuals displaying harmful behaviour, and secondly prevention and 
intervention.  This includes supporting and building the resilience of the 
offender’s family members; reducing the risk of them establishing similar 
behaviour patterns.  This is to be done through collaborative working to 
provide the necessary resources and opportunities to enable communities to 
make better life choices. 
 

83 Agenda Item 8



 

 

6. Ultimately the end goal is for the local community to be independent of 
statutory bodies and organisations and to fundamentally develop its own 
ability to address local problems and find suitable solutions. 

 
Developing People Zones 

 
7. In August 2018, the first of the three, PZ area workshops were held for the 

Bell Foundry PZ to bring together the local authority, key partners and 
community organisations to identify the main issues within that area.  
Workshops in both Coalville and New Parks followed.  These formed the 
basis of each of the Ambition Statements and set out the strategic aims to be 
delivered and agreed by the local partnerships. 
 

8. Local governance arrangements have been established and the Information 
Sharing Agreement (ISA) has been distributed to partners for sign off. 
 

9. A PZ logo has since been developed and banners with the branding are used 
at all events within each PZ.  A website was also launched in February 2019, 
showcasing events and highlighting the positive activities underway within 
each PZ whilst also addressing community issues.   

 
Partnerships 

 
10. Regular monthly partnerships meetings take place amongst the core PZ 

Development Teams within each PZ to deliver the aims of the Ambition 
Statement.  This is fed in to the twice yearly area wide meetings held at Force 
Headquarters.  An opportunity for each of the key development leads to come 
together and update the group on their progress and explore areas for shared 
learning. 
 

11. Strong links have been established with key Leicestershire based sports 
teams to identify ways in which collaborative working can benefit those within 
the PZ.  The Leicester Premier League KICKS programme, now run 
successful, diversionary activity, sessions within each locality. 
 

12. Similarly new partnerships have been developed with the Community 
Rehabilitation Company (CRC) and their community payback scheme.  One 
project is already underway to redecorate a local community playgroup in 
New Parks, and make it fit for purpose, with further development opportunities 
being explored in both Bell Foundry and Coalville. 
 

13. A number of other positive links have been made with several community 
organisations focussing on prevention, or delivering resilience building 
sessions to equip individuals with the necessary skills to make improved life 
choices.  This continues to be made possible by funding opportunities 
targeted to projects specifically aimed at the PZ areas. 
 

14. Large community events, such as the recent Emergency Services Day in 
Coalville, help to bring both partner agencies and communities together 
bringing a connectivity that is sometimes lacking.  Building upon this to 
increase community confidence will improve the level of engagement and 
sense of belonging for the long term benefit of the whole.  

84



 

 

 
 
Recent Developments & Home Office Funding 
 
15. In February 2019, the OPCC received a grant from the Home Office as part of 

their bid for Serious Violence Intervention funding.  The bid was to be 
specifically targeted towards the PZ project and awarded under the proviso 
the grant was to be spent by the end of the financial year, 31st March 2019. 
 

16. A number of proposals had been outlined as part of the bid.  Particular 
reference was made to the implementation of an operating model; to be used 
in the development of further PZ areas; asset mapping and to take the outline 
for the evaluation model to the next stage.   

 
Specialist Consultancy Work 
 
17. Process Evolution were commissioned to implement a target operating model 

(TOM) to create a structured approach in the delivery of a PZ that could be 
used for the development of further PZ areas.  The aim of which was to define 
a clear process in terms of its capabilities and the methodology surrounding 
the roles and responsibilities of those needed to implement it.   
 

18. The toolkit model is built on the specification of the PZ methodology to 
provide a coordinated, structured multi agency approach.  Not only to help 
reduce the risk of potential duplication but to enable the resource cost of 
implementing a PZ to be identified and estimated. 

 
19. Process Evolution worked closely with the local authority and key partner 

agencies within each PZ area to understand and identify harmful behaviours, 
coordinated plans and sustainability.   

 
Evaluation 
 
20. The need for a robust evaluation process is necessary for any project to 

provide a baseline in order to measure its success.  Loughborough University 
were commissioned to develop an evaluation model to draw on a number of 
available data sources to enable some meaningful analysis to be carried out. 
 

21. A number of workshops were held with key partners to understand the type of 
data required and what information was available.  This helped to form the 
basis of the model and how best to collate the data and use it as a measure 
in a meaningful way. 
 

22. Further discussions are in place between the OPCC and Loughborough 
University to work jointly in applying the model to each of the PZ areas. 

 
Health Sessions  

 
23. The Clinical Commission Group (CCG) and the Leicestershire Partnership 

Trust were approached to deliver a number of ‘health sessions’ within each of 
the PZ areas.  The aim of the sessions were to engage with communities, 
raise awareness and offer advice and support around a number of topics; 
including smoking cessation; alcohol and drug abuse, sexual health, diabetes 
and mental health. 
 

85



 

 

24. A minimum of two sessions per week were delivered in each PZ area 
throughout March 2019.  To ensure as wide a reach, and to engage with as 
many different members of the community as possible, the sessions were 
held in a variety of different locations within each PZ. 

 
25. Feedback from the sessions has proved positive, with a request to deliver 

similar sessions again in the future. 
 
Asset Mapping 
 
26. Leicestershire and Rutland Sport (LRS) were tasked to carry out the asset 

mapping requirements across each individual PZ area. 
 

27. This was an in-depth piece of work to identify the key assets in each location; 
these included buildings, community groups, GP surgeries, key community 
members, leisure activites etc and the value the community placed on them.  
Were they valuable, did the community know about them, how accessible are 
they and were they widely used?  The assets were then ‘mapped’ onto a 
location map giving a clear picture of the available resource in the area and 
the importance placed on them. 

 
28. This has proved to be an invaluable exercise in the development of the PZ, 

identifying the types of activities and resources already available in each 
area, who the target audience is and where the gaps are.   

 
February Half Term – Sporting Activities 

 
29. Working in partnership with LRS and the leisure centres in each locality, a 

number of different sporting activities were delivered during half term, week 
commencing 18th February 2019.  These included free child swim sessions, 
additional sports classes and family fun sessions.  The sessions were 
targeted towards those members of the community living within the PZ to 
encourage a more active lifestyle and make health and well-being accessible 
to all.   

 
Key Community Links 
 
30. Developing strong links with key community figures within each PZ is a work 

in progress, with regular meetings helping to build these relationships. 
 

31. This is working particularly well in both New Parks and Bell Foundry where 
respected community leaders have been naturally identified to become figure 
heads within their respective areas.  They are seen as the heart and soul of 
the PZ and are often the go to place for support, advice and guidance.  This is 
a key ingredient to the success of PZ and highlights the importance of 
community buy in to ensure resilience and sustainability. 
 

32. One of the most recent success stories is in New Parks.  The leader of the 
community hub, who has worked tirelessly in the community for a number of 
years; running dance groups and support groups; and welcomes the focus PZ 
has brought from partner organisations, won the Heroes of Leicestershire 
award in July 2019.  A positive example of where PZ is slowly making an 
impact on lives of the community.   
 

33. Granted there is still a long way to go, but it is headed in the right direction. 

86



 

 

 
34. Coalville has a slightly different dynamic and needs a different approach.  The 

focus at the moment is holding events that bring the whole community 
together, like the recent Emergency Services Day in August 2019.  This was 
the first time it had been done and proved to be a resounding success, with 
over 1200 people in attendance.  Plans are already in place to hold one again 
next year. 

 
Communication 
 
35. The need to improve communications amongst our stakeholders as well as 

community members is important.  The introduction of a quarterly newsletter 
was introduced in May 2019 with the aim to promote and provide an update of 
all the good work that has happened within each PZ.  Initial feedback has 
been positive.   
 

36. Other ways to improve the way in which we communicate are also being 
explored.   
 

37. Work is currently underway with the supplier to implement the community 
messaging system, Neighbourhood Alert, which the OPCC are branding as 
‘People Link’. 
 

38. The system will allow texts and emails to be sent out to registered members 
to promote activities and events in the People Zone areas and also for those 
community members to share any information back to the OPCC.  It is 
planned that the system will go-live from the 1st October 2019.  

 
Future Plans 
 
39. Following the development of the Evaluation Model, discussions are taking 

place with Loughborough University to commission them to carry out the 
evaluation work for the PZ.  Delivery plans are being drafted to outline how 
this can be achieved and within what timescale.  Support from partners and 
the sharing of data is key to its success. 
 

40. Assessment of each PZ area against the TOM needs to be carried out in 
order to identify any gaps and realign priorities to get back on track.  This 
shared learning will help to form an improved approach when looking to 
develop additional PZ in other areas across LLR. 
 

41. Carry out an evaluation assessment based on the data sets identified from 
the evaluation model.  Identify serious harm issues and areas requiring 
focussed activity to ensure positive outcomes. 
 

42. Formulate a delivery plan for the final stage, in accordance with key 
community members and partner agencies, as per the ambition statement 
and evaluation data.  Is it still relevant, have priorities changed? 
 

43. The development of a communications and stakeholder engagement strategy 
is key to re-establish links with partners and ensure buy-in.  Improved 
communication links will help to raise awareness of PZ and the positive 
impact it is having on the community.  This will include utilising all forms of 
communication and increasing our presence on a variety of online and social 
media platforms. 

87



 

 

 
44. Improved links with adult social care and health. 

 
45. Having secured funding from the Home Office to develop an LLR-wide 

Violence Reduction Network (VRN), discussions are under-way to see how 
the PZ and VRN can be aligned.  Both projects share a lot of the same 
methodology around prevention and intervention.  Identifying joint initiatives 
and opportunities to work collaboratively to pool resources is high on the 
agenda.   

 
Conclusion 
 
46. The work developed and carried out as part of the Home Office funding has 

proved an invaluable resource to the development of the PZ initiative.  The 
additional services that have been delivered within the communities has been 
extremely beneficial and provided further ideas regarding future opportunities.  
Specifically the work undertaken by Process Evolution, Loughborough 
University and LRS has been particularly insightful in providing a platform to 
base the future development of additional PZ. 
 

47. PZ is still very much in the early stages and there is still a lot of work to do.  
That said, a lot has been achieved since the initial partnership workshop just 
over 12 months ago.  Core development teams have been established within 
each area and a number of focussed activities are being centred around each 
locality.  Strong partnerships have been formed and community confidence is 
slowly increasing.  It is worth pointing out that the objectives set by the 
Violence Reduction Unit in Scotland took over 10 years to meet and they still 
aren’t there yet.   
 

48. PZ is not a quick fix.  Many of the problematic behaviours are inter-
generational, ingrained over time, as a way of life.  This is a long term solution 
that will take time, with a need for real commitment from partners.   

 
Implications 
 
Financial: There are no specific funds set aside to provide resources to work within 
people Zones.  A small pot of money has been identified to fund and support 
activities within each People Zone.  Once this runs out there are no additional funds 
available. 
    
Legal: No specific issues identified. 
    
Equality Impact Assessment: EIAs are currently being conducted within each People 
Zone area. 
 
Risks and Impact: A risk register is in place. 
 
Link to Police and Crime Plan: Vulnerability, Viable Partnerships, Visible Policing, 
Prevention. 
 
List of Appendices 
 
None.  
 
Person to Contact 

88



 

 

Victoria Charlton, Relationship & Change Manager - Tel 0116 229 8701 
Email:  Victoria.Charlton7209@leicestershire.pnn.police.uk 
 
 

89



This page is intentionally left blank



POLICE & CRIME COMMISSIONER FOR 
 LEICESTERSHIRE 

 

POLICE AND CRIME PANEL 
 
 
Report of OFFICE OF THE POLICE AND CRIME COMMISSIONER 

 
Subject VIOLENCE REDUCTION UNIT  

 
Date TUESDAY 24 SEPTEMBER 2019 – 2:00 p.m.  

 
Authors  
 

PAUL HINDSON 
 

 
 
Purpose of Report 
 
1. This report provides an update on developments regarding the Violence 

Reduction Unit.   
 
Recommendation 
 
2. The Panel is recommended to discuss and note the contents of the report.  
 
Context 
 
3. The OPCC along with Leicestershire Police and the Public Health 

departments from Leicestershire and Leicester have been working on the 
development of a violence reduction approach for some months, albeit 
without any guaranteed funding. A small team was created and contact was 
made with the Violence Reduction Unit in Scotland to seek advice and involve 
them in an event to present the proposals to the Strategic Partnership Board 
(SPB) on 6 August 2019. Before the event took place the Home Office 
approached the OPCC in Leicestershire to invite it to bid for a sum of 
£880,000 specifically to set up a violence reduction unit. LLR had been 
selected, along with 17 other areas, on the basis of the levels of knife related 
injuries dealt with at Leicester Royal Infirmary.  
 

4. The OPCC bid for the funds and was successful. It is now in the process of 
establishing the VRU.  
 

Developments 
 
5. The design of the VRU is included in Annex A, which contains some of the 

slides presented on 6 August. To date the feedback for this approach has 
been very positive and this is how the VRU is currently being developed. 
 

6. Each of the elements of the VRU will now be taken in turn: 
 

7. VRN Board – an initial meeting of the Board took place on 6 September to 
establish the vision, mission and principles of the programme. The finished 
version of these will be prepared and disseminated when completed, but the 

91 Agenda Item 9



key elements include the vision to make LLR the safest place to live and raise 
a family and to develop the programme as a long term initiative, focussing on 
supporting the next generation of young people to have the skills, attitudes, 
culture and enabling infrastructure to adopt violence-free lifestyles. The initial 
meeting also recognised that the vision can only be realised with the long 
term commitment of agencies and communities working in an integrated 
manner. For this reason we propose to call it a Violence Reduction Network, 
rather than a unit. 

 
8. The membership of the VRN seems to be settled and links in well to the 

established structure of the SPB. The governance meeting structure has been 
accepted and is outlined in Annex A, but role outlines for members of the 
VRU Board have yet to be prepared.  
 

9. VRN Development – as things stand we have appointed the Strategic 
Director and the lead for the Service Development Project and they will take 
up posts at the start of September. We have identified someone to act as 
Programme Manager for the programme, although a start date has not been 
set. Appointees for most of the other roles have been identified and the 
arrangements for negotiating start times are in progress. 
 

10. Service Mapping – a lot of work on service mapping was undertaken for 
presentation to the event on 6 August 2019 and the person leading that work 
will continue to develop the project. We are in the process of appointing a 
public health consultant to develop a full needs’ assessment, which will inform 
the detailed response strategy. Our current aim is that we have sufficient 
information by the end of September to identify the main service gaps that we 
want to address.  
 

11. Analysis and Evaluation – the police have already been working on the 
development of a tool, which we feel could form the basis of our methodology 
for the VRN. This has been presented at several recent inter-agency events 
and been well received. The tool gives us the capability to analyse 
information covering all police systems in line with the following variables: 
nature of incident; perpetrator of incident; victim of incident; time of incident; 
location of incident. Each of these variables can be further analysed to create 
a rich understanding of the patterns of violent incidents across LLR. However, 
further work is needed to draw on partner data to enrich our understanding of 
each of the variables and this requires more robust information sharing 
arrangements to be established. We also need to supplement this data with 
data from case studies, engagement with key individuals and wider strategic 
data such as our Joint Strategic Needs Assessments. The aim is that the 
public health consultant will take lead responsibility for preparing our 
overarching multi-agency assessment of the causes of violence from which 
we will prepare the response strategy. 
 

12. Service Development and Implementation – we are currently working on 
implementing the services outlined in the application, albeit recognising that 
we do not yet have a full picture from the service mapping. The initiatives that 
we are developing are: a service to work with individuals admitted to hospital 
with knife related injuries, in line with the Red Thread model; the expansion of 
a service to engage with young people at risk of violent behaviour; a service 
to enhance the wrap around work supporting police enforcement-based 
operations. We are also in the process of appointing a lead person to take 
responsibility for community engagement within the programme. 

92



 
13. Campaigns – our initial aim is to build the plan for the campaigns and then to 

appoint a resource to take this forward. This is currently in development. 
 

14. Policy Integration – as mentioned at the event on 6 August, policy 
integration will be addressed via the infrastructure already established around 
SPB. This is the project that will drive forward the system changes required to 
achieve the long term vision of the VRN.  
 

15. Leadership and Vision – this project will be led by the Strategic Director and 
will draw on the group of champions in each of our organisations who will be 
empowered to drive forward the changes within their own organisations. The 
vision setting workshop on 6 September has agreed the vision, principles and 
key messages that will form the basis of the leadership structure of the 
programme.  
 

Conclusion 
 
16. A lot of work has been undertaken in a short space of time to successfully 

apply for funding and set up the VRU. To date the response of partners has 
been excellent and there appears to be a strong commitment across LLR. 
Although the vision has not been fully articulated yet the approach of building 
on existing services and maximising service integration has been a key 
element in all of our discussions, with the aim of building a shared, 
community-based methodology that has long term impact on violent 
behaviour and other harmful behaviours in our community. This will take time 
and commitment to achieve not just from the VRN but from all members of 
the SPB.  
 

Implications 
 
Financial: The grant for the programme is £880,000 and the procedures for 
managing these funds are in place, including the preparation of an agreement with 
the Home Office 
    
Legal: No specific issues identified 
    
Equality Impact Assessment: The programme will conduct an EIA at the relevant 
point 
 
Risks and Impact: The programme is in the process of developing a risk register 
and other supporting programme management assessments 
 
Link to Police and Crime Plan: the work of the VRN aligns with most of the sections 
of the Police and Crime Plan, particularly in relation to the focus on prevention. 
 
List of Appendices 
 
Appendix A – VRU Structure 
 
Persons to Contact 
 
Paul Hindson, Chief Executive, Tel: (0116) 2298981  
Email: paul.hindson@leics.pcc.pnn.gov.uk 

93



Appendix A 

 

 
 

 
 

94



 
 

 
 

95



 
 

 
 

96



 
 

 
 

97



 
 

 
 

98



 
 

 
 

99



 
 

 
 

100



 

101



This page is intentionally left blank



POLICE & CRIME COMMISSIONER FOR 
 LEICESTERSHIRE 

 

POLICE AND CRIME PANEL 
 
 
Report of OFFICE OF THE POLICE AND CRIME COMMISSIONER 

 
Subject MODERN SLAVERY AND HUMAN TRAFFICKING  

 
Date TUESDAY 24 SEPTEMBER 2019 – 2:00 p.m.  

 
Authors  
 

SIMON DOWN AND SUPERINTENDENT SHANE O’NEILL 
 

 
Purpose 
 
1. The purpose of this report is to update the Panel on Modern Slavery and Human 

Trafficking and is further to the previous report to the Panel on this matter in March 
2019. 

 
Recommendation 
 
2. The Panel is asked to note the contents of this report. 

 
Background 
 
3. Modern Slavery & Human Trafficking (MSHT) is an international serious organised 

crime issue, reflected as a priority by the Police and Crime Commissioner, the 
National Crime Agency (NCA), East Midlands Special Operations Unit (EMSOU), and 
Leicestershire Police.  
 

4. The PCC has been working closely with police and wider partners throughout LLR to 
understand how we can better co-ordinate and enhance our shared ability to tackle 
MSHT and support victims to fully recover and re-integrate back into society. 

 
Progress since the last report 
 
5. The PCC has provided £10,000 grant funding to the national Unseen Modern Slavery 

Helpline which provides support to victims, provides advice to professionals and 
receives tip-offs of potential modern slavery from the general public. It passes this 
information onto the police. 

 
6. A decision has been made to increase the capacity of Leicestershire Police to 

investigate exploitation utilising the precept increase that was awarded. An increase 
of a sergeant and six detectives will be added to the Child Sexual Exploitation team 
and combine with the Modern Slavery Team to target the range of offences covered 
by slavery across children and adults. 
 

103 Agenda Item 10



 
7. The LLR Modern Slavery Action Group (LLRMSAG) is now well established and is a 

well attended partnership forum through which work in relation to tackling modern 
slavery across LLR is being taken forward. 

 
8. The LLRMSAG is part of the Strategic Partnership Board structure and has initially 

been focussing on awareness raising, education and campaigning. To this end, a 
#knowthesigns campaign for Modern Slavery was launched in June 2019 with the aim 
of raising awareness across all communities and agencies of the signs to be aware of. 
In addition, a new website has been created by Leicester De Montfort University to 
provide useful guidance information, links to all the partner websites, and news and 
updates on campaigns and awareness raising activities. 

 
9. The LLRMSAG is also seeking to identify the most vulnerable communities to Modern 

Slavery and, once this work is complete, will allow for better targeting of the existing 
and future campaigns to raise awareness and inform people how to get assistance. 

 
10. Further to the above, a seven day social media campaign will be run by the PCC’s 

office from 14th – 20th October 2019 (incorporating Anti-Slavery Day on 18th October) 
to highlight the significant work of organisations behind tackling modern slavery 
across Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland, and to promote the network of partners 
who work in collaboration with the PCC. Our objectives are; To reach as many people 
as possible across social media platforms to share the messages within the 
campaign; To collaborate with partners to strengthen the awareness raising of 
modern slavery, and promote their roles and responsibilities; To educate the public on 
the work partners are involved in to tackle modern slavery, the wide variety of 
partners working together, and the training and research undertaken to ensure we as 
professionals are better equipped to recognise and tackle the issue; To increase the 
reporting of modern slavery. Each day we will highlight the work being undertaken by 
a different partner organisation. 

 
11. The PCC is in the process of finalising his Modern Slavery and Human Trafficking 

Transparency in Supply Chains statement, whereafter he will be ensuring that his staff 
are trained to spot the signs and will work with the Force to ensure that they do 
similarly. 

 
12. A review of the referral routes and links to the National referral mechanism (NRM) 

have been undertaken with amendments to local practices made to reflect the 
services provided centrally from the NCA. 

 
Police operational activity 

 
13. The identification of an address from a local authority team has recently led to a large 

investigation into Trafficking and Slavery where over 14 individuals have been 
referred into the National Referral Mechanism. 

 
14. Arrests of those involved have taken place and the safeguarding and repatriation of 

the victims has taken place. The early identification of the signs was a key driver in 
allowing police to intervene, make arrests and gather evidence from the scenes. 

 
Modern Slavery the next steps 
 
15. The full establishment of the enhanced Criminal Exploitation Team needs to occur as 

officers are recruited into Leicestershire Police and then ensure sufficient partnership 

104



and police intelligence is gathered to focus them on those most at risk of Slavery or 
Trafficking. 
 

16. The PCC and his office will continue to drive forward partnership work around modern 
slavery and human trafficking. 

 
Implications 
 
Financial: The £10,000 for the Unseen Modern Slavery Helpline has been funded through 
the Commissioning Framework and the additional sergeant and six detectives have been 
funded through the precept increase. 
    
Legal: None.   
    
Equality Impact Assessment:  None.  
 
Risks and Impact: None identified.    
 
Link to Police and Crime Plan: Human Trafficking and Modern Day Slavery is a sub-section 
of Vulnerability.  
 
List of Appendices 
 
None.  
 
Persons to Contact 
Simon Down – Commissioning Manager, OPCC 
Tel 0116 229 8984 
Email: simon.down@leics.pcc.pnn.gov.uk 
 
Supt Shane O’Neill, Serious Harm Reduction Unit, Local Policing Directorate 
Tel: 0116 248 2505 
Email: shane.oneill@leicestershire.pnn.police.uk 
 
Julia Yates – Research Officer, OPCC 
Tel: 0116 229 8708 
Email: Julia.Yates@leicestershire.pnn.police.uk 
 

105



This page is intentionally left blank



LEICESTER, LEICESTERSHIRE AND RUTLAND POLICE AND 
CRIME PANEL – 24 SEPTEMBER 2019 

 
REVIEW OF LEICESTER, LEICESTERSHIRE AND RUTLAND 

POLICE AND CRIME PANEL CONSTITUTION  
 

REPORT OF THE SECRETARIAT 
 

Purpose of Report 
 
1. To enable the Panel to review and consider proposed amendments to the 

Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland Police and Crime Panel Constitution.  
 

Background 
 
2. Paragraph 25 of Schedule 6 of the Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 

2011 states that a Police and Crime Panel must make rules of procedure for 
the Panel which should include provision about the appointment, resignation 
and removal of a person to chair the panel. 

 
3. The Rules of Procedure and Protocols and Guidance documents for the 

Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland Police and Crime Panel were approved at 
the Panel’s first meeting on 23 November 2012. At the Panel’s meeting on 20 
December 2012 a process for dealing with complaints against the Police and 
Crime Commissioner was agreed which included delegating authority to the 
Panel’s Monitoring Officer to act as the first point of contact for complaints and 
that the Chairman and Vice-Chairman act as second or reserve points of 
contact. 

 
4. The Panel’s Constitution therefore comprises of the following sections: 

 
1. Terms of Reference. 

 

2. Panel Arrangements. 

 

3. Rules of Procedure. 

 

4. Arrangements for handling complaints against the Police and Crime 

Commissioner. 

 

5. Protocols with other bodies: 
(a) The Police and Crime Commissioner. 

 

(b) The Crime and Disorder Overview and Scrutiny Committee at 

Leicestershire County Council (“The Scrutiny Commission”). 

 
 

107 Agenda Item 11



5. At the Panel’s meeting on 3 October 2017 the Terms of Reference of the Panel 
were amended so that the term of office of Independent Members would no 
longer be coterminous with that of the PCC and instead the Independent 
Members would be appointed on to the Panel for a term of 4 years 
commencing at the mid-way point in the Police and Crime Commissioner’s term 
of office.  No other changes to the Constitution were made. 
 

6. The Policing and Crime Act 2017 made some amendments to the Police 
Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011including enabling a PCC to take on 
responsibility for the governance of fire and rescue in his or her area, and if a 
PCC vacancy arises the Deputy PCC can remain in post until a new PCC takes 
office.  

 
7. On 12 December 2018 the Panel considered the Annual Report of the Panel’s 

Monitoring Officer (Director of Law and Governance at Leicestershire County 
Council)  regarding complaints against the Police and Crime Commissioner, 
and the Director of Law and Governance informed that it was intended to revise 
the policy document for making complaints against the Police and Crime 
Commissioner and the revised document would be considered by the Panel in  
2019. 

 
8. The Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland Police and Crime Panel Constitution 

now requires reviewing in the light of the Policing and Crime Act 2017 and to 
ensure it is generally fit for purpose. Proposed amendments to the Constitution 
are set out in red on the appendix. 

 
Rules of Procedure 
 
9. It is proposed that paragraphs 1-3 of the Rules of Procedure be amended to 

give greater clarity to the procedures around the election of Chairman.  
 

10. At the Panel meeting on 3 June 2019 questions were raised around voting and 
whether secret ballots were able to be held. It is propose to amend paragraph 
41 of the Rules of Procedure to make it clearer that secret ballots are not 
permissible. 

 
Deputy PCC 
 
11. The Terms of Reference of the Panel, and Rules of Procedure, require 

amending to reflect that a Deputy PCC can take on the role of Police and Crime 
Commissioner if the elected Police and Crime Commissioner is unable to carry 
on the role and the Deputy PCC’s term of office can continue until a new Police 
and Crime Commissioner is elected (proposed new paragraphs 91 – 94). 

 
Fire and Rescue Functions 
 
12. In July 2017 the current Police and Crime Commissioner Lord Bach resolved 

that he was not minded to start the process to have involvement in the 
Governance of the Fire and Rescue Service. To date the PCC has not given 
any indications that he is minded to change his view on this therefore no 

108



amendments need making to the Police and Crime Panel Constitution in 
relation to Fire and Rescue. However, should an incoming PCC have a different 
view regarding the Governance of Fire and Rescue then the Constitution would 
need reviewing in light of this.  

 
Minority Reports  
 
13. The Police and Crime Panel occasionally submits reports to the Police and 

Crime Commissioner expressing its views, for example regarding the Police 
and Crime Commissioner’s Annual Report. The Constitution currently allows a 
minority report to be submitted on behalf of Panel members that are not in 
favour of the majority report, and according to the Constitution the Police and 
Crime Commissioner is required to respond to both the majority and minority 
report (old paragraphs 62-67). However, the Office of the Police and Crime 
Commissioner have suggested that the requirement that the Police and Crime 
Commissioner responds to both the minority report and the majority report is 
unnecessary.  Furthermore, the writing of a minority report and a majority report 
is not in accordance with current practice as any report submitted to the Police 
and Crime Commissioner on behalf of the Panel will normally contain a broad 
range of views and summarise comments made by all members on a particular 
issue. Therefore it is proposed that the paragraphs regarding minority reports 
are removed from the Constitution.   

 
 
Arrangements for making a complaint about the Police and Crime 
Commissioner or Deputy Police and Crime Commissioner  
 
14. It is proposed that the complaints guidance be amended to make the process 

easier for members of the public to understand. In 2018 the Independent Police 
Complaints Commission was replaced by the Independent Office for Police 
Conduct so the Constitution needs to be amended to reflect this. 

 
Protocols with other bodies 
 
15. It is proposed that the Protocols With Other Bodies section is shortened to 

make the overall Constitution smaller and avoid duplication with other sections 
of the Constitution. It is recommended that much of what previously appeared 
in that section, including the Protocol with the Scrutiny Commission at 
Leicestershire County Council (Crime and Disorder Committee), form part of a 
separate guidance document. 

 
Recommendations 
 
16. The Panel is asked to approve the amended Constitution as set out in the 

appendix.   
 

 
 
 
 

109



Officer to Contact: 
 
Lauren Haslam, Director of Law and Governance 
Leicestershire County Council 
Tel: 0116 3056240 
 
Euan Walters, Senior Democratic Services Officer 
Leicestershire County Council 
Tel: 0116 305 6226 
Email: Euan.Walters@leics.gov.uk 

 
Appendices 
Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland Police and Crime Panel Constitution 

110



LEICESTER, LEICESTERSHIRE AND RUTLAND POLICE AND CRIME PANEL 

 

CONSTITUTION INDEX 

 

 

 

 

1. Terms of Reference. 

 

2. Panel Arrangements. 

 

3. Rules of Procedure. 

 

4. Arrangements for handling complaints against the Police and Crime 

Commissioner. Making a Complaint about the Police and Crime 

Commissioner or Deputy Police and Crime Commissioner 

4.5.  

 

Protocols with other bodies: 

 

The Police and Crime Commissioner. 

 

(a) The Crime and Disorder Overview and Scrutiny at Leicestershire County 

Council (“The Scrutiny Commission”). 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

111



1. TERMS OF REFERENCE 
 

 
Introduction 
 
The Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland Police and Crime Panel will publicly 
scrutinise the actions and decisions of the Police and Crime Commissioner (PCC) in 
the context of relevant sections of the Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 
2011, with a view to supporting and challenging the PCC in the effective exercise of 
his or her functions, acting as a critical friend. 
 
References in this document to the ‘PCP’ are references to the Police and Crime 
PanelPCP. 
 
Terms of Reference 
(as agreed by all relevant local authorities) 
 
The Police and Crime Panel will be a joint Committee of Blaby District Council, 
Charnwood Borough Council, Harborough District Council, Hinckley and Bosworth 
Borough Council, Leicester City Council, Leicestershire County Council, Melton 
Borough Council, North West Leicestershire District Council, Rutland County Council 
and Oadby and Wigston Borough Council. 
 
To enable it to effectively scrutinise and support the Police and Crime Commissioner 
in the exercise of his or her functions, the PCP will: 
 
• Review and report/make recommendations to the PCC in respect of his/her 

draft Police and Crime Plan (this is a document setting out the PCC’s objectives 
for policing and reducing crime and disorder in the area, how policing resources 
will be allocated and agreements for funding and reporting on the work) or any 
draft variation to their prevailing plan; 
 

• Review and report/make recommendations to the PCC on his/her annual 
report; 
 

• Review or scrutinise decisions made, or other action taken, by the PCC in 
connection with the discharge of his/her functions and make reports or 
recommendations to the PCC with respect to the discharge of those functions; 
 

• Review and report back to the PCC on appointments s/he proposes to make to 
the following posts: 
 
o The Commissioner’s Chief Executive 
o The Commissioner’s Director of Finance (Chief Finance Officer) 
o The Deputy Police and Crime Commissioner 
o The Chief Constable 

 
(Note: for this purpose, the PCP is required to hold “confirmation hearings” in 
public at which the PCC’s proposed appointee  will be requested to appear for 
the purpose of answering questions relating to the appointment.  The Panel’s 

112



subsequent report to the Commissioner must include a recommendation as to 
whether or not the candidate should be appointed, which the PCC may choose 
to accept or not. In respect of the appointment of a Chief Constable, the PCP 
may veto the proposed appointment, provided at least 2/3 of the total PCP 
membership at that time vote to do so) 
 

• Review and report/make recommendations to the PCC on his/her proposed 
precept for the financial year; 
 
(Note: the PCP has  the power to veto the proposed precept provided at least 
2/3 of the total PCP membership at the time vote to do so) 
 

• Review and report/make recommendations to the PCC on any proposal by 
him/her to call on the Chief Constable (CC) to retire or resign; 
 
(Note: in undertaking any such review, the PCP may consult the Chief 
Inspector of Constabulary for a professional view and must hold a scrutiny 
hearing in private which both the PCC and the CC are entitled to attend for the 
purposes of making representations.  The PCC may either accept or reject the 
PCP’s recommendation) 
 

The PCP will also have the power: 
 

● To suspend the PCC if s/he has been charged with an offence (in the UK, the 
Channel Islands or the Isle of Man) which carries a maximum term of 
imprisonment exceeding two years; 

● Appoint a Deputy PCC as the Acting PCC pending the outcome of a by-
election in the event of a PCC vacancy occurring (through death or 
resignation) as per Part 5 of the Policing and Crime Act 2017. 
 

● Appoint an acting PCC where the incumbent PCC is incapacitated, resigns or is 
disqualified and there is no Deputy PCC; 

●  
●  

 
● Require the relevant PCC and members of his/her staff to attend before the 

PCP (at reasonable notice) to answer any questions that the PCP considers 
necessary in order to carry out its functions; 
 

● Require the PCC to respond in writing within a reasonable period determined 
by the PCP, to any report or recommendation the PCP has made to the PCC; 
 
(Note: Where the PCP has required the PCC to attend before it, the PCP may 
also request the Chief Constable to attend before it on the same occasion in 
order to answer any questions the Panel consider necessary in order to carry 
out their functions) 

 
 
 
 

113



2.    Leicestershire Police and Crime Panel Arrangements 
 
Operating arrangements 
 
1. Leicestershire County Council shall act as the host authority in establishing 

and running the Police and Crime Panel, including providing the necessary 
administrative and financial support.   
 

2. The Clerk to the Panel shall be appointed by the host authority. 
 

3. The host authority will be responsible for reviewing the membership of the 
Panel in the light of the balanced appointment objective and making a 
recommendation to the Panel or relevant local authorities as appropriate as to 
the make-up and membership of the Panel. 

 
Membership 

 
4. The Panel shall be made up of a minimum of 10 councillors and two 

independent members.   
 
5. The elected membership shall consist of the Mayor of Leicester (or his 

nominee), one Councillor each from Leicestershire County Council, Rutland 
County Council, Blaby District Council, Charnwood Borough Council, 
Harborough District Council, Hinckley and Bosworth Borough Council, Melton 
Borough Council, North West Leicestershire District Council, and Oadby and 
Wigston Borough Council. 

 
6. All City Councillors, County Councillors and District or Borough Councillors 

are eligible to be members of the Panel.   
 

7. Co-opted members shall be appointed in accordance with paragraphs 9-13 
below and may be appointed in accordance with paragraph 17 below. 
 

8. The Panel is entitled, in order to achieve the balanced appointment objective, 
to recommend to the Secretary of State that additional members be co-opted 
to the Panel.  Such co-opted members will be elected members of the local 
authorities, nominated in accordance with Schedule 1 of the Rules of 
Procedure for the Panel.  Any local authority providing additional co-opted 
members will nominate the individual members to act in that capacity and the 
Panel will accept the nomination.  Schedule 1 may be amended from time to 
time to reflect changes in membership required to achieve the balanced 
appointment objective.   

 
[Note - The representation on the Panel above reflects statutory provisions.   
.] 
 
 
 
 
 

114



Appointment of Independent Members 
 
9. The Panel shall co-opt two independent members on to the Panel for a term 

of 4 years commencing at the mid-way point in the Police and Crime 
Commissioner’s term of office, with a view to ensuring the Panel has the 
necessary skills, knowledge and experience to carry out its functions. 

 
10. The selection process for co-opting members should include a reasonable 

period of advertising for the positions.  There should be at least two weeks 
between the date the advert is first placed and the closing date for receipt of 
applications. 

 
11. Information packs shall be prepared and sent to those requesting application 

forms. 
 

12. Applications shall be considered against an agreed eligibility criteria and then 
an Appointment Panel made up of three Police and Crime Panel Members will 
be invited to meet to consider the applications and interview candidates. 

 
13. Following the interviews, the Appointment Panel will make recommendations 

to the Police and Crime Panel for appointment.  
 
14. The following may not serve as independent co-opted members: the Police 

and Crime Commissioner, a member of the Police and Crime Commissioner’s 
staff, a civilian member of Leicestershire Police Force, a MP, a MEP or a 
member of any of the local authorities covered by the Force area. 

 
[NB: Serving police officers will not be eligible to serve in accordance with their 
conditions of service.] 
 
Appointment of Elected Members 
 
15. Members of the Panel will be appointed by each relevant local authority in 

accordance with its procedures.   
 

16. Terms of office of elected members will be agreed by the local authorities at 
the time of appointment, having regard to the outcome of any review of 
membership by the host authority.  Local authorities, in making the 
appointment must have regard to the balanced appointment requirement, as 
far as reasonably practicable, and seek to ensure appointees have the 
necessary skills, knowledge and experience. 

 
17. The Panel, once established, may agree to co-opt additional members drawn 

from the local authorities to ensure the balanced appointment requirement, as 
far as reasonably practicable.  
 
 
 
 
 

115



Substitutes 
 

18. Substitutes are permitted subject to the arrangements of the relevant local 
authority.  The Clerk to the Panel must be notified of the attendance of any 
substitute at least 24 hours before the meeting. 

 
Resignation/Removal of Members 
 
19. Members may resign from the Panel at any time.  Elected Members should 

inform the nominating Local Authority and the clerk to the Panel in writing.  
Co-opted members should inform the Chairman and the clerk to the Panel in 
writing.    

 
20. Elected members may be removed by their nominating Local Authority.  

Reasons for the removal of a member should be presented in writing to the 
Chairman of the Panel.   

 
Payments/Allowances 
 
21. Payment of expenses  and allowances, if applicable, for elected members will 

be a matter for the nominating authority.  A scheme of expenses and 
allowances for the two independent co-opted members will be established by 
the Panel and administered by the host authority. 

 
Communication and Engagement 
 
22. A Communications and Engagement strategy for the work of the Panel, 

including how the work of the Board will be influenced by stakeholders and 
the public, including seldom heard groups, will be published following 
agreement by the Panel.  The Strategy will make provision for:  

 
(a) The role of the Panel to be promoted; 
(b) Support and guidance to be given to: 

(i) Members of the relevant local authorities; 
(ii) Members of the executives (if any) of relevant local authorities; and 
(iii) Officers of relevant local authorities, 

 
in relation to the functions of the Panel. 

 
23. The Panel will operate as a forum to represent the views of stakeholders and 

the public to the Police and Crime Commissioner. 
 

Budget 
 

24. Leicestershire County Council as the host authority will receive funding from 
the Home Office for the purposes of establishing and maintaining the Panel 
and for the payment of expenses to members.  In the event that the costs so 
incurred exceed the funding made available by the Home Office, the host 
authority may ask that a contribution be made by authorities providing 
members to serve on the Panel.  Any such requests shall be in proportion to 

116



the extent of representation of authorities on the Panel for the period covered 
by the costs incurred. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

117



2. RULES OF PROCEDURE 
 

Chairman of Panel 

 
1. The Chairman of the Panel will be elected in June of each year from amongst 

the elected members sitting on the Panel.  All panel members including 
Independent  members  will  be entitled to  vote but  Independent members 
will not be eligible to stand for Chairman. 

 
2. A Vice-Chairman will be elected in June of each year from amongst the 

elected members sitting on the Panel. All panel members including 
Independent members will  be entitled to  vote but  Independent members will 
not be eligible to stand for Vice Chairman. 

 
3. In the event of the resignation or removal of the Chairman, a new Chairman 

will be elected at the next meeting, from amongst the elected members sitting 
on the Panel in accordance with the arrangements set out in rules 1 and 2 
above. . 
 

4. If both the Chairman and Vice-Chairman are absent from a meeting, the 
members present shall choose one of their number from amongst the elected 
members to preside over the meeting, subject to Rule 5 below. 
 

5. If the Chairman arrives at a meeting of the Panel or Vice-Chairman arrives at 
such a meeting from which the Chairman is absent after the time for which the 
meeting has been summoned, he or she shall preside over the meeting after 
any question under discussion on his or her arrival has been disposed of but 
not before then. 
 

6. Any power or duty of the Chairman in relation to the conduct of a meeting may 
be exercised by the person presiding at the meeting. 

 
Quorum 
 
7. The quorum of the Panel shall be at least one quarter of the whole number of 

the Panel.  Members present as substitutes shall be included in calculating 
whether the meeting is quorate. 
 

8. If during any meeting of the Panel the Chairman, after counting the number of 
members present declares that there is not a quorum present, the meeting 
shall stand adjourned.  The consideration of any business not transacted shall 
be adjourned to a time to be fixed by the Chairman, or, if he or she does not 
fix a time, to the next ordinary meeting of the Panel. 

 
Access to Information 
 
9. The Access to Information Procedure Rules laid down by the Host Authority 

will apply with any necessary modifications. 
 

118



 
 
 
Order of Business 
 
10. Except as otherwise provided by Rule 13. below, the order of business at 

ordinary meetings of the Panel shall be:   
 
(a) to choose a person to preside if the Chairman and Vice-Chairman be 

absent 
(b) to confirm the minutes of the last meeting of the Panel 
(c) to dispose of business (if any) remaining from the last meeting 
(d) to consider reports as specified on the agenda 
(e) to consider motions in the order in which the notice has been received 
(f) any other items which the Chairman decides are urgent 

 
11. Business falling under items (a), (b) or (c) of Rule 10 shall not be displaced, 

but subject thereto the foregoing order of business may be varied:- 
 
(a) by the Chairman at his or her discretion; or 
(b) by a resolution passed at that meeting.  A motion to vary the order of 

business shall be moved and seconded formally and put without 
discussion. 

 
Minutes of the Panel 
 
12. At a meeting of the PanelCouncil at which minutes of a previous meeting are 

submitted for approval as a correct record, the Chairman shall move that 
those minutes be so approved. 
 

13. No motion or discussion shall take place upon the minutes, except upon their 
accuracy, and any matter concerning their accuracy shall be raised by 
amendment. 
 

14. If no such matter is raised, or if it is raised then as soon as it has been 
disposed of, the Chairman shall sign the minutes. 
 

Public Question Time 
 

15. The Panel accepts questions from members of the public which can be put to 
the Police and Crime Commissioner at its meetings. The Procedure for how to 
put a question at these meetings is set out in Schedule 2. 

 
Amendments to motions 

 
16. An amendment shall be relevant to the motion and shall be either:- 

 
(a) to refer a subject of debate to a subcommittee or the Police and Crime 

Commissioner for consideration or re-consideration 
(b) to leave out words 

119



(c) to leave out words and insert or add others 
(d) to insert or add words 
 
but such omission, insertion or addition of words shall not only have the effect 
of negativing a motion before the Panel. 
 

17. Only one amendment may be moved and discussed at a time and no further 
amendment shall be moved until the amendment under discussion has been 
disposed of; provided that the Chairman may permit two or more amendments 
to be discussed (but not voted on) together if he or she considers that this 
course would facilitate the proper conduct of the Panel’s business. 
 

18. If an amendment be lost, other amendments may be moved on the original 
motion.  If an amendment be carried, the motion as amended shall take the 
place of the original motion and shall become the substantive motion upon 
which any further amendment may be moved. 
 

Alterations or withdrawal of motion or amendment 
 
19. A proposer of a motion may, with the concurrence of the seconder and the 

consent of the Panel, alter the motion if the alteration is such that it could 
properly be effected by an amendment of the motion.  A proposer of an 
amendment may, with the like concurrence and consent, alter the amendment 
if the amendment as altered could properly have been moved in that form as 
an amendment.  The altered motion or amendment shall if required by the 
Chairman be reduced into writing and handed to him or her before the 
consent of the Panel to the alteration is sought. 
 

20. A proposer of a motion or of an amendment may, with the concurrence of the 
seconder and the consent of the Panel, withdraw the motion or amendment 
which he or she has proposed, and no member shall speak upon it after the 
proposer has thus asked permission for its withdrawal, unless such 
permission shall have been refused. 
 

21. The giving or refusal of the consent of the Panel to the alteration or withdrawal 
of a motion or amendment shall be signified without discussion. 

 
Motions and amendments generally 
 
22. A member may not propose or second a motion or amendment on which he 

or she is disqualified from voting. 
 
Conduct of Members 
 
23. If any member in the opinion of the Chairman signified to the Panel, 

misconduct himself or herself by persistently disregarding the ruling of the 
Chair, or by behaving irregularly, improperly, or offensively, or by wilfully 
obstructing the business of the Panel, or by tedious repetition or unbecoming 
language in his or her speech, the Chairman or any other member may move 

120



“That the member named by not further heard”, and such a motion if 
seconded shall be put and determined without discussion. 
 

24. If the member named continues his or her misconduct after a motion under 
the last previous paragraph has been carried, the Chairman shall either:- 
 
(a) move “That the member named do leave the meeting” (in which case the 

motion shall be put and determined without seconding or discussion); or 
 

(b) adjourn the meeting of the Council Panel for such period as he or she in 
his or her discretion shall consider expedient 

 
Motions affecting persons employed by the Police and Crime Commissioner 
 
25. If any question arises at a meeting of the Panel or a subcommittee as to the 

appointment, promotion, dismissal, salary, pension, conditions of service or 
the conduct of any person employed by the Police and Crime Commissioner, 
such question shall not be the subject of discussion until the body concerned 
has decided whether or not the power of exclusion of the public shall be 
exercised, with the exception of confirmatory hearings for the Chief 
Constable, Deputy Police and Crime Commissioner, Chief Executive and 
Chief Financial Officer which are required to be held in public. 

 
Right of reply 
 
26. The proposer of a motion shall have the right of reply to the debate:- 

 
(a) at the close of the debate on the motion 
(b) at the close of the debate on an amendment to the motion 
(c) before a motion to proceed to next business or that the Panel adjourn or 

a motion or amendment to refer the subject of debate to a subcommittee 
or the Police and Crime Commissioner is put 

(d) after the closure is carried 
 

27. The proposer of an amendment shall not have the right of reply to either the 
debate on the amendment or to the debate on a substantive motion formed by 
the carrying of the amendment. 

 
Points of order and personal explanations 

 
28. A member may speak on a point of order or in personal explanation, and shall 

be entitled to be heard forthwith.  A point of order shall relate only to an 
alleged breach of these rules a Standing Order or statutory provision and the 
member shall specify the rule Standing Order or statutory provision and the 
way in which he or she considers it has been broken.  A personal explanation 
shall be confined to some material part of a former speech by him or her 
which may appear to have been misunderstood in the present debate. 
 

29. The ruling of the Chairman on a point of order or on the admissibility of a 
personal explanation shall not be open to discussion. 

121



 
 
 
Next business etc 
 
30. A member who seeks to avoid a decision being taken on a matter under 

discussion may, at the conclusion of a speech of another member, unless the 
Chairman considers that the matter has been insufficiently discussed, move 
"that the Panel proceed to the next business" or, if there is no other business 
to be transacted, "that the Panel adjourn". 
 

31. The proposer of such a motion may speak thereon for five minutes but the 
seconding of the motion shall be formal and without comment and there shall 
be no debate on the motion. 
 

32. After On the seconding of the motion, the Chairman shall first give the mover 
of the original motion an opportunity to speak on it for not more than five 
minutes and then put to the vote the motion to proceed to the next business or 
to adjourn the Panel. 
 

33. lf that motion is carried, the original motion shall be considered as withdrawn. 
 

Adjournment of debate 
 
34. A member who seeks to interrupt a debate so that it may be continued at a 

later hour or on another occasion may, at the conclusion of the speech of 
another member, move that the debate be adjourned to that hour or occasion. 
 

35. If the member does not specify an hour or occasion, the motion shall be 
deemed to intend that the debate shall be resumed at the next ordinary 
meeting of the Panel. 
 

36. The proposer of such a motion may speak thereon for five minutes but the 
seconding of the motion shall be formal and without comment and there shall 
be no debate on the motion except that the mover of the original motion may 
speak on it for not more than five minutes. 
 

37. On the resumption after adjournment of an interrupted debate, the Council 
Panel shall proceed to the further consideration of the adjourned business as 
though the meeting had been continuous for the purposes of these Rules of 
Procedure. 

 
Closure 
 
38. A member may at the conclusion of the speech of another member move "that 

the proposition under discussion be now put" (which is in these RulesStanding 
Orders referred to as "the closure”). 
 

39. The proposal and seconding of the closure motion shall be formal and without 
comment and there shall be no debate on it. The closure motion shall be put 

122



forthwith to the vote unless it appears to the Chairman that the proposition to 
which it is sought to apply the closure has not been sufficiently discussed. 
 

40. If the closure is carried, the motion or amendment which is the subject of the 
interrupted debate shall be put without further discussion, subject to the 
mover of the original motion, first having the right of reply given by Rules 33 -
36. 

 
Voting 
 
41. Every proposition shall, unless otherwise required by these Rules of 

Procedure or Statute, be determined by show of hands or, at the discretion of 
the Chairman, by voices. Secret ballots are not permissible under these Rules 
of Procedure. 
 

42. If an automatic system of recording votes is in operation, the Chairman shall 
have power to order votes to be given and counted in accordance with the 
system. 
 

43. In taking the votes on any proposition, those members only shall be entitled to 
vote who are present in the meeting room when the proposition is put from the 
Chair.   
 

44. Any member present who is a substitute for a regular member is entitled to 
vote, if present when the proposition is put. 
 

45. After a proposition is put from the Chair but before the vote is taken, any three 
members rising in their places may require that the voting shall be recorded in 
the minutes of the meeting so as to show whether each member present gave 
his or her vote for or against that proposition or abstained from voting. 
 

46. Where immediately after a vote is taken any member so requires, there shall 
be recorded in the minutes of the proceedings of that meeting whether that 
person cast his or her vote for the question or against the question or whether 
he or she abstained from voting. 

 
General disturbances 
 
47. If a member of the public interrupts the proceedings at any meeting the 

Chairman shall warn him or her.  If he or she continues the interruption the 
Chairman shall order his or her removal from the room.  In case of general 
disturbance in any part of the room open to the public the Chairman shall 
order that part to be cleared. 
 

48. If, in the opinion of the Chairman, misconduct or obstruction renders the due 
and orderly dispatch of business impossible, the Chairman, in addition to any 
other power vested in him or her, may without the question being put suspend 
the meeting for a period not exceeding 30 minutes. 

 
Interests in contracts and other matters 

123



 
49. If any member of the Panel has any pecuniary interest as defined within the 

Code of Conduct of their appointing authority or, in the case of independent 
co-opted members, the Host Authority’s Code of Conduct in any contract, 
proposed contract, or other matter, that member shall declare that interest 
and withdraw from the meeting while the contract, proposed contract, or other 
matter, is under consideration by the Panel unless the disability to discuss 
that matter imposed upon him or her by the Code has been removed by the 
Host Authority. 
 

Record of attendance 
 

50. Every member attending a meeting of the Panel or subcommittee of which he 
or she is a member, shall sign his or her name in the attendance book or 
sheet provided for that purpose. 

 
Meetings of the Panel and subcommittees 
 
51.50. The Chairman of the Panel or the chairman of a subcommittee may cause a 

special meeting of the body concerned to be called at any time.  In the 
absence of the Chairman of the body concerned the Deputy Chairman of that 
body may exercise the powers conferred on the Chairman by this Rule. 
 

52.51. A special meeting of the Panel or subcommittee shall be called on the request 
of at least one quarter of the whole number of members of the body 
concerned by notice in writing signed by them and given to the Clerk to the 
Panel and specifying the business for which the meeting is to be called. 

 
Proceedings of the Panel and subcommittees 
 
53.52. The quorum of a subcommittee, unless a special quorum is otherwise 

prescribed, shall be at least one quarter of the whole number of the body 
concerned, provided that in no case shall a quorum be less than three 
members. 
 

54.53. Subject to the provisions of Section 100 of the Local Government Act 1972, all 
reports and all documents marked as "confidential" or "not for publication" 
shall be treated as confidential until they become public in the ordinary course 
of the Panel’s or Police and Crime Commissioner’s business. 
 

55.54. No act of a subcommittee shall have effect until approved by the Panel except 
to the extent that the subcommittee has itself power to act without the 
approval of the Panel.  

 
 
Variation and revocation of Rules of Procedure 
 
56.55. Any motion to add to, vary or revoke these Rules of Procedure shall when 

proposed and seconded stand adjourned without discussion to the next 
ordinary meeting of the Panel. 

124



 
Interpretation of the Rules of Procedure 
 
57.56. The ruling of the Chairman as to the construction or application of any of 

these Rules of Procedure, or as to the proceedings of the Panel, shall not be 
challenged at any meeting of the Panel. 

 
Frequency of Meetings 
 
58.57. Meetings of the Panel will generally take place six times a year but extra 

meetings may be convened with the agreement of the Chairman.   
 
Additional co-opted members 
 
59.58. The Panel is entitled, in order to achieve the balanced appointment objective, 

to recommend to the Secretary of State that additional members be co-opted 
to the Panel.  Such co-opted members will be elected members of the local 
authorities, nominated in accordance with Schedule 1.  Any local authority 
providing additional co-opted members will nominate the individual members 
to act in that capacity and the Panel will accept the nomination.  Schedule 1 
may be amended from time to time to reflect changes in membership required 
to achieve the balanced appointment objective. 

 
Work Programme 
 
60.59. The Police and Crime Panel will be responsible for setting its own work 

programme taking into account the priorities defined by the Police and Crime 
Commissioner.  In setting the work programme, the Police and Crime Panel 
will also take into account the wishes of its members. 

 
61.60. The work programme must include the functions described in the terms of 

reference for the Panel. 
 
62.61. Any member of the Police and Crime Panel shall be entitled to give notice to 

the Secretariat of the Panel that he or she wishes an item relevant to the 
functions of the Panel to be included on the agenda for the next available 
meeting, including notice of any motion which he or she wishes to put to the 
meeting. 

 
Reports from the Police and Crime Panel 
 
63.62. Where the Police and Crime Panel make a report to the Police and Crime 

Commissioner, it will publish the report or recommendations (subject to the 
exclusion of any exempt or confidential information as defined in the rules on 
access to information in the Local Government Act 1972 (as amended) and 
send copies to all the relevant local authorities. 

 
64.63. The Police and Crime Panel must, by writing, require the Police and Crime 

Commissioner, as appropriate, within one month of the date on which he or 
she receives the report or recommendations to: 

125



 
(a) consider the report or recommendations 

 
(b) respond in writing to the Panel indicating what (if any) action the Police 

and Crime Commissioner proposes to take 
 

(c) where the Panel has published the report or recommendations, publish 
the response 
 

(d) where the Panel has provided a copy of the report or recommendations 
to a member, provide a copy of the response to the member 

 
65. If the Police and Crime Panel cannot unanimously agree on one single final 

report to the Police and Crime Commissioner, then one separate report may 
be prepared and submitted for consideration along with the majority report.  
The Commissioner would be expected to issue a response to any such 
minority report alongside his/her response to the majority report. 

66.  
67.64. The basis of any minority report prepared under the paragraph above must 

have been discussed and been the subject of a proposal at the meeting of the 
Panel and must have the support of more than one member. 

 
Police and Crime Commissioner and officers giving account 
 
68.65. The Police and Crime Panel will scrutinise and review decisions made or 

actions taken in connection with the Police and Crime Commissioner’s role.  
To this end, the Panel may require any papers in the Commissioner’s 
possession (except those that are operationally sensitive) which appear to the 
Panel to be necessary in order to carry out its functions.  In addition, it may 
require the Police and Crime Commissioner and members of that 
Commissioner’s staff, to attend before the Panel (at reasonable notice) to 
answer any questions which appear to the Panel to be necessary in order to 
carry out its functions. 

 
69.66. The Panel may not require any member of the Police and Crime 

Commissioner’s staff to give any evidence, or produce any document, which 
discloses advice given to the Commissioner by that person. 

 
70.67. Where the Police and Crime Commissioner, or a member of that 

Commissioner’s staff, is required to attend the Panel under this provision, the 
Chairman will inform them in writing giving, where practicable, fifteen days’ 
notice of the meeting.  The notice will state the nature of the item on which he 
or she is required to attend to give account and whether any papers are 
required for production for the Panel.  Where it is necessary to produce a 
report, sufficient time will be given to allow preparation of that report. 

 
71.68. If the Police and Crime Panel requires the Police and Crime Commissioner to 

attend before the Panel, the Panel may (at reasonable notice) request of the 
Commissioner that the Chief Constable also attend on the same occasion to 

126



answer any questions which appear to the Panel to be necessary in order for 
it to carry out its functions. 

 
Attendance by others 
 
72.69. The Police and Crime Panel may invite people other than those referred to 

above to address it, discuss issues of local concern and/or answer questions.  
It may, for example, wish to hear from residents, stakeholders, councillors 
who are not members of the Panel and officers in other parts of the public 
sector. 

 
Subcommittees and task groups 

73.70. Time limited task and finish groups (subcommittees) may be established from 
time to time by the Panel to undertake specific task based work.   
 

74.71. Subcommittees and task groups shall not have the power to co-opt additional 
members. 

 
75.72. The special functions of the Panel may not be discharged by a subcommittee 

of the Panel or a task group.  Special functions are those functions conferred 
on a Panel by:- 

 
(a) Section 28(3) of the Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011  

(scrutiny of Police and Crime Plan) 
 

(b) Section 28(4) of the Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011 
(scrutiny of annual report) 
 

(c) Paragraphs 10 and 11 of Schedule 1 of the Police Reform and Social 
Responsibility Act 2011 (review of senior appointments) 
 

(d) Schedule 5 of the Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011 
(issuing precepts) 
 

(e) Part 1 of Schedule 8 of the Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 
2011 (scrutiny of appointment, suspension or removal of the Chief 
Constable) 

 
76.73. The work undertaken by a subcommittee or task group will be scoped and 

defined beforehand, together with the timeframe within which the work is to be 
completed and the reporting time for the outcome of the work. 

 
Carrying out ‘Special Functions’ 
 
77.74. Reports and recommendations made in relation to the functions outlined in 

the terms of reference will be carried out in accordance with the procedures 
outlined at paragraphs 77 to 109.75 to 106 

 
Police and Crime Plan 

127



 
78.75. The Police and Crime Commissioner must issue a Police and Crime Plan 

within the year in which he or she is elected.  The Plan is to be for a period of 
five years.  The Commissioner may vary the Plan or issue a new one during 
that time. 

 
79.76. The Police and Crime Commissioner must send the draft Police and Crime 

Plan or variation to the Police and Crime Panel in good time to enable the 
Panel to consider the plan. 

 
80.77. The Police and Crime Panel, having considered the draft Police and Crime 

Plan or variation will make a written report or recommendation to the Police 
and Crime Commissioner in relation to the draft Plan or variation.  The Panel 
will require a written response to the report or recommendation. 

 
 
PCC’s Annual Report 
 
81.78. The Police and Crime Commissioner will produce an Annual Report on the 

exercise of his functions in the financial year and on the progress made on 
meeting the objectives in the Police and Crime Plan and send a copy to the 
Police and Crime Panel. 

 
82.79. The Police and Crime Panel will hold a public meeting, which the Police and 

Crime Commissioner must attend to present the Annual Report and respond 
to questions from the Panel. 
 

83.80. The Police and Crime Panel will make a written report or recommendations on 
the Annual Report to the Police and Crime Commissioner.  The Panel will 
require a written response to the report or recommendations. 

 
Senior Appointments 
 
84.81. The Panel has powers to review the Police and Crime Commissioner’s 

proposed appointments of the Chief Constable, a Chief Executive, a Chief 
Finance Officer and a Deputy Police and Crime Commissioner.  The Panel is 
required to hold public confirmation hearings for these posts. 

 
85.82. The Panel will be notified of the need for a confirmatory hearing in respect of 

proposed senior appointments made by the Police and Crime Commissioner.  
This will be held at the next available meeting of the Panel unless the 
appointment timescale requires an earlier hearing, in which case an 
extraordinary meeting will be arranged. 

 
Appointment of Chief Constable 
 
86.83. Where a Chief Constable is to be appointed, the Panel is required to hold a 

confirmatory hearing within the period of three weeks from the day on which 
the Panel received notification from the Police and Crime Commissioner. 

 

128



87.84. Confirmatory hearings will be held in public and the candidate will be 
requested to appear for the purpose of answering questions relating to the 
appointment.  Following this hearing, the Panel is required to review the 
proposed appointment and make a report to the Commissioner on the 
appointment. 

 
88.85. Having considered the appointment, the Panel will be asked to either: 
 

(a) support the appointment without qualification or comment 
(b) support the appointment with associated recommendations 
(c) veto the appointment of the Chief Constable (by the required majority 

of at least two thirds of the persons who are members of the Panel at the 
time when the decision is made) 

 
89.86. If the Panel vetoes the appointment of the Chief Constable, the report to the 

Commissioner must include a statement that the Panel vetoed the 
appointment with reasons. 
 

90.87. Where the Panel exercises its power of veto of the proposed appointment, the 
Commissioner shall then propose a ‘reserve candidate’ for appointment as 
Chief Constable. 
 

91.88. When a reserve candidate has been proposed, the Panel is required to hold a 
confirmatory hearing within the period of three weeks from the day on which 
the Panel received notification from the Police and Crime Commissioner. 
 

92.89. Having considered the appointment the Panel will be asked to make a report 
to the Commissioner, which will include a recommendation to the 
Commissioner as to whether or not the reserve candidate should be 
appointed. 
 

93.90. The Commissioner must have regard to the report and will notify the Panel of 
his decision as to whether or not he accepts or rejects the recommendation. 

 
Appointment of an Acting Police and Crime Commissioner 
 
94.91. The Panel must appoint a person as Acting Police and Crime Commissioner 

if: 
 

(a) no person holds the office of Police and Crime Commissioner 
(b) the Police and Crime Commissioner is incapacitated 
(c) the Police and Crime Commissioner is suspended 

 
95.92. The Police and Crime Panel may appoint a person as Acting Police and 

Crime Commissioner only if the person is a member of the Police and Crime 
Commissioner’s staff at the time of the appointment or if he or she is the 
Deputy PCC in which  case the Deputy PCC’s term of office will run until the 
acceptance of office  by  the newly elected PCC ,whereupon it will 
automatically  terminate.. 

 

129



96.93. In appointing a person as Acting Police and Crime Commissioner in a case 
where the Police and Crime Commissioner is incapacitated, the Panel must 
have regard to any representations made by the Commissioner in relation to 
the appointment. 

 
97.94. The appointment of an Acting Police and Crime Commissioner ceases to 

have effect upon the occurrence of the earliest of these events: 
 

(a) the election of a person as Police and Crime Commissioner; 
 

(b) the termination by the Police and Crime Panel, or by the Acting Police 
and Crime Commissioner, of the appointment of the Acting 
Commissioner; 
 

(c) in a case where the Acting Police and Crime Commissioner is 
appointed because the Police and Crime Commissioner is incapacitated, 
the Commissioner ceasing to be incapacitated; 
 

(d) in a case where the Acting Police and Crime Commissioner is 
appointed because the Police and Crime Commissioner is suspended, 
the Commissioner ceasing to be suspended. 

 
Suspension and Removal of the Chief Constable 
 
98.95. Where the Police and Crime Commissioner suspends a Chief Constable from 

duty, he will inform the Police and Crime Panel as soon as practicable. 
 
99.96. Where the Police and Crime Commissioner intends to seek the resignation or 

retirement of the Chief Constable, the Commissioner must provide the Chief 
Constable with a written explanation of the reasons why he proposing to call 
for their resignation or retirement.  The Commissioner will also notify the 
Police and Crime Panel in writing and provide the Panel with a copy of the 
explanation provided to the Chief Constable. 

 
100.97. The Police and Crime Commissioner may not call upon the Chief 

Constable to resign or retire until the scrutiny process involving the Police and 
Crime Panel has been completed. 

 
101.98. The Chief Constable will make representations to the Police and Crime 

Commissioner, which the Commissioner must have regard to and must 
provide a copy of to the Police and Crime Panel as soon as reasonably 
practicable.  If, following consideration of the written representations, the 
Commissioner still intends to seek the resignation or retirement of the Chief 
Constable, he or she must notify the Panel. 

 
102.99. The Police and Crime Panel will hold a meeting, at which the Police 

and Crime Commissioner and the Chief Constable may make representations 
to consider whether or not the Commissioner should call for the resignation or 
retirement of the Chief Constable.   
 

130



103.100. Within six weeks of the notification in paragraph 97 the Panel will make 
a written recommendation to the Police and Crime Commissioner as to 
whether he or she should call for the resignation of the Chief Constable.  The 
Panel will require a response to the recommendation. 

 
Proposed precept 
 
104.101. The Police and Crime Commissioner will notify the Panel of the precept 

which the Commissioner is proposing to issue for the financial year by 1 
February of the relevant financial year.  The Panel must review the proposed 
precept and make a report including recommendations by 8 February of the 
relevant financial year. 

 
105.102. Having considered the precept, the Panel will either: 
 

(a) support the precept without qualification or comment; 
(b) support the precept and make recommendations; 
(c) veto the proposed precept (by the required majority of at least two 

thirds of the persons who are members of the Panel at the time when the 
decision is made). 

 
106.103. If the Panel vetoes the proposed precept, the report to the Police and 

Crime Commissioner must include a statement that the Panel has vetoed the 
proposed precept with reasons, including an indication as to whether it 
considers the proposed precept is too high or too low.  The Panel will require 
a response to the report and any such recommendations. 
 

107.104. Where the Panel exercises its power of veto, the Commissioner must 
issue a response, notifying the Panel of the revised precept he intends to 
issue.  (If the Panel had vetoed the proposed precept because it was too high, 
the revised precept must be lower; and if the Panel had vetoed the proposed 
precept because it was too low, the revised precept must be higher.) 
 

108.105. When notified of a revised precept, the Panel shall, by 22 February of 
the relevant financial year, review the revised precept and make a report to 
the Commissioner, which may indicate with the Panel accepts or rejects the 
revised precept (a rejection does not prevent the Commissioner from issuing 
the revised precept as the precept for the financial year) and make 
recommendations. 
 

109.106. The Commissioner shall have regard to the second report (and any 
recommendations) and will issue a response (to be published) to that report, 
by 1 March of the relevant financial year. 

 
Complaints 
 
110.107. Complaints against the Police and Crime Commissioner will be brought 

to the attention of and recorded by the Panel subject to procedures to be 
agreed by the Panel.  Complaints involving suspicion that a criminal offence 

131



has been committed must be referred to the Independent Office for Police 
ConductComplaints Commission. 

 
111.108. Non-criminal complaints in relation to the Police and Crime 

Commissioner or any Deputy Police and Crime Commissioner can be 
considered by the Panel through a hearing.  The Panel can examine this 
through a subcommittee. 

 
112.109. The Panel may delegate the initial handling of complaints and conduct 

matters but not its functions relating to the final resolution of a complaint. 
 
113.110. A Police and Crime Panel may suspend the Police and Crime 

Commissioner if it appears to the Panel that: 
 

(a) the Commissioner has been charged in the United Kingdom, the 
Channel Islands or the Isle of Man with an offence; 

(b) the offence is one which carries a maximum term of imprisonment of 
two years or more. 

 
114.111. The suspension of the Police and Crime Commissioner ceases to have 

effect upon the occurrence of the earliest of the following events: 
 

(a) the charge being dropped; 
(b) the Police and Crime Commissioner being acquitted of the offence; 
(c) the Police and Crime Commissioner being convicted of the offence but 

not being disqualified under Section 66 of the Police Reform and Social 
Responsibility Act by virtue of the conviction; 

(d) the termination of the suspension by the Police and Crime Panel. 
 
Working with Local Authority Scrutiny Bodies 
 
115.112. The Panel will act in accordance with any Protocols developed 

between the Police and Crime Panel and Local Authorities. 
 

Review of Constitution 
 

116.113. This constitution may be amended at any time by the Police and Crime 
Panel.  The Host Authority will conduct an annual review of the provisions of 
the Constitution and report to the Panel on the outcome of that review should 
it be considered appropriate to make any amendments.  The Host Authority 
will carry out a review of the provisions of Schedule 1 at any time upon the 
occurrence of a change in political balance in the authorities represented on 
the Panel and report to the Panel on any proposed changes. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

132



 
 
 

MEMBERS TO THE LEICESTERSHIRE POLICE AND CRIME PANEL 
 

1. The statutory requirement is for a Panel of 10 councillors and 2 independent 
members. The ten Councillors must include one from each local authority in 
the area – i.e. City, County, Rutland and 7 Districts. However in establishing the 
Panel it is necessary to ensure the membership:- 

i) Represents all parts of the relevant police area (geographic balance); 

ii) Represents the political make-up of the relevant authority or relevant 
authorities (when taken together); 

iii) Has the necessary skills, knowledge and experience to discharge the 
functions effectively. 

2. When the Panel was established in 2012 the decision was taken to establish a 
Panel of 15 members made up as follows:  

• 8 members representing the County Area (7 nominated by the Districts 
and 1 by the County) 

• 4 City Members  

• 1 Rutland Member 

• 2 Independent co-opted members 

3. This make-up was to ensure that ‘all parts of the relevant police area were 
appropriately represented hence the decision to allow 4 City representatives to 
reflect the fact it accounts for that nearly 1/3rd of the population served by the 
Police. 

4. The other considerations are the political balance of the ‘area as a whole’ and 
the view taken by all Authorities that powers of the Panel were considered so 
significant that an Executive Member would represent their Authority. Based on 
this and the current political balance and control of local authorities (see table 
below) the membership is as follows: 

• 7 Conservatives  Nominees from - County Council, Rutland, 
     Harborough,  Melton, Charnwood, Blaby, 
     NWLDC) 

• 4 Labour   City Council 

• 2 Liberal Democrats   (Nominees from Hinckley & Bosworth 
and       Oadby &Wigston) 

• 2 Independent Co-opted Members  

(Note 1– Due to the geographical balance requirement the Labour Party has a 
slightly higher representation than the overall political balance would suggest. 
The political balance will be reviewed after every election – the next review 
will take place following the County Council elections in 2021. 

Schedule 1 

133



Note 2 – The size of the PCP was agreed with the Home Office and any 
decision to increase the size would need Home Office approval.  It is therefore 
proposed that the size of the Panel remain unchanged). 

Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland Police and Crime Panel  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

134



4. Making a Complaint about the Police and Crime Commissioner or 
Deputy Police and Crime Commissioner 

 
 

Introduction  
 
This leaflet explains: 
  

• how to complain about the Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland Police and Crime 
Commissioner and/or Deputy PCC (‘PCC/DPCC’). 

 

• what type of complaints the Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland Police and Crime 
Panel (‘the Panel’) can consider. 

 

• the process that will be followed in handling and resolving these complaints.  
 

Background  
 
On 20th December 2012, the Panel delegated authority to the Director of Law and 
Governance, Leicestershire County Council to:  
 

i.  act as the first point of contact for complaints (and that the Chairman and 
Vice-Chairman of the Panel act as second or reserve points of contact); 

 
ii.  make decisions, in consultation with the Chairman of the Panel if appropriate, 

as to whether:  
 

(1) a complaint has been made which requires resolution under the 
complaints procedures;  

(2) that complaint should be referred to the Independent Office of Police 
Conduct (IOPC); 

(3) the complaint should be subject to the informal resolution process; and  
(4) to make arrangements for the process of informal resolution; 

 
iii.  produce such further procedures, notes of guidance and forms as may be 

helpful to assist in the operation of the process and the provision of 
information to complainants; 

 
At the same meeting the Panel delegated authority to the Director of Law and Governance, 
in consultation with the Chairman and Vice-Chairman, to: 
 

i. resolve complaints informally, or 
 
ii.  arrange for a meeting of a sub-committee to be drawn from the full 

membership of the Police and Crime Panel, to resolve complaints informally. 
 

References to the Panel in this document include therefore the Director of Law and 
Governance acting on behalf of the Panel. 
 
 

Objectives 
  
The objectives of the complaints process are to: 

135



 
- Handle complaints in a fair and independent way 
- Deal with complaints as quickly and effectively as possible   
- Keep all parties informed of progress until the complaint reaches a conclusion 

 

What complaints can the Panel look at? 
 
The Panel is responsible for dealing with complaints about the conduct of the PCC/DPCC. 
This means the way things are done or not done, statements that are made and the way 
decisions are taken.   
 
Any complaint alleging criminal conduct will first be passed onto the Independent Office for 
Police Conduct (IOPC) for investigation.   
 
Other non-criminal complaints are logged and then handled by the Panel, in accordance with 
the decisions and delegations referred to above usually through a process of Informal 
Resolution.   
 

What the Panel is unable to do  
 
There are certain complaints the Panel cannot consider because it does not have the legal 
power to do so.  There are separate procedures for the following complaints: 
 

• Complaints about operational policing matters 

• Complaints about the Chief Constable  

• Complaints relating to the administration of the Panel 

• Complaints relating to the conduct of members of the Panel.   
 
If it is decided that your complaint should be directed to another body because it falls beyond 
the Panel’s remit, the Panel will explain why and offer to direct it to the appropriate body.  
 
The Panel cannot consider complaints about the merits of a PCC/DPCC decision, for 
example where someone disagrees with a policy the PCC/DPCC has introduced.   
 
It is important to note that the Panel has no power to investigate complaints in any way, 
although it may ask the PCC/DPCC to provide information or comment on the complaint.  
 

Submitting a complaint  
 
Complaints should be sent in writing to:  
 
Lauren Haslam 
Director of Law and Governance  
Leicestershire County Council  
Leicester  
LE3 8RA 
 
Lauren.haslam@leics.gov.uk 
0116 305 6240 
 
Please complete the Complaint Form which has been designed to help you set out the 
information needed to process your complaint.  [insert link]  
 

136

mailto:Lauren.haslam@leics.gov.uk


You can arrange for someone to act on your behalf, such as a friend or relative.  However, 
you must provide written confirmation that you have given your consent before the Panel can 
discuss your case with them.   
 
 

How the Panel will deal with your complaint  
 
Step 1 – Initial Assessment  
 
Your complaint will be checked to see that it is about the conduct of the Leicester, 
Leicestershire and Rutland PCC/DPCC.   
 
If the complaint is about operational policing matters or the performance of the 
Leicestershire Police or any of its officers, it will be passed to Leicestershire Police.   
 
If the complaint is about the Chief Constable, it will be passed to the PCC.   
 
Step 2 – Recording your Complaint  
 
If your complaint relates to the conduct of the PCC/DPCC it will be recorded, unless the 
matter has been or is currently being dealt with by criminal proceedings.   
 
If it is decided not to record your complaint, the reason for this will be explained to you.   
 
If it is recorded, you will normally be given a copy of the Record of Complaint.   
 
Step 3 – Deciding how your complaint will be handled  
 
Option A – Is it a serious complaint that should be passed to the Independent Office 
for Police Conduct (IOPC)? 
 
If your complaint alleges criminal conduct (or appears to involve a criminal offence that can 
be triable in England and Wales) it will be passed to the IOPC.  The IOPC will then decide 
how to deal with your complaint.   
 
Option B – Are there grounds to reject the complaint?  
 
It may be decided to reject your complaint and take no action in the following circumstances:  
 

a) The complaint is by a member of the PCC staff, arising from their work; 
b) The complaint is more than 12 months old where there is no good reason for the 

delay, or the delay would be likely to cause injustice; 
c) The complaint is about conduct that is already the subject of another complaint; 
d) The complaint is anonymous; 
e) The complaint is vexatious, oppressive or otherwise an abuse of the procedures for 

dealing with complaints; or  
f) The complaint is repetitious.  

 
If it is decided to take no action regarding your complaint you will be notified of the reasons 
for this.  
 
 
 
 

137



Option C – Has the complaint already been satisfactorily dealt with?  
 
If it appears your complaint has already been satisfactorily dealt with by the time it comes to 
the Panel’s attention, it may decide to take no further action.   
 
Option D – Should the complaint be taken forward to Informal Resolution?  
 
If your complaint has not been passed to the IOPC, rejected, or already been dealt with, it 
will usually be taken forward to informal resolution.  
 

What is Informal Resolution of Complaints?  
 
Informal Resolution is a way of dealing with a complaint without investigation or formal 
proceedings.  It is a flexible process that may be adapted to the needs of the complainant 
and the individual complaint.   
 
Informal resolution may be conducted by the Director of Law and Governance (in 
consultation with the Chairman and Vice Chairman of the Panel) or by the Panel or a sub-
committee of the Panel.  Examples of informal resolution include: 
 

• Resolution by telephone  

• Providing information  

• Concluding the matter through correspondence and explaining the circumstances 

• Individual communication between the PCC/DPCC and the complainant via the office 
of the Director of Law and Governance  

• An apology made by the person complained about  

• A face to face meeting between the complainant and the person subject to the 
complaint facilitated through the office of the Director of Law and Governance 

• Identification of ‘lessons to be learnt’ and changes in practice communicated to the 
complainant  

 
In attempting to secure a resolution the Panel will consider whether further information, 
clarification or explanation is required and/or whether any actions are required and can be 
agreed with all parties.   
 
The Panel cannot tender an apology on behalf of the person who is subject to the complaint 
unless he or she is agreeable to this.   
 
The Panel has no powers to investigate complaints (including seeking corroborating witness 
statements) but is allowed to ask the person complained against to provide information and 
documents and /or attend to answer questions.   
 
The Panel cannot impose formal sanctions on the person you have complained about 
because it does not have the power to do so.     
 

Outcome of Informal Resolution  
 
A record of the outcome of your complaint will be sent to both parties and published if it is 
deemed in the public interest but only after both parties have been given the chance to 
comment on the proposed publication.   
 
 
 
 

138



 
Timescales for Handling your Complaint 
 
Wherever reasonably possible your complaint will be acknowledged within 5 working days.  
Your complaint will be concluded, insofar as reasonably practicable within 12 weeks if it is 
dealt with through informal resolution.   
 
However, each case is different and the time taken to reach a conclusion will depend on the 
nature of the complaint.   
 
All parties will be kept updated of progress until the complaint reaches a conclusion.   
 
If the complaint is criminal in nature it must be passed to the IOPC as soon as possible.  You 
will be notified if that happens.  The IOPC will then decide how to deal with the complaint 
and will contact you.   
 

Withdrawing a Complaint  
 
If you wish to withdraw your complaint you (or someone authorised to act on your behalf) 
must say this in writing via post or email.  It is however for the Panel to determine whether a 
complaint should be withdrawn.   
 

Appeals  
 
There is no right of appeal regarding the outcome of the complaint.  The Local Government 
and Social Care Ombudsman has the power to investigate the administration of the 
complaint process.    
 
If you are unhappy with the way your complaint was handled you can refer the matter to the 
Local Government Social Care Ombudsman.   
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

139



5a. Protocol between the Police and Crime Panel and the Police and Crime 
Commissioner 

 
 
Role of the Police and Crime Commissioner 

 
Directly elected Police and Crime Commissioners (PCCs) and Police and Crime 
Panels (PCPs) were introduced by the 2011 Police Reform and Social Responsibility 
Act.   The role of the PCC is to be the voice of the people and to hold the Chief 
Constable to account.   
 
The PCC is responsible for setting priorities for the police force within their area, 
having regard to needs and demands of communities and ensuring that local and 
national priorities are suitably funded by setting a budget and for the local 
performance of the force.  He or she will do this by, inter alia: 
 
1. representing all those who live and work in the communities in Leicester, 

Leicestershire and Rutland and identifying their policing needs 
 
2. Setting priorities that meet those needs by agreeing a force level strategy plan 

for Leicestershire Police (the police and crime plan) 
 
3. Holding the Chief Constable to account for achieving these priorities as 

efficiently and effectively as possible, ensuring that value for money is achieved 
 
4. Agreeing the Leicestershire Police budget and setting the precept 
 
5. Hiring the Chief Constable and, if necessary, calling upon the Chief Constable 

to retire or resign 
 
6. Having regard to reports and recommendations made by the Police and Crime 

Panel 

140



Role of the Police and Crime Panel 
 
The Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland Police and Crime Panel will be 
responsible for supporting and challenging the PCC in the exercise of his or her 
functions, including by publicly scrutinising the actions and decisions of the PCC and 
in doing so will, inter alia: 
 
1. Review and make a report or recommendation on the draft Police and Crime 

Plan 
 
2. Hold public meetings to consider the annual report from the Commissioner 
 
3. Review and scrutinise decisions, or other action taken, by the Commissioner in 

connection with the discharge of his functions including confirmation hearings 
for senior staff 

 
4. Publish all reports and recommendations the Panel makes and send copies to 

the constituent local authorities 
  

5. Receive and record complaints made against the Commissioner and Deputy 
Police and Crime Commissioner, if appointed, and investigate and promote 
informal resolution for complaints not of a criminal nature.   Complaints of a 
criminal nature will be referred to the Independent Police Complaints 
Commission 

 

141



Working Arrangements 
 
The detailed working arrangements outlined in the next part of this protocol relate to 
the ‘Special Functions’ of the Panel, the general role of the Panel to scrutinise the 
activities of the PCC and its role to investigate complaints against him/her. 
 
The ‘Special Functions’ of the Panel, which may not be delegated, are:- 
 
Review the Police and Crime Plan (Section 28(3) of the Act) 
Review the Annual Report (Section 28(4) of the Act) 
Review the Precept (Schedule 5 of the Act) 
Review Senior Appointments (Paragraphs 10 and 11 Schedule 1 of the Act) 
Review the Appointment of the Chief Constable (Part 1 of Schedule 8 of the Act) 
 
The proposed timescales for responding to proposals put forward are aimed at 
ensuring that matters are dealt with promptly.  With the agreement of the PCC and 
Chairman of the PCP these timescales may be amended having regard to particular 
circumstances.  The expectation shall be that the Chief Executive Officer of the PCC 
should inform the Panel Secretariat, at the earliest opportunity, of indicative 
timescales of matters likely to be referred to the Panel to enable meetings to be 
scheduled accordingly. 
 
 

142



 
Police and Crime Plan 
 
The PCC is required to produce a Police and Crime Plan, following consultation. 
 
The PCP is a statutory consultee in relation to the Police and Crime Plan. 
 
(Note: There is an expectation that there will be informal discussions involving the 
PCC, the PCP, Crime and Disorder Partnerships and other relevant bodies in the 
formulation of the key priorities to be reflected in the Plan.) 
 
Process 
 
The PCC shall ensure that the Panel is provided with a copy of the Police and Crime 
Plan or variation thereto at the earliest opportunity.  
 
The PCC shall provide the Panel with details of any public consultation on the Plan 
or consultation with other partners that has informed the priorities within the Plan. 
 
The Panel shall convene a meeting within 15 working days to consider and comment 
on the Plan. 
 
The PCC shall attend the meeting of the Panel to present the Plan and answer 
questions. 
 
The Panel, having considered the matter at a meeting, may make a report or 
recommendation to the PCC.  Such report should normally be prepared and 
submitted to the PCC no later than five days following the meeting.  Where such 
report suggests amendments to the Plan, the PCC shall be required to consider such 
recommendation and advise the Panel of his/her decision.  Where the PCC decides 
not to accept the recommendation of the Panel he/she shall provide reasons to the 
Panel.  
 
Monitoring and Review of Plan  
 
Recognising the Police and Crime Plan will need to be a ‘living document’ and 
responsive to changing demands and the environment, there is an expectation that 
there shall be regular reviews of the Plan.  Where this results in variations to the 
Plan the consultation process outlined above shall be followed. 
 
(Note: The review of the Plan may be triggered as a consequence of the PCC’s 
Annual Report, which will need to outline the exercise of his/her functions during the 
financial year and progress in meeting the objectives in the Plan.) 
 
Monitoring of Performance of the Commissioner 
 
As the Police and Crime Plan will be the key document by which the performance of 
the PCC is to be measured there will be an expectation that the Panel will be 
provided with regular reports on the performance against the objectives of the Plan.  
Such reports would normally be quarterly in line with best practice. 

143



 
Where Performance Monitoring reports identify areas of underperformance, the PCC 
shall provide an explanation together with any proposals he/she intends to take to 
rectify the position.  
 

144



PCC’s Annual Report 
 
The PCC is required to publish an Annual Report on the exercise of his/her functions 
during the financial year and progress in meeting the objectives set out in the Police 
and Crime Plan. 
 
The Panel is required by statute to review the Annual Report. 
 
Process 
 
By July, the PCC shall provide the Panel with a copy of his annual report.   
 
The Panel will be required to convene a meeting as soon as practicable thereafter 
and, in any event, no later than 15 working days of receipt of the report. 
 
The PCC shall be required to attend the Panel meeting to present the report and 
answer questions. 
 
The Panel may accept the Annual Report and/or make a report or make 
recommendations.  Reports/recommendations from the Panel should normally be 
prepared and submitted to the PCC no later than five days following the meeting. 
 
The PCC shall consider any report or recommendation and advise the Panel of his 
decision.  Where the report or recommendations are not accepted by the PCC, 
he/she shall provide reasons.  
 
Precept 
 
(Note: There is an expectation that there will be informal discussions involving the 
PCC, the PCP and other relevant bodies in the development of any proposed 
precept.) 
 
The PCC shall notify the Panel of the precept he/she is proposing to levy for the 
coming financial year. (Note the latest this must be received by the PCP is 1 
February of the relevant financial year.) 
 
The proposed precept level shall be accompanied by relevant budget papers (the 
Medium Term Financial Plan, Budget Requirement and Precept Analysis) setting out 
how the precept was arrived at, the level of revenue to be generated and how such 
revenue is to be applied. 
 
The Panel shall convene a meeting as soon as practicable and no later than 15 
working days following receipt of the notification of the proposed precept, bearing in 
mind, that the Panel must have considered it before 8 February of the relevant 
financial year.   
 
The Panel, having considered the proposed precept, together with any supporting 
documentation, may: 
 
agree the precept without qualification or comment 

145



support the precept and make comments or recommendations concerning the 
application of the revenues generated 
veto the proposed precept - (this will require a majority of at least two-thirds of the 
members of the Panel at the time) 
 and will make a report to the PCC (to include, if the veto is exercised, a 
statement to that effect) 
 
Where the Panel supports the precept but makes comments/recommendations   
these should normally be prepared and submitted to the PCC by no later than five 
days following the meeting.  The PCC shall consider such recommendations/ 
comments and advise the Panel of his/her decision.  Where the 
comments/recommendations are not accepted, the PCC shall provide reasons. 
 
Where the Panel exercises its veto it will provide a report to the PCC which will 
include a statement that the Panel has vetoed the proposed precept and giving 
reasons and indication as to whether it considered the proposed precept to be too 
high or too low.  The PCC will consider the report and must issue a response, which 
will include a revised precept (which, if the Panel considered the proposed precept to 
be too high, will be lower and, if the Panel considered the proposed precept to be too 
low, will be higher).  The Panel will review the revised precept (at the latest by 22 
February of the relevant financial year) and make a report to the Commissioner, 
which may indicate whether or not the Panel accepts or rejects the revised precept 
(there is no further veto).  The PCC will have regard to this second report and will 
issue a response by 1 March of the relevant financial year.  The Panel accepts that a 
rejection of the revised precept on its part does not prevent the Commissioner from 
issuing that revised precept as the precept for the financial year. 
 
Senior Officer Appointments (other than the Chief Constable) 
 
The Panel is required to review proposed new appointments by the PCC of: 
 
The Chief Constable 
Chief Executive 
Chief Finance Officer 
Any Deputy Police and Crime Commissioner 
 
Senior Appointments (other than the Chief Constable) 
 
The PCC shall advise the Panel of any proposed appointment, providing the 
following information: 
 
The name of the candidate 
The criteria used to assess the suitability of the candidate 
How the candidate satisfies the criteria in (b) above 
The terms and conditions of the proposed appointment 
 
The Panel shall then hold a public confirmation hearing within 15 working days of the 
notification.   
 

146



Candidates shall be required to attend the confirmation hearing and may be 
questioned by the Panel in relation to their appointment. 
 
Following the hearing, the Panel will make a report/recommendation on the 
proposed appointment.  The PCC shall consider the recommendation and report 
back on whether the recommendation has been accepted or not.  Where the 
recommendation is not accepted, reasons should be provided. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Chief Constable – Appointment and Removal  
 
Appointment of Chief Constable 
 
In relation to the Chief Constable, following the confirmation hearing, the Panel will 
make a report to the Commissioner, indicating whether it: 
 
supports the proposed appointment without any comment or recommendation 
Supports the appointment with some comment or recommendation 
Vetoes the proposed candidate for the post of Chief Constable - (this will require a 
majority of at least two-thirds of the Panel membership at the time) 
 
Where the Panel exercises its veto, the report will include a statement that it has 
done so and give reasons.  The PCC will then propose a ‘reserve candidate’ for 
appointment as Chief Constable and the Panel will conduct a confirmation hearing 
for this candidate, within three weeks from the day it receives notification from the 
PCC.  Following the confirmation hearing, the Panel will make a report to the PCC, 
which will include a recommendation as to whether or not the reserve candidate 
should be appointment (there is no second veto).  The PCC will have regard to the 
report and will notify the Panel as to whether or not he/she accepts or rejects the 
recommendation. 
 
Suspension/Removal of Chief Constable 
 
The process will commence with a notification from the PCC that he/she has 
suspended the Chief Constable. 
 
The PCC shall notify the Panel if he/she intends to ask the Chief Constable to resign 
or retire, together with the reasons and a copy of the written explanation provided to 
the Chief Constable.  The PCC shall provide the Panel with a copy of any 
representations he/she may have received from the Chief Constable in response. 
 
Within 30 working days of receiving the notification from the PCC, the Panel must 
make a recommendation in waiting to the PCC.  Before making any recommendation 
the Panel may consult with the Chief Inspector of Constabulary. 

147



 
Before making any recommendation, the Panel shall hold a meeting, in private, at 
which the PCC and Chief Constable shall be entitled to attend and make 
representations. 
 
The PCC cannot call upon the Chief Constable to resign or retire until he/she has 
had and considered the report of the Panel.  The PCC may accept or reject the 
report of the Panel. 
 
(Note: A longer timescale is proposed as the Panel may wish to consult the Chief 
Inspector of Constabulary.) 

148



Suspension of the Police and Crime Commissioner and Appointment of an 
Acting Police and Crime Commissioner. 
 
The Panel is responsible for dealing with complaints against the PCC (see later 
section of this Protocol). 
 
Suspension of the PCC 
 
The Panel may suspend the PCC if he/she is charged with an offence which carries 
a maximum term of imprisonment exceeding two years.   
 
The PCC will inform the PCP immediately on being charged with any such offence.  
The Panel will be required to convene a meeting as soon as practicable thereafter, 
as the decision to suspend must be taken at a meeting of the Panel and voted upon.  
The PCC will be entitled to attend for the purpose of making representations. 
 
Any suspension of the PCC shall cease if: 
 
The charge is dropped 
The PCC is acquitted of the offence 
The PCC is convicted but is not disqualified because of the conviction 
The Panel agrees to terminate the suspension. 
 
The Panel shall therefore keep the suspension under review and will, should 
circumstances change, convene a further meeting to consider whether the 
suspension should continue.   
 
Appointment of an Acting PCC 
 
The Panel must meet to appoint an Acting PCC if: 
 
the PCC is incapacitated and cannot carry out the functions of the office 
the PCC is suspended 
 
The Office of the PCC shall inform the Panel immediately on learning that the PCC is 
incapacitated.  The Panel will be required to convene a meeting as soon as 
practicable thereafter to appoint an Acting PCC, to be drawn from the PCC’s staff at 
the time.  The Panel will have regard to any views submitted by the PCC. 
 
The appointment of an Acting PCC shall cease: 
 
When a new PCC is elected as a result of a vacancy arising 
If the PCC is no longer incapacitated 
If the suspension of the PCC has been lifted 
 
The Acting PCC will inform the Panel as soon as he/she learns that his/her tenure 
will be ending. 
 

149



Complaints 
 
The Commissioner will ensure that anyone who wishes to make a complaint against 
him/her, or any Deputy Police and Crime Commissioner, is aware that the complaint 
should be notified to the Panel in the first instance.  The PCC will establish a 
corporate complaints process for the initial consideration of all complaints  
 
The Panel will record all such complaints and refer those involving suspicion of the 
commission of a criminal offence to the Independent Police Complaints Commission 
within 24 hours of receiving them. 
 
The Panel will notify the Commissioner (or Deputy Commissioner) at the earliest 
suitable opportunity of the receipt of any complaint against him or her. 
 
The Monitoring Officer of the Host Authority to the Panel shall undertake the initial 
investigation into the complaint and, having regard to any representations from the 
PCC, shall make a recommendation to the Panel.  
 
The Panel, having considered the report of the advice of the Monitoring Officer, shall 
come to a conclusion on the matter.  The Panel may decide to establish a 
subcommittee to consider the findings of the initial investigation and consider 
whether to undertake a more detailed investigation.  The Commissioner (or Deputy 
Commissioner) will be given a further opportunity to present written and/or oral 
evidence in relation to the complaint.  The subcommittee will give appropriate notice 
of any meeting to consider such complaints.   
 
The Commissioner (or Deputy Commissioner) will, if required, make him or herself 
available to attend a hearing into a complaint. 
 
The outcome of any hearing will be communicated to the Commissioner (or Deputy 
Commissioner) in writing within 5 working days of the hearing.  The Commissioner 
(or Deputy Commissioner) will respond to any such communication within 10 working 
days. 
 
Holding the Police and Crime Commissioner to Account 
 
The Panel is responsible for reviewing and scrutinising decisions or actions taken by 
the PCC in discharging his/her responsibilities.  Whilst an element of this will be 
undertaken through scrutiny of the Police and Crime Plan and the PCC’s Annual 
Report, there may be other matters that the Panel may consider merit scrutiny. 
 
The presumption shall be that the PCC will be required to attend all meetings of the 
Panel (the expectation is that there will be six Panel meetings per year) unless 
advised to the contrary. 
 
The Secretariat of the Panel shall notify the PCC of the Panel’s work programme and 
meeting dates.  In setting the work programme, the Panel should identify what 
information is required and if any support staff from the PCC’s staff need to attend. 
 

150



Where the PCC is required to provide information to the Panel, the Panel should aim 
to give 15 working days’ notice of the date of the meeting and set out the nature of 
the agenda item and the information required.  In exceptional circumstances and 
when there is agreement between the PCC and Chairman of the Panel, shorter 
notice may be given for either attendance or information. 
 
Where the Panel requires the PCC to attend it may also request the attendance of 
the Chief Constable to answer questions which appear to the Panel may be 
necessary to enable it to carry out its functions. 
 
In discharging its functions the Panel may invite persons other than those referred to 
above, to assist it in its deliberations. 
 
Where, as a result of its deliberations, the Panel makes a report to the PCC, it will 
publish such report on its website and send copies to the constituent local 
authorities, except where the information is exempt or confidential as defined in the 
Local Government Act 1972 (as amended). 
 
The Panel may require the PCC to consider the report and upon the Panel at its next 
meeting (or a particular specified meeting) to advise what action, if any, the PCC 
proposes to take a response.  The response of the PCC shall also be published on 
the website. 
 
  

151



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	1 Minutes of the meeting held on 22 July 2019.
	5 Police and Crime Commissioner's Annual Report 2018/19.
	Annual report 2019

	6 Leicestershire Police Performance Report - 2019/20 Quarter1.
	7 Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner Performance Report - 2019/20 Quarter 1.
	8 People Zones.
	9 Violence Reduction Unit.
	10 Modern Slavery and Human Trafficking
	11 Review of Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland Police and Crime Panel Constitution.
	Police and Crime Panel Constitution - 2019 proposed amendments


